J. Inst. Math. Jussieu (2020) **19**(5), 1521–1572 doi:10.1017/S1474748018000476 © Cambridge University Press 2018

SYMMETRIC POWER CONGRUENCE IDEALS AND SELMER GROUPS

HARUZO HIDA¹ AND JACQUES TILOUINE²

¹Department of Mathematics, UCLA, Los Angeles, CA 90095-1555, USA (hida@math.ucla.edu)

²Département de Mathématiques, LAGA, Institut Galilée, U. Paris 13, 99 av. J.-B. Clément, Villetaneuse 93430, France (tilouine@math.univ-paris13.fr)

(Received 12 December 2016; revised 7 October 2018; accepted 11 October 2018; first published online 14 November 2018)

Abstract We prove, under some assumptions, a Greenberg type equality relating the characteristic power series of the Selmer groups over \mathbb{Q} of higher symmetric powers of the Galois representation associated to a Hida family and congruence ideals associated to (different) higher symmetric powers of that Hida family. We use R = T theorems and a sort of induction based on branching laws for adjoint representations. This method also applies to other Langlands transfers, like the transfer from GSp(4) to U(4). In that case we obtain a corollary for abelian surfaces.

Keywords: Congruence module; Hecke algebra; universal Galois deformation ring

2010 Mathematics subject classification: Primary 11F33; 11F80

Contents

| 1 | Introduction | | |
|---|--|------|--|
| 2 | Theorems $R_{n-1} = \mathbf{T}_{n-1}^{u}$ for $n \ge 4$ | 1528 | |
| | 2.1 Big ordinary Hecke algebra for unitary groups | 1528 | |
| | 2.2 Symm ^{$n-1$} Langlands functoriality | 1530 | |
| | 2.3 Galois representations | 1532 | |
| | 2.4 Galois cohomology | 1537 | |
| | 2.5 Application of Chebotarev density theorem | 1539 | |
| | 2.6 Construction of a Taylor–Wiles system | 1541 | |
| | 2.7 End of the proof | 1544 | |
| 3 | Proof of Theorem 1.3 | 1545 | |
| | 3.1 The case $j = 3$ | 1545 | |
| | 3.2 The case $j = 2$ | 1549 | |
| | | | |

The first author is partially supported by the NSF grant: DMS 1464106. The second author is partially supported by the ANR grant: PerCoLaTor ANR-14-CE25.



H. Hida and J. Tilouine

| 4 | The | case $j = 4$ | 1552 | |
|----|--------------|---|-----------|--|
| 5 | Digr grou | ession: a Kummer type criterion for the non-triviality of certain Selme ps | r 1553 | |
| 6 | The | case $j = n$ | 1554 | |
| 7 | The | case of the standard representation of GSp(4) | 1555 | |
| 8 | Con | gruence ideal formalism | 1559 | |
| | 8.1 | Differentials | 1559 | |
| | 8.2 | Congruence and differential modules | 1560 | |
| | 8.3 | Transfer property of congruence modules | 1561 | |
| | 8.4 | Local complete intersections | 1563 | |
| | 8.5 | Proof of Tate's theorem | 1564 | |
| | 8.6 | A more general setting | 1568 | |
| Re | References | | | |

1. Introduction

In this paper we define relative congruence ideals for various automorphic symmetric powers $\operatorname{Symm}^m \mathbf{f}$ of a Hida family \mathbf{f} over \mathbb{Q} in big ordinary Hecke algebras for symplectic and unitary groups (these powers are now known to be automorphic for $m \leq 8$) and we prove, under some assumptions, that they coincide with the characteristic power series of (the Pontryagin duals of) Greenberg Selmer groups over \mathbb{Q} for related symmetric powers $\mathcal{A}^n_{\mathbf{f}} = \operatorname{Symm}^{2n} \otimes \det^{-n} \rho_{\mathbf{f}}$ of the Galois representation of the family \mathbf{f} . Note that these Selmer groups over \mathbb{Q} are modules over the weight variable Iwasawa algebra which are finitely generated but a priori not known to be torsion except for the symmetric square. It follows from our result that they are. Similar results when one includes the cyclotomic variable (that is, for Selmer groups over the \mathbb{Z}_p -extension \mathbb{Q}_{∞} of \mathbb{Q}) could probably also be studied but are not dealt with in this paper. Let us be a little more precise.

Let $N \ge 1$ and let p be an odd prime not dividing N. Let E/\mathbb{Q}_p be a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p , \mathcal{O} its valuation ring, ϖ a uniformizing parameter and $k = \mathcal{O}/(\varpi)$ its residue field. Let $\Lambda_1 = \mathcal{O}[[X]]$ be the one variable Iwasawa algebra identified to the completed group algebra of $1 + p\mathbb{Z}_p$ over \mathcal{O} by the choice of a topological generator u of the group $1 + p\mathbb{Z}_p$. Let h_1 be the cuspidal Hida Hecke algebra (generated over \mathcal{O} by the T_ℓ 's for ℓ prime to Np, by the diamond operators $\langle a \rangle_0$ for $a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ for the cohomological weight 0, and by U_p . The ring h_1 is reduced; it is endowed with a structure of Λ_1 -algebra by the homomorphism sending X to $\langle u \rangle_0 - 1$ for which it is finite and flat. Let $\mu : h_1 \to A_1$ be a surjective Λ_1 -algebra homomorphism onto a local domain which is finite and torsion-free over Λ_1 . Geometrically, it amounts to considering an irreducible component of Spec h_1 . We put $\mu(U_p) = \alpha$. We assume that \mathcal{O} is sufficiently big so that the residue field A_1/\mathfrak{m}_{A_1} of A_1 coincides with k. We denote by $\overline{\gamma}$ the reduction of an element $\gamma \in A_1$. Let $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to$ GL₂(k) associated to μ is irreducible. It is well known that under this assumption there exists a continuous Galois representation $\rho_\mu : \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \text{GL}_2(A_1)$ associated to μ . Let $D_p \subset \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ be a decomposition group at p. Let ω be the cyclotomic character modulo p (we shall also denote by ω its Teichmüller lift). The ordinarity condition for μ implies that there exists a unique integer $a \in [0, p-2]$ and a (not necessarily unique) D_p -stable two-step filtration $0 \subset F^0 \subset F^{-a-1} = \overline{\rho}_{\mu}$ with D_p acting by $unr(\overline{\alpha})$ on gr^0 and by $unr(\overline{\alpha}^{-1})\omega^{-a-1}$ on gr^{-a-1} . In other words, the restriction of the representation $\overline{\rho}_{\mu}$ to a decomposition group D_p at p is conjugate to

$$\begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{unr}(\overline{\alpha}) & * \\ 0 & \operatorname{unr}(\overline{\alpha}^{-1})\omega^{-a-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

If $a + 1 , the filtration is uniquely determined, but we want to allow the possibility <math>a + 1 \equiv 0 \pmod{p - 1}$. This is why we assume throughout the paper the condition (*RFR*) of residual Frobenius regularity (to be reinforced later)

$$\overline{\alpha}^2 \neq 1.$$
 (*RFR*)

Under this condition, the filtration defined above is unique, even if $a + 1 \equiv 0 \pmod{p-1}$. Let St_2 be the standard representation of GL_2 . For any $j \ge 1$, let $\mathcal{A}^j = \operatorname{Symm}^{2j} \otimes \operatorname{det}^{-j} \operatorname{St}_2$; we assume from now on that p > 2j + 1; in particular, viewed as a \mathbb{Z}_p -schematic representation, the (2j + 1)-dimensional representation of GL_2 , \mathcal{A}^j has irreducible geometric fibers. Let $\mathcal{A}^j_{\mu} = \mathcal{A}^j \circ \rho_{\mu} \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \operatorname{GL}_{2j+1}(A_1)$. Let $\mathbb{X} \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \Lambda_1^{\times}$ denote the restriction (to D_p) of the universal deformation of the *p*-adic cyclotomic character χ unramified outside $p\infty$: if $\chi(\sigma) = \omega(\sigma)u^{\ell(\sigma)}$ (that is, $\ell([z, \mathbb{Q}_p]) = \log_p(z)/\log_p(u)$ for $z \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$), then

$$\mathbb{X}(\sigma) = \chi(\sigma)(1+X)^{\ell(\sigma)}.$$

Let $\Phi_a = \omega^a \mathbb{X}$. Then the restriction of \mathcal{A}^j_{μ} to the local Galois group D_p leaves stable a filtration $(F^{k(a+1)}\mathcal{A}^j_{\mu})_k$ with A_1 -free graded pieces $\operatorname{gr}^{k(a+1)}\mathcal{A}^j_{\mu}$ on which D_p acts by $\operatorname{unr}(\alpha^{2k})\Phi^k_a$. In order to define the ordinary Selmer group of \mathcal{A}^j_{μ} even if the residual action of the inertia is trivial, it is crucial for us that this filtration be well defined modulo p. To achieve this, we assume throughout the paper the following reinforcement of (RFR):

$$\overline{\alpha}^{2c_n} \neq 1 \tag{RFR}_n$$

where c_n denotes the least common multiple of the integers 1, 2, ..., 2n. Note that (RFR_n) will be enough to guarantee R = T theorems for U(n + 1) but for actually deducing from these results a relation between congruence modules and Selmer groups, the stronger assumption n(a + 1) will be ultimately needed.

Let \widetilde{A}_1 be the normal closure of A_1 . It is a two-dimensional normal local ring, hence it is Cohen–Macaulay so that \widetilde{A}_1 is free over Λ_1 . For any \mathcal{O} -module M, we denote by $M^* =$ $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}}(M, E/\mathcal{O})$ its Pontryagin dual. Let us consider the minimal *p*-ordinary Selmer group associated to \mathcal{A}^j_{μ} : H. Hida and J. Tilouine

$$\operatorname{Sel}(\mathcal{A}^{j}_{\mu}) = \operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{H}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}, \mathcal{A}^{j}_{\mu} \otimes_{A_{1}} \widetilde{A}^{*}_{1}) \right.$$
$$\rightarrow \prod_{\ell \neq p} \operatorname{H}^{1}(I_{\ell}, \mathcal{A}^{j}_{\mu} \otimes_{A_{1}} \widetilde{A}^{*}_{1}) \times \operatorname{H}^{1}(D_{p}, (\mathcal{A}^{j}_{\mu}/F^{1}\mathcal{A}^{j}_{\mu}) \otimes_{A_{1}} \widetilde{A}^{*}_{1})/L_{p}\right)$$

where L_p denotes the image in $\mathrm{H}^1(D_p, \mathcal{A}^j_\mu \otimes_{A_1} \widetilde{A}^*_1)$ of

$$L'_{p} = \operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{H}^{1}(D_{p}, F^{0}\mathcal{A}^{j}_{\mu}\otimes_{A_{1}}\widetilde{A}^{*}_{1}) \to \operatorname{H}^{1}(I_{p}, (F^{0}\mathcal{A}^{j}_{\mu}/F^{1}\mathcal{A}^{j}_{\mu})\otimes_{A_{1}}\widetilde{A}^{*}_{1})\right).$$

Its Pontryagin dual $\operatorname{Sel}(\mathcal{A}_{\mu}^{j})^{*}$ is finitely generated over \widetilde{A}_{1} . Recall that the Greenberg–Iwasawa main conjecture implies (by taking the cyclotomic variable *s* to be 1) that

- (1) there is a *p*-adic *L* function $L_p(\mathcal{A}^j_{\mu})$ in \widetilde{A}_1 interpolating normalized special values $L^*(\mathcal{A}^j_{\mathbf{f}_k}, 1)$ where \mathbf{f}_k runs over the eigenforms of classical weights $k \ge 2$ occurring in μ .
- (2) $\operatorname{Sel}(\mathcal{A}^{j}_{\mu})^{*}$ is torsion and a characteristic power series is equal to $L_{p}(\mathcal{A}^{j}_{\mu})$ up to a unit in \widetilde{A}_{1} ; this means, more precisely, that the localization at each height one prime of \widetilde{A}_{1} of its first Fitting ideal Fitt₀(Sel $(\mathcal{A}^{j}_{\mu})^{*}$) is generated by $L_{p}(\mathcal{A}^{j}_{\mu})$.

Let \mathbf{T}_1 be the localization of h_1 at the maximal ideal corresponding to the residual representation $\overline{\rho}_{\mu}$. The homomorphism μ factors through \mathbf{T}_1 . We still denote $\mu: \mathbf{T}_1 \rightarrow A_1$ the resulting homomorphism. Extending the scalars, it gives rise to a surjective homomorphism $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_1 = \mathbf{T}_1 \otimes_{\Lambda_1} \widetilde{A}_1 \rightarrow \widetilde{A}_1$ which we again denote by μ . The context should make clear the meaning of this notation. Since \mathbf{T}_1 is reduced and \widetilde{A}_1 is a domain which is flat over Λ_1 , we see that $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_1$ is reduced too. By tensoring with $\mathcal{K}_1 = \operatorname{Frac}(A_1)$, we have a splitting

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_1 \otimes_{\widetilde{A}_1} \mathcal{K}_1 \cong \mathcal{K}_1 \times \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}'_{1,\mathcal{K}_1}$$

where the first projection is given by $\mu \otimes \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{K}_1}$. Let $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}'_1$ be the image of the second projection $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_1 \to \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}'_{\mu,\mathcal{K}_1}$. One defines the congruence ideal of μ by $\mathfrak{c}_{\mu} = \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_1 \cap (\widetilde{A}_1 \times \{0_{\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}'_{\mu}}\})$. We view this ideal as an ideal of \widetilde{A}_1 . Recall that for a finitely generated \widetilde{A}_1 -module M, any generator of the smallest principal ideal \mathcal{X}_M containing the first Fitting ideal Fitt₀(M) of M is called a characteristic power series: $\mathcal{X}_M = (\mathrm{Char}(M))$. It is non-zero if and only if M is torsion. Consider the assumption

(*) N is squarefree, there exists a subfield $k' \subset k$ such that $\operatorname{SL}_2(k') \subset \operatorname{Im} \overline{\rho}_{\mu} \subset \operatorname{GL}_2(k')$, moreover for any prime ℓ dividing N, the restriction to I_{ℓ} of $\overline{\rho}_{\mu}$ is non-trivial (hence unipotent).

Let R_1 be the universal deformation ring for *N*-minimal *p*-ordinary deformations of $\overline{\rho}_{\mu}$. It can be viewed as a Λ_1 -algebra in two ways, which are equivalent because our ground field is \mathbb{Q} : one way is using the determinant of ρ^{univ} : it is a deformation of the global character $\omega^{-(a+1)}$: $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to k^{\times}$. Since the pair (Λ_1, Φ_a^{-1}) can be viewed as the universal deformation of the character $\omega^{-(a+1)}$, the global character ρ^{univ} defines a structural

morphism $\Lambda_1 \to R_1$. Another is to consider the restriction of ρ^{univ} to I_p :

$$\rho^{\mathrm{univ}}|_{I_p} \sim \begin{pmatrix} 1 & * \\ 0 & \Psi_a^{\mathrm{univ}} \end{pmatrix}$$

Since the local character Ψ_a^{univ} : $I_p \to k^{\times}$ is a deformation of $\omega^{-(a+1)}$, it also gives rise to a structural morphism $\Lambda_1 \to R_1$. These two structures coincide. Recall a special case of theorems by Wiles and Hida

Theorem 1.1. Assume (*) and either (*RFR*) or $a + 1 , then the natural surjection <math>R_1 \rightarrow \mathbf{T}_1$ is an isomorphism of Λ_1 -algebras and \mathbf{T}_1 is local complete intersection over Λ_1 . Moreover, \mathfrak{c}_{μ} is a principal ideal of \widetilde{A}_1 .

The precise definition and some properties of local complete intersection algebras are given in \S 8.4. From the theorem, one can deduce equalities.

Corollary 1.2. (a) Assume (*) and $a + 1 , then <math>c_{\mu} = (\text{Char}(\text{Sel}(\mathcal{A}^{1}_{\mu})^{*}))$,

(b) Assume (*) and (RFR) or $a + 1 , then <math>\mathfrak{c}_{\mu} = (L_p(\mathcal{A}^1_{\mu}))$.

Note that the *p*-adic *L* function $L_p(\mathcal{A}^1_{\mu})$ interpolating the special values $L^*(\mathcal{A}^1_{\mathbf{f}_k})$ has been constructed by one of the authors [22] (see also his notes of the Pune course [24]).

The goal of this paper is to establish analogues of part (a) of the theorem above for higher j's, provided the automorphic base change is established for Symm^m for certain values of m less than 2j. For any imaginary quadratic field K of discriminant D prime to N in which p splits, let U(n) be a definite unitary group for K.

Theorem 1.3. Assume (*) and 3(a + 1) . Then,

- for j = 3, the characteristic power series of Sel(A^j_μ)* is a generator of the ideal of congruences between the family Symm³μ and Siegel families which are not of the form Symm³μ' for other GL₂-families μ',
- for j = 2, for U(4) a unitary group as above, the characteristic power series of $\text{Sel}(\mathcal{A}^{j}_{\mu})^{*}$ is a generator of the congruence ideal between the U(4) Hida family associated to $\text{Symm}^{3}\mu$ and families on U(4) which do not come from Siegel families. Similarly, we have

Theorem 1.4. If one assumes (*) and 4(a+1) < p-1, then for j = 4, for U(5) a unitary group as above, the characteristic power series of $\text{Sel}(\mathcal{A}^{j}_{\mu})^{*}$ is a generator of the congruence ideal between the U(5) Hida family $\text{Symm}^{4}\mu$ and families of unitary forms on U(5) which do not come from congruences between $\text{Symm}^{3}\mu$ and families on GSp_{4} by the integral transfer from GSp_{4} to U(5).

See \S 3 and 4 for a more precise form of the statement and its proof. To put these results in perspective, let us mention a more elementary result.

Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime of \widetilde{A}_1 . For j = 3, 2, 4, consider the condition

$$\operatorname{Fitt}_{0}(\operatorname{Sel}(\mathcal{A}_{\mu}^{J})^{*}) \subset \mathfrak{p} \tag{S_{j}}$$

and the conditions

- (C₃) there exists a Hida family G of Iwahori level N on GSp_4 which is not the Symm³ of a Hida family on GL_2 and such that $Symm^3 \mu \equiv G \pmod{\mathfrak{p}}$
- (C₂) there exists a Hida family G of Iwahori level N on U(4) which does not come from GSp_4 by base change and such that $Symm^3\mu \equiv G \pmod{\mathfrak{p}}$
- (C₄) there exists a Hida family G of Iwahori level N on U(5) which does not come from GSp_4 by base change and such that $Symm^4\mu \equiv G \pmod{\mathfrak{p}}$.

Theorem 1.5. Assume (*), then (C_3) implies (S_3) or (S_2) or (S_4) .

See § 5. It requires a theorem of big image of Galois established by [25] when $A_1 = \Lambda_1$ and by A. Conti in his thesis [9] in general. Note that the conditions (C_j) are not mutually exclusive so that the difficulty of separating *a priori* the possible conclusions (S_j) is not so surprising.

Our theorems do separate the conclusions and imply in particular for j = 3, 2, 4 that (C_j) implies (S_j) . Their proof requires using more advanced tools, namely R = T type theorems in the minimal level case and Hida–Tate theory of congruence ideals for Gorenstein rings. Actually our method applies to more cases:

Theorem 1.6. Assume (*) and p-1 > max(n(a + 1), (n - 1)) hold. Assume also that N has at least two prime factors q_1 and q_2 . Assume that the transfers $Symm^{n-1}$ and $Symm^n$ from $GL_2(\mathbb{Q})$ to GL_n respectively GL_{n+1} are established. Then, for any imaginary quadratic field K of discriminant prime to Np in which p and q_1 split and q_2 is inert and for U(n) and U(n + 1) corresponding unitary groups for K, the characteristic power series of $Sel(\mathcal{A}^n_{\mu})^*$ is a generator of the quotient of the congruence ideal between the family $Symm^n\mu$ and families of unitary forms on U(n + 1) by the congruence ideal between the family $Symm^{n-1}\mu$ and families of unitary forms on U(n). In particular, the quotient of these ideals is integral and principal.

This theorem applies for n = 5, 6, 7, 8 by [7] where the Symm^m transfer is established for $m \leq 8$. See §6 for a more precise statement and the proof.

We also give in § 7 an analogue result starting from a Hida family σ on $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{Q})$ instead of a Hida family μ on $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{Q})$. We still need to assume that it has Iwahori auxiliary level $\Gamma^{(2)}(N)$ for a squarefree integer N and that its Galois representation satisfies N-minimality, p-distinguishability and residual bigness (see § 7). The method and result are similar although the Hida family σ is two variable so that the commutative algebra results involve three-dimensional local rings, so that we can only compare localizations at height one primes of the congruence ideal and the characteristic power series of the standard (degree 5) Selmer group. The tool this time is the base change from $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{Q})$ to U(4) (for an imaginary quadratic field) established by Mok [5, 32] and the conclusion is that the two variable characteristic power series of the degree 5 Galois representation associated to the family σ generates the height one part of the ideal of congruences between the base change of σ to U(4) and families on U(4) which do not come from $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{Q})$.

For such a family σ , we formulate in §7 assumptions

- (*)⁽²⁾ the Galois representation ρ_{σ} has residual large image and is N-minimal
- $(RFR)^{(2)} \overline{\rho}_{\sigma}$ is *p*-distinguished,

which are analogue of (*) and (RFR) for GL₂. The transfer homomorphism between Hecke algebras $\mathbf{T}_3^u \to \mathbf{T}_2^s$ induces by specialization to the automorphic weight (1, 2, 2), respectively (2, 2), a transfer homomorphism $\mathcal{T}_{1,2,2}^u(N, \mathcal{O}) \to \mathcal{T}_{2,2}^s(N, \mathcal{O})$ from the Hida Hecke algebra for U(3, 1) of automorphic weight (1, 2, 2) to the Hida Hecke algebra for GSp(4) of weight (2, 2). We can consider this homomorphism as being associated to a *p*-adic transfer map from *p*-adic Siegel cusp forms to 'stable' *p*-adic automorphic forms on U(3, 1) (stable means here *p*-adic limits of stable forms). Let us mention two corollaries (see Corollaries 7.5 and 7.6).

Corollary 1.7. Let $f \in S_{2,2}(\Gamma^{(2)}(N))$ be a Siegel cusp eigenform of automorphic weight (2, 2) such that $(*)^{(2)}$ and $(RFR)^{(2)}$ hold. Assume that the specialization $\mathcal{T}_{2,2}^s(N, \mathcal{O})$ in automorphic weight (2, 2) of the Hida Hecke algebra for GSp(4) and the specialization $\mathcal{T}_{1,2,2}^u(N, \mathcal{O})$ in automorphic weight (1, 2, 2) of the Hida Hecke algebra for U(3, 1), are reduced. Then the \mathcal{O} -length of the Selmer group $Sel(St_f)$ of the 5-dimensional representation associated to f is equal to the valuation of the ideal of congruence between a transfer $f_{U(4)}$ of f to U(4) and p-adic automorphic forms on U(4) of automorphic weight $(k_1, k_2, k_3) = (1, 2, 2)$ and Iwahori level N which do not come by transfer from GSp(4).

Note that there are no algebraic automorphic forms on U(4) of automorphic weight $(k_1, k_2, k_3) = (1, 2, 2)$ because the weight is not cohomological. But even if one transfers from the definite unitary group U(4) to a quasi-split group U(3, 1), there are still no classical holomorphic automorphic forms on U(3, 1) of automorphic weight $(k_1, k_2, k_3) = (1, 2, 2)$ because the weight is even not in the non-degenerate limit of discrete series. However, by using Hida theory [23, Theorem 6.8] for U(3, 1), we do have an action of the Hecke algebra h_3^u on ordinary *p*-adic holomorphic automorphic forms of this weight.

The second corollary applies to abelian surfaces:

Corollary 1.8. Let A be a modular abelian surface defined over \mathbb{Q} , ordinary at p of squarefree conductor N (p prime to N). Assume that the rings $\mathcal{T}_{2,2}^s(N, \mathbb{Z}_p)$ and $\mathcal{T}_{1,2,2}^u(N, \mathbb{Z}_p)$ are reduced. Let T_pA be the Tate module and $S_pA \subset \bigwedge^2 T_pA$ the associated rank 5 Galois representation. Assume that the residual representation A[p] is modular for a Siegel modular form of weight (2, 2) for which $(*)^{(2)}$ and $(RFR)^{(2)}$ hold. Then the cardinality of $Sel(S_pA)$ spans the \mathbb{Z}_p -ideal of congruence between a transfer $f_{U(4)}$ of f to U(4) and p-adic automorphic forms on U(4) of automorphic weight $(k_1, k_2, k_3) = (1, 2, 2)$ and Iwahori level N which do not come by transfer from GSp(4).

See the end of $\S7$ for a more precise statement and the proof.

The last section presents the formalism of congruence modules, in particular the transfer formula (Corollary 8.6) which is used throughout the paper.

2. Theorems $R_{n-1} = \mathbf{T}_{n-1}^u$ for $n \ge 4$

2.1. Big ordinary Hecke algebra for unitary groups

Recall that we fixed a squarefree integer $N = q_1 \cdot \ldots \cdot q_k$ prime to p. As stated in Theorem 1.6, we will need to assume in some cases that $k \ge 2$. Hida theory for unitary groups [20, Chapter 8] is developed using coherent cohomology but hereafter we follow the presentation of [14, § 2] (see also [15]) using definite forms of unitary groups. We fix an auxiliary imaginary quadratic field $K = \mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{-\Delta})$ of negative discriminant $-\Delta$ relatively prime to Np such that $p = \mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{p}^c$ and $q_1 = \mathfrak{q}_1\mathfrak{q}_1^c$ split and q_2 remains inert in K. Let D be a central division algebra over K of rank n^2 whose ramification set S_D consists in the primes above q_1 . From the calculations of [5, (2.3) and Lemma 2.2], we see that

(Case 1) If n is odd or is divisible by 4, then for any $k \ge 1$, there exists an involution of second kind * on D which is positive definite at ∞ and such that the unitary group U(D, *) is quasi-split at all inert places.

(Case 2) If n = 2m with m odd; for $k \ge 2$ there exists an involution of second kind * on D which is positive definite at ∞ and such that the unitary group U(D, *) is quasi-split at all inert places except q_2 .

We fix G = U(D, *) as above.

Definition 2.1. We fix an auxiliary level group $U^p = \prod_{i=1}^k U_{q_i} \times U^{Np}$ of Iwahori type of squarefree level N; this means that for each prime q dividing N, U_q is

– equal to the standard Iwahori subgroup of G_q if G is quasi-split at q (that is, either $G_q = \operatorname{GL}_n(K_q)$ if q splits in K, or if G_q is the quasi-split unitary group),

– is a minimal parahoric subgroup if G_q is not quasi-split.

Remark 2.2. Let Π_G be any cuspidal automorphic representation on G with cohomological weight and level $U = U^p \times U_p$. Let q be a prime dividing N which is inert in K; the condition $\Pi_{G,q}^{U_q} \neq 0$ implies that the base change of $\Pi_{G,q}$ to K_q has fixed vectors by the Iwahori subgroup of $\operatorname{GL}_n(K_q)$. Let $\sigma_{\Pi_{G,q}}$ be the p-adic Weil–Deligne representation of $\Pi_{G,q}$. Let $\widetilde{\sigma}_{\Pi_{G,q}}$ be its restriction to the inertia subgroup I_q . If the reduction modulo p of $\widetilde{\sigma}_{\Pi_{G,q}}$ is regular unipotent, the same holds for $\widetilde{\sigma}_{\Pi_{G,q}}$ and $\Pi_{G,q}$ is the twist of the Steinberg representation by an unramified, at most quadratic, character.

This remark will be useful later.

We fix an isomorphism $i_p: G_p = G(\mathbb{Q}_p) \cong \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{Q}_p)$, which we use to identify these groups. Thus, we can view $U_p = i_p^{-1}(\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{Z}_p))$ as a hyperspecial maximal compact subgroup of G_p . From now on, we omit the mention of i_p and we simply write $U_p = \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{Z}_p)$. Let $I_p \subset U_p$ be the Iwahori subgroup and for $0 \leq b \leq c$, $I_p^{b,c} \subset U_p$ be the subgroup of matrices whose reduction modulo p^c , respectively p^b , belong to the group of $\mathbb{Z}/p^c\mathbb{Z}$ -points of the subgroup B of upper triangular matrices of GL_n , respectively to the group of $\mathbb{Z}/p^b\mathbb{Z}$ -points of the group $N' = \operatorname{diag}(1, \ldots, 1, *) \cdot N^+$ where N^+ is the group of upper unipotent matrices. Note the difference with [14, Definition 2.1] where the condition modulo p^b is that $u \in N^+(\mathbb{Z}/p^b\mathbb{Z})$. Here we enlarge the group N^+ to N'. This is because we want to define a big ordinary Hecke algebra depending only on the semi-simple variables of the diagonal torus T, not on the whole of T. Let $T^{ss} = \text{Ker}(\text{det}: T \to \mathbb{G}_m)$. We have a decomposition $T \cong T^{ss} \times \mathbb{G}_m$ given by $u \mapsto (u^{ss}, \text{det } u)$ where $u = \text{diag}(u_1, \ldots, u_n)$ and $u^{ss} = \text{diag}(u_1, \ldots, u_{n-1}, (u_1 \cdot \ldots \cdot u_{n-1})^{-1})$.

Let G_f be the locally compact group of finite adèles of G and $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ be the subgroup of principal adèles. By compactness of G_{∞} , $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ is discrete in G_f and for any compact open subgroup U of G_f , the quotient $G_{\mathbb{Q}} \setminus G_f / U$ is finite (see [36, Chapter 5, § 3, Theorem 5.5]). We fix from now on the auxiliary level group $U = U^p \times U_p$ of Iwahori type of squarefree level N in the sense of Definition 2.1. As usual, one can add another auxiliary prime r (in the sense of Taylor–Wiles) prime to Np to assure that U is sufficiently small: $G_{\mathbb{Q}} \cap U = 1$. Note that at the prime r, U is no longer of Iwahori type but of strict Iwahori type. After localization at a suitable maximal ideal, it will not introduce extra ramification at r for the automorphic forms occuring in the Hida–Geraghty Hecke algebra of auxiliary level U defined below.

For $c \ge b \ge 0$, let $U^{b,c} = U^p \times I_p^{b,c}$. Let *E* be a sufficiently large *p*-adic field; let \mathcal{O} be its valuation ring. Any (n-1)-tuple $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_{n-1}) \in \mathbb{Z}^{n-1}$ defines a character of the diagonal torus *T* of GL_n (and of $T^{ss} = T \cap \operatorname{SL}_n$) by

diag
$$(t_1,\ldots,t_n)\mapsto t_1^{\lambda_1}\cdot\ldots\cdot t_{n-1}^{\lambda_{n-1}}.$$

Let us assume that $\lambda_1 \ge \ldots \lambda_{n-1} \ge 0$, let $L_{\lambda}(\mathcal{O})$ be the 'maximal' \mathcal{O} -representation of GL_n of highest weight λ (see [37]). Let w_0 be the longest element of the Weyl group of GL_n . Then $L_{\lambda}(\mathcal{O})$ is defined as the algebraic induction of $w_0\lambda$ from B to GL_n , that is, the \mathcal{O} -module of rational functions $\phi \in \mathcal{O}[\operatorname{GL}_n]$ such that $\phi(tn^+g) = (w_0\lambda)(t)\phi(g)$ for any $b = tn^+ \in B$. We define the \mathcal{O} -module $S_{\lambda}(U^{b,c}; \mathcal{O})$ of cuspidal forms of level $U^{b,c}$ for G by

$$S_{\lambda}(U^{b,c};\mathcal{O}) = \{s \colon G_{\mathbb{Q}} \setminus G_f \to L_{\lambda}(\mathcal{O}); s(xu) = u_p^{-1} \cdot s(x) \text{ for any } u \in U^{b,c}\}.$$

For c > 0, let $h_{\lambda}(U^{b,c}; \mathcal{O})$ be the \mathcal{O} -algebra of endomorphisms of $S_{\lambda}(U^{b,c}; \mathcal{O})$ generated by the Hecke operators

- $T_{\xi,i} = [U^{b,c} \alpha_{\varpi_{\xi}}^{(i)} U^{b,c}]_{\lambda}$, where i = 1, ..., n, $\alpha_{\varpi}^{(i)} = \begin{pmatrix} \overline{\omega}_{\xi} 1_i & 0\\ 0 & 1_{n-i} \end{pmatrix}$, and ξ runs over the degree one primes of \mathcal{O}_K , relatively prime to $M \Delta p$.
- $U_{\overline{\varpi},i} = (w_0\lambda)(\alpha_{\overline{\varpi}}^{(i)})^{-1} [U^{b,c}\alpha_{\overline{\varpi}}^{(i)}U^{b,c}]_{\lambda}, \quad i = 1, ..., n-1, \text{ where } \overline{\varpi} \text{ is a uniformizing}$ parameter of \mathfrak{p} and $\alpha_{\overline{\varpi}}^{(i)} = \begin{pmatrix} \overline{\varpi} \mathbf{1}_i & 0\\ 0 & \mathbf{1}_{n-i} \end{pmatrix}$ as before,
- $\langle u \rangle_{\lambda} = [U^{b,c} u U^{b,c}]_{\lambda}$ where $u \in T(\mathbb{Z})$ (actually, it depends only on the image of u in $T^{ss}(\mathbb{Z}/p^b\mathbb{Z})$).

Recall that $[U^{b,c}\alpha U^{b,c}]_{\lambda}$ acts by $([U^{b,c}\alpha U^{b,c}]_{\lambda} \cdot s)(x) = \sum_{i} \alpha_{i,p} \cdot s(x\alpha_{i})$ where $U^{b,c}\alpha U^{b,c} = \bigsqcup_{i} \alpha_{i} U^{b,c}$ (see beginning of [14, §2.3]). The operators $T_{\xi,i}$, $U_{\varpi,i}$ and $\langle u \rangle_{\lambda}$ preserve integrality [14, Definitions 2.3.1 and 2.3.2].

Let e be the ordinary idempotent associated to $U_{\varpi} = \prod_{i=1}^{n-1} U_{\varpi,i}$. We define

$$h_{n-1} = \varprojlim_{c} e \cdot h_{\lambda}(U^{c,c}; \mathcal{O}).$$

It does not depend on the dominant weight λ [14, Proposition 2.6.1]. It is reduced [14, Lemma 2.4.4]. Let $T_0 = T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$, $T_0^{ss} = T^{ss}(\mathbb{Z}_p)$; and similarly let $T_b = \text{Ker}(T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to T(\mathbb{Z}/p^b\mathbb{Z}))$, $T_b^{ss} = \text{Ker}(T^{ss}(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to T^{ss}(\mathbb{Z}/p^b\mathbb{Z}))$. We can decompose $T_0 = T(\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}) \times T_1$ and $T_1 = T_1^{ss} \times (1 + p\mathbb{Z}_p)$. For p > 2, let u = 1 + p. We can identify the \mathcal{O} -algebra Λ_{n-1} of power series in n-1 variables to the completed group algebra $\mathcal{O}[[T_1^{ss}]]$ by sending $1 + X_i$ to diag $(1_{i-1}, u, 1_{n-1-i}, u^{-1})$. We view h_{n-1} as a Λ_{n-1} -algebra via the weight 0 diamond action $T_1 \to h_{n-1}^{\times}$, $u \to \langle u \rangle_0$. As a Λ_{n-1} -algebra, h_{n-1} is finite torsion-free. Indeed, the proof of [14, Proposition 2.5.3] goes through when one replaces the group T_b by the group T_b^{ss} , because with our modified definition of the groups $U^{b,c}$, we do have

$$S_{\lambda}(U^{c,c};\mathcal{O})^{T_b^{ss}} = S_{\lambda}(U^{b,c};\mathcal{O})$$

hence, by Hida's lemma (see [14, Lemma 2.5.2], we see that

$$e \cdot S_{\lambda}(U(p^{\infty}); E/\mathcal{O})^{T_b^{ss}} = e \cdot S_{\lambda}(U^{b,b}; E/\mathcal{O})$$

which is the key step for the vertical control theorem and its corollary [14, Corollary 2.5.4]. From this fact, the finiteness and torsion freeness of our Hecke algebra over Λ_{n-1} follow as in [14, Corollary 2.5.4].

2.2. Symmⁿ⁻¹ Langlands functoriality

We assume that the Symm^{*n*-1} Langlands functoriality from GL₂ to GL_{*n*} is established (sending non-CM classical cusp eigensystems to cuspidal eigensystems on GL_{*n*}). It is known for $n-1 \leq 8$ thanks to the works of Kim and Shahidi [28], Kim [26] and Clozel and Thorne [6, 7]. Let π be a non-CM holomorphic cuspidal representation of GL₂(**A**_Q) cohomological for a local system of highest weight a' > 0 (later, a' will vary in the arithmetic progression $a + (p-1)\mathbb{Z}$ for a as in the introduction), with conductor N and level group $U_0^{(1)}(N) = \{u \in \text{GL}_2(\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}); u \pmod{N} \text{ upper triangular}\}$, (that is, dim $\pi^{U_0^{(1)}(N)} = 1$). The Langlands parameter $r_\infty \colon W_{\mathbb{R}} \to \text{GL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ of π_∞ is given by $r_\infty(z) = \text{diag}((z/\overline{z})^{(a'+1)/2}, (\overline{z}/z)^{(a'+1)/2})$ for $z \in W_{\mathbb{C}}$ and $r_\infty(j) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ (-1)^{a'+1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$.

By assumption, there is an automorphic cuspidal representation $\Pi = \text{Symm}^{n-1}\pi$ on GL_n . The Langlands parameter $R_{\infty} \colon W_{\mathbb{R}} \to \text{GL}_n(\mathbb{C})$ of Π_{∞} is given by its restriction to $W_{\mathbb{C}}$ by

$$R_{\infty}(z) = \operatorname{diag}((z/\overline{z})^{(n-1)(a'+1)/2}, (z/\overline{z})^{(n-3)(a'+1)/2}, \dots, (z/\overline{z})^{-(n-1)(a'+1)/2}).$$

It follows from the local Langlands correspondence for $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbf{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$ that Π is Steinberg at all primes dividing N. Let Π_K be the base change of Π to $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbf{A}_K)$ (see [1, III,5]); the Langlands parameter of $\Pi_{K,\infty}$ is $R_{\infty}|_{W_{\mathbb{C}}}$. It is cohomological. Moreover, $\Pi_{K,\mathfrak{q}}$ is Steinberg at all primes \mathfrak{q} of K dividing N. In particular, Π_K is square-integrable at both places of S_D ; therefore, by the Jacquet–Langlands correspondence for GL_n (see [1, 44]), it descends to a cuspidal representation Π_D on $D^{\times}(\mathbf{A}_K)$. Note that $\Pi_{D,\infty} = \Pi_{K,\infty}$ is cohomological. By [5, Lemma 3.8 and Proposition 4.11], Π_D descends as a cuspidal representation Π_G on G (for more general results of descent from D^{\times} to G, see Labesse [29, Theorem 5.4] and Mok [32]). The difference with [5, Proposition 4.11] is that here $\Pi_{G,\infty}$ is the irreducible representation of highest weight $((n-1)a', (n-2)a', \ldots, a', 0)$ of the compact group U(n) (instead of being a cohomological representation of U(n-1, 1)); moreover, $\Pi_{G,\mathfrak{q}}$ is Steinberg at all places \mathfrak{q} of K dividing N. Note that

• For any rational prime q prime to Np which splits in K, say, $q = \xi \xi^c$, the Hecke eigenvalues $t_{\xi,i}$ on the 1-dimensional space $\Pi_{\xi}^{U_{\xi}}$ of the Hecke operators $T_{\xi,i}$, $i = 1, \ldots, n-1$, are determined by the relation between Hecke polynomials:

$$P_{\Pi_{\xi}}^{(n-1)}(T) = \operatorname{Sym}^{n-1} P_{\pi_q}^{(1)}(T) \in E[T]$$

where

$$P_{\pi_q}^{(1)}(T) = T^2 - a_q T + q^{a'+1} = (T - \alpha_q)(T - \beta_q),$$

Symⁿ⁻¹ $P_{\pi_q}^{(1)}(T) = (T - \alpha_q^{n-1})(T - \alpha_q^{n-2}\beta_q) \cdots (T - \beta_q^{n-1}),$

and

$$P_{\Pi_{\xi}}^{(n-1)}(T) = T^{n} - t_{\xi,1}T^{n-1} + \dots + (-1)^{j}q^{j(j+1)/2}t_{\xi,j}T^{n-j} + \dots + (-1)^{n}q^{n(n+1)/2}t_{\xi,n}$$

• since $a' \neq 0$, the local component $\Pi_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is unramified and the eigenvalues $u_{\varpi,i}$ of the normalized Atkin–Lehner operators $U_{\varpi,i}$ $(i = 1, \ldots, n-1)$, on the finite-dimensional vector space $\Pi_{\mathfrak{p}}^{I_p}$ are given by

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(T - p^{i-1} \frac{u_{\varpi,i}}{u_{\varpi,i-1}} \varpi^{(i-1)a'} \right) = \operatorname{Sym}^{n-1} P_{\pi_p}^{(1)}(T)$$

where one has put $U_{\varpi,0} = U_{\varpi,n} = \text{Id.}$ Explicitly, one has $u_{\varpi,1} = \alpha_p^{n-1}$, $u_{\varpi,2} = \alpha_p^{n-2} \frac{\beta_p}{p\varpi^{a'}}, \ldots, u_{\varpi,n-1} = \alpha_p (\frac{\beta_p}{p\varpi^{a'}})^{n-2}$, where α_p is the unit root of $P_{\pi_p}^{(1)}(T)$. Note that the eigenvalues $u_{\varpi,i}$ are *p*-adic units since $\frac{\varpi}{p}$ is. This follows from [14, Lemma 2.7.5] because the weight $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$ is given by $((n-1)a', (n-2)a', \ldots, a', 0)$, hence it is regular if $a' \neq 0$, hence the lemma applies.

Let h_1^{N-new} be the *N*-new quotient of h_1 . For any prime q prime to Np splitting in K as $\xi\xi^c$, let

$$P_{\xi}^{(n-1)}(T) = T^{n} - T_{\xi,1}T^{n-1} + \dots + (-1)^{j}q^{j(j+1)/2}T_{\xi,j}T^{n-j} + \dots + (-1)^{n}q^{n(n+1)/2}T_{\xi,n}$$

be the universal Hecke polynomial of the spherical Hecke algebra of GL_n at ξ and $P_q^{(1)}(T) = T^2 - T_q T + q S_q$ the universal Hecke polynomial of the spherical Hecke algebra for GL_2 at q. Recall that $\ell \colon \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \to p\mathbb{Z}_p$ is defined by $x = \omega(x)u^{\ell(x)}$. We can interpolate the formulas above:

Proposition 2.3. There exists a ring homomorphism $\theta: h_{n-1} \to h_1$ above the algebra homomorphism $\Lambda_{n-1} \to \Lambda_1$ given by $1 + X_i \to (1+X)^{n-i}$ for i = 1, ..., n-1. The homomorphism θ is characterized by the fact that for any prime q prime to Np splitting in K as $\xi\xi^c$, the image by θ of the universal Hecke polynomial $P_{\xi}^{(n-1)}(T)$ is $\operatorname{Sym}^{n-1} P_q^{(1)}(T)$, while the images $\theta(U_{\varpi,i})$ are given by $(U_p^{(1)})^{n-2i+1} \cdot (\omega(\frac{p}{\pi})(1+X)^{\ell(\frac{p}{\varpi})})^{i-1}$. Let π be an H. Hida and J. Tilouine

N-new p-ordinary holomorphic cuspidal automorphic form π on $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{Q})$ of highest weight a > 0. Let $\mu_{\pi} : h_1^{N-new} \to \mathcal{O}$ be the associated eigensystem. Let $\theta_{a'} = \theta \pmod{X - u^{a'} + 1}$. Then for any rational prime q split in K as $\xi\xi^c$, $\mu_{\pi} \circ \theta_{a'}$ sends the universal polynomial $P_{\xi}^{(n-1)}(T)$ to $\operatorname{Sym}^{n-1} P_{\pi_q}(T)$ and if we put $P_{\pi_p}(T) = (T - \alpha_p)(T - \beta_p)$, $\operatorname{ord}_p(\alpha_p) = 0$, we have $\mu_{\pi} \circ \theta_{a'}(U_{\varpi,i}) = \alpha_p^{n-i}(\frac{\beta_p}{p\varpi^{a'}})^{i-1}$ for $i = 1, \ldots, n-1$.

Proof. For primes $q \neq p$, the statement is obvious. For the prime p, for any a' > 0, one gets

$$\theta(U_{\overline{\omega},i}) \equiv (U_p^{(1)})^{n-2i+1} \cdot \left(\frac{p}{\overline{\omega}}\right)^{a'(i-1)} \pmod{X - u^{a'} + 1}.$$

But we have for a' > 0

$$\alpha_p^{n-i} \left(\frac{\beta_p}{p\varpi^{a'}}\right)^{i-1} = \alpha_p^{n-i} \left(\frac{\beta_p}{p^{a'+1}}\right)^{i-1} \left(\frac{p}{\varpi}\right)^{a'(i-1)} = \alpha_p^{n-2i+1} \left(\frac{p}{\varpi}\right)^{a'(i-1)}$$

$$\square$$

as desired.

2.3. Galois representations

Let $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} = \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ and $\Gamma_K = \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{K}/K)$. In this section we use notations and results of [4, §2.1]. Let $\mathcal{G}_n = (\operatorname{GL}_n \times \operatorname{GL}_1) \rtimes \{1, j\}$ where $j^2 = 1$ and $j(g, \mu)j^{-1} = ({}^tg^{-1}\mu, \mu)$. It is a non-connected group scheme over \mathbb{Z} . Let $\nu : \mathcal{G} \to \operatorname{GL}_1$ be the homomorphism given by $(g, \mu) \mapsto \mu$ and $\nu(j) = -1$. We have the inclusions of Lie algebras $\mathfrak{sl}_n \subset \mathfrak{gl}_n \subset \operatorname{Lie} \mathcal{G}_n$. Note that $ad(g, \mu)(X) = gXg^{-1}$ and $ad(j)(X) = -{}^tX$. We fix a sufficiently large *p*-adic field *E* with valuation ring \mathcal{O} . In this section, we consider representations $\rho : \Gamma_K \to \operatorname{GL}_n(R)$ and homomorphisms $r : \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \operatorname{GL}_n(R)$ for various \mathcal{O} -algebras R. The theorem below follows from [14, Proposition 2.7.2] (see also [4, Proposition 3.3.4]) and [14, Corollary 2.7.8].

Theorem 2.4. Let λ' be a dominant weight for GL_n ; for any cuspidal automorphic representation Π'_G of $G(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$ occurring in $e \cdot S_{\lambda'}(U^{0,1}, E)$, there exists a continuous semi-simple representation

$$\rho_{\Pi'_G} \colon \Gamma_K \to \operatorname{GL}_n(E)$$

such that

- (i) for q prime to Np splitting in K as $\xi\xi^c$, $\rho_{\Pi'_G}$ is unramified at q and the characteristic polynomial of $\operatorname{Frob}_{\xi}$ is $P_{\Pi'_G \sharp}(T)$,
- (ii) $\rho_{\Pi_G'}^c \cong \rho_{\Pi_G'}^{\vee} \chi^{1-n}$
- (iii) for any prime q inert in K not dividing Np, ρ_{Π_G} is unramified at q
- (iv) if moreover λ' is regular, $\rho_{\Pi'_G}$ is crystalline and ordinary at \mathfrak{p} and \mathfrak{p}^c . For instance at \mathfrak{p} :

$$\rho_{\Pi'_G}|_{\Gamma_{K_{\mathfrak{p}}}} \sim \begin{pmatrix} \psi_{\mathfrak{p},1} & \ast & \cdots & \ast \\ \chi^{-1}\psi_{\mathfrak{p},2} & \cdots & \ast \\ & \ddots & \\ & & \chi^{-n+1}\psi_{\mathfrak{p},n} \end{pmatrix}$$

where $\psi_{\mathfrak{p},i} \circ \operatorname{Art}_{\mathfrak{p}} : K_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\times} \to E^{\times}$ is given on $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\times}$ by $x \mapsto x^{-\lambda'_{n-i+1}}$ and by $\psi_{\mathfrak{p},i} \circ \operatorname{Art}_{\mathfrak{p}}(\varpi) = u_{\Pi',i}/u_{\Pi',i-1}, i = 1, \ldots, n-1$ where $u_{\Pi',i}$ is the unique unit eigenvalue of $U_{\varpi,i}$ on $(\Pi'_{G,\mathfrak{p}})^{I_p}$ for $i = 1, \ldots, n-1$.

In particular, denoting by Art the global Artin symbol of K, we have for any $x \in \mathcal{O}_{K,\mathbf{n}}^{\times}$

det
$$\rho_{\Pi'_G} \circ \operatorname{Art}(x) = x^{-\sum_{i=1}^n (\lambda'_{n-i+1} + i - 1)}.$$

As explained in [14, Proposition 2.7.2], the key ingredient in order to apply the main result of [16] is [29, Corollary 5.3]. The uniqueness of the unit eigenvalue of $U_{\varpi,i}$ on $(\Pi')_{G,n}^{I_p}$ for $i = 1, \ldots, n-1$ is proven in [14, Lemma 2.7.5(2)].

 $(\Pi')_{G,\mathfrak{p}}^{I_p}$ for $i = 1, \ldots, n-1$ is proven in [14, Lemma 2.7.5(2)]. By Theorem 2.4, we have a perfect pairing $\langle , \rangle \colon E^n \times E^n \to E$ and a character $\mu = \chi^{1-n} \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to E^{\times}$ such that

•
$$\langle y, x \rangle = -\mu(c) \langle x, y \rangle$$

• $\langle \rho_{\Pi'_C}(\delta)x, \rho_{\Pi'_C}(c\delta c)y \rangle = \mu(\delta)\langle x, y \rangle.$

By [4, Lemma 2.1.1], there is a bijection between 'polarized representations' $(\rho, \mu, \langle, \rangle)$ where $\rho: \Gamma_K \to \operatorname{GL}_n(E), \ \mu: \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}: \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to E^{\times}$ are homomorphisms and $\langle, \rangle: E^n \times E^n \to E$ is a perfect pairing, and homomorphisms $r: \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathcal{G}_n(E)$. We have $-\mu(c) = (-1)^n$. Therefore, Theorem 2.4 yields

Corollary 2.5. For Π'_G as above, there exists a continuous homomorphism

$$R_{\Pi'_{\mathcal{C}}} \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathcal{G}_n(E)$$

such that

• for
$$\delta \in \Gamma_K$$
, one has $R_{\Pi'_G}(\delta) = (\rho_{\Pi'_G}(\delta), \chi^{1-n}(\delta))$,

• $R_{\Pi'_{C}}(c) = (J_n^{-1}, (-1)^n)j.$

Let π be an *N*-new *p*-ordinary cuspidal holomorphic representation of level *N* cohomological of highest weight $a \ge 0$ occurring in the Hida family μ . Let $\rho_{\pi} \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathcal{O})$ its *p*-adic Galois representation. Assume that the residual representation $\overline{\rho} = \overline{\rho_{\pi}} \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \operatorname{GL}_2(k)$ has big image, in the sense that there exists a subfield $k' \subset k$ such that

$$\operatorname{SL}_2(k') \subset \operatorname{Im} \overline{\rho}_{\pi} \subset \operatorname{GL}_2(k').$$

Note that up to conjugation the restriction of $\overline{\rho}_{\pi}$ to a decomposition group D_p at p is given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{unr}(\overline{\alpha}) & * \\ \mathbf{0} & \operatorname{unr}(\overline{\alpha}^{-1})\omega^{-a-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

where $\alpha = \mu(U_p)$.

Let $\Pi = \operatorname{Sym}^{n-1} \pi$ be the n-1-symmetric power cuspidal representation of π on $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{Q})$ and Π_G its base change to G. Let

$$R_{\Pi} = \operatorname{Symm}^{n-1} \rho_{\pi} \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \operatorname{GL}_{n}(\mathcal{O})$$

be the Galois representation associated to Π .

H. Hida and J. Tilouine

By [4, Lemma 2.1.2], the continuous homomorphism

$$R_{\Pi_G}: \Gamma_{\mathbb{O}} \to \mathcal{G}_n(\mathcal{O})$$

associated to Π_G is given as follows. Let c be a complex conjugation in $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$. For $\sigma \in \Gamma_K$, we put

$$R_{\Pi_G}(\sigma) = (R_{\Pi}(\sigma), (\det \rho_{\pi}(\sigma))^{n-1})$$

and for $\sigma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \setminus \Gamma_K$, and $J_n = \text{Symm}^{n-1} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ (so that $J_n = \text{antidiag}(1, -1, 1, \dots, (-1)^{n-1})$). Then we put

$$R_{\Pi_G}(\sigma) = (R_{\Pi}(\sigma)J^{-1}, (-1)^{n-1}(\det \rho_{\pi}(\sigma))^{n-1})j.$$

Moreover, we have

$$\nu \circ R_{\Pi_G} = \delta^n \cdot (\det R_{\Pi})^{n-1},$$

where $\delta: \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}/\Gamma_K \cong \{\pm 1\}$. It is ordinary at \mathfrak{p} and each prime \mathfrak{q} of K dividing N, its restriction to the inertia subgroup $I_{\mathfrak{q}}$ is regular unipotent.

Note that by our assumption, there exists a subfield $k' \subset$ such that

$$\operatorname{Symm}^{n-1}\operatorname{SL}_2(k') \subset \operatorname{Im} \overline{R}_{\Pi} \subset k'^{\times} \cdot \operatorname{Symm}^{n-1}\operatorname{GL}_2(k').$$

This implies that the residual image of R_{Π} is big in the sense of [4, Definition 2.5.1] (see [4, Lemma 2.5.4] for details). Let \mathfrak{m} be the maximal ideal of h_{n-1} associated to the residual representation

$$R = R_{\Pi_G} \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathcal{G}_n(k).$$

We fix a decomposition group $D_p = \Gamma_{K_p}$ at p in Γ_Q . Note that after a given conjugation, one can assume that the restriction to D_p is upper triangular, with diagonal

diag
$$\left(\operatorname{unr}(\overline{\alpha})^{n-1}, \operatorname{unr}(\overline{\alpha})^{n-2}\omega^{-a-1}, \ldots, \omega^{-(n-1)(a+1)}\right)$$

which we rewrite as

diag
$$\left(\overline{\psi}_1, \overline{\psi}_2 \omega^{-1}, \dots, \overline{\psi}_n \omega^{-(n-1)}\right)$$
.

Let \mathbf{T}_{n-1} be the localization of h_{n-1} at \mathfrak{m} and, for any weight $\lambda' \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}^{n}$ congruent to $((n-1)a, (n-2)a, \ldots, a, 0)$ modulo p-1, let $\mathbf{T}_{\lambda'}(U^{0,1}, \mathcal{O})$ be the image of \mathbf{T}_{n-1} in $\operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{O}}(e \cdot S_{\lambda'}(U^{0,1}, E))$ We shall compare, under certain assumptions, \mathbf{T}_{n-1} , respectively $\mathbf{T}_{\lambda'}(U^{0,1}, \mathcal{O})$, with the universal ordinary deformation ring R_{n-1} , respectively and $R_{\lambda'}$ of the representation \overline{R} defined as follows. Let $\operatorname{CNL}_{\mathcal{O}}$ be the category of complete noetherian local \mathcal{O} -algebras A with residue field $k = \mathcal{O}/\varpi_E \mathcal{O}$. For an object A of $\operatorname{CNL}_{\mathcal{O}}$, a lifting $r: \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathcal{G}_n(A)$ of \overline{R} is a continuous homomorphism such that $r \pmod{\mathfrak{m}_A} = \overline{R}$. Two liftings $r, r': \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathcal{G}_n(A)$ of \overline{R} are equivalent if there exists $g \in 1 + \mathfrak{m}_A M_n(A)$ such that $r' = g \cdot r \cdot g^{-1}$. We consider the functors of liftings \mathcal{D} and $\mathcal{D}_{\lambda'}$ from $\operatorname{CNL}_{\mathcal{O}}$ to Sets defined as follows:

• The functor \mathcal{D} sends an object A to the set of equivalence classes of liftings $r: \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathcal{G}_n(A)$ of \overline{R} which satisfy the two following conditions

(1) r is N-minimal: for each prime q dividing N there exists $g_q \in \mathbf{1}_n + \mathfrak{m}_A \cdot M_n(A)$ such that for any $\sigma \in I_q$,

$$\operatorname{pr}_1 \circ r(\sigma) = g_q \cdot \exp(t_p(\sigma)N_n) \cdot g_q^{-1}$$

where

$$N_n = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & \dots \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & \dots \\ 0 & 0 & \ddots & \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

(2) $r|_{D_p}$ is ordinary, that is, there exist characters $\psi_{r,1}, \ldots, \psi_{r,n} \colon \Gamma_{K_p} \to A^{\times}$ and $g \in 1_n + \mathfrak{m}_A M_n(A)$ such that for any $\sigma \in \Gamma_{K_p}$,

$$\operatorname{pr}_{1} \circ r(\sigma) = g \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \psi_{r,1}(\sigma) & \ast & \dots & \ast \\ \chi^{-1} \psi_{r,2}(\sigma) & \dots & \\ & \ddots & \\ & & \chi^{-n+1} \psi_{r,n}(\sigma) \end{pmatrix} \cdot g^{-1}$$

with the condition that for any $j = 1, ..., n, \psi_{r,j}$ is a lifting of $\overline{\psi}_{r,j}$.

• The functor $\mathcal{D}_{\lambda'}$ is defined similarly, replacing condition (2) by the stronger condition $(2)_{\lambda'} r|_{D_p}$ is ordinary with characters $\psi_{r,j}$ lifting of $\overline{\psi}_j$ (j = 1, ..., n) and for any j = 1, ..., n and for any $x \in \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\times}$,

$$\psi_{r,j}(\operatorname{Art}_{\mathfrak{p}}(x)) = x^{-\lambda'_{n-j+1}}.$$

The functor \mathcal{D} , respectively $\mathcal{D}_{\lambda'}$ is the functor of *N*-minimal ordinary, respectively *N*-minimal ordinary of weight λ' deformations of \overline{R} . Note the condition that the characters $\psi_{r,j}$ are liftings of $\overline{\psi}_{r,j}$ implies that $\psi_{r,j}|_{I_p}$ is a lifting of $\omega^{-(j-1)(a+1)}$ $(j = 1, \ldots, n)$.

Let d_n be the least common multiple of all integers k less than n.

Let us consider the following conditions

- (1a) $\alpha^{2d_{n-1}} \neq 1 \pmod{\varpi_E}$ holds,
- (1b) (n-1)(a+1) < p-1 holds.

Condition (1a) implies that the characters $\overline{\psi}_j: D_p \to k^{\times}$ associated to $\overline{R}|_{D_p}$ are mutually distinct on the Frobenius element $[p, \mathbb{Q}_p]$, while condition (1b) implies that the restrictions to the inertia subgroup of the characters $\overline{\psi}_j$ are mutually distinct. In the following subsections devoted to the proof that $R_{n-1} \cong \mathbf{T}_{n-1}^u$, assumption (1a) is assumed (although we could have assumed (1b) instead).

Lemma 2.6. Assuming condition (1a) or (1b), the functors \mathcal{D} and $\mathcal{D}_{\lambda'}$ are representable by universal couples $(R_{n-1}, r^{\text{univ}})$ and $(R_{\lambda'}, r^{\text{univ}}_{\lambda'})$ where R_{n-1} and $R_{\lambda'}$ are objects of $\text{CNL}_{\mathcal{O}}$ and r^{univ} : $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathcal{G}_n(R_{n-1})$ and $r^{\text{univ}}_{\lambda'}$: $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathcal{G}_n(R_{\lambda'})$ are continuous homomorphisms such that $\text{pr}_1 \circ r^{\text{univ}}$, respectively $r^{\text{univ}}_{\lambda'}$ is conjugate in $1 + \mathfrak{m}_{R_{n-1}}M_n(R_{n-1})$, respectively in $1 + \mathfrak{m}_{R_{\lambda'}} M_n(R_{\lambda'}), to$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \psi_1^{\text{univ}}(\sigma) & \ast & \dots & \ast \\ \chi^{-1}\psi_2^{\text{univ}}(\sigma) & \dots & \\ & \ddots & \\ & & \chi^{-n+1}\psi_n^{\text{univ}}(\sigma) \end{pmatrix}$$

with ψ_j^{univ} lifting $\overline{\psi}_j$ $(j = 1, \dots, n)$, respectively

$$\begin{pmatrix} \psi_{\lambda',1}^{\mathrm{univ}}(\sigma) & \ast & \dots & \ast \\ & \chi^{-1}\psi_{\lambda',2}^{\mathrm{univ}}(\sigma) & \dots & \\ & & \ddots & \\ & & & \chi^{-n+1}\psi_{\lambda',n}^{\mathrm{univ}}(\sigma) \end{pmatrix}$$

with the same lifting condition, and such that the restriction of $\psi_{\lambda',j}^{\text{univ}} \circ \operatorname{Art}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ to $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\times}$ is given by $x \mapsto x^{-\lambda'_{n-j+1}}$ (j = 1, ..., n).

Proof. As noted above, the restriction of $\operatorname{pr}_1 \circ \overline{R}$ to the decomposition group D_p at p is upper triangular and its diagonal is given by diag ($\operatorname{unr}(\overline{\alpha})^{n-1}$, $\operatorname{unr}(\overline{\alpha})^{n-3}\omega^{-a-1}, \ldots, \operatorname{unr}(\overline{\alpha})^{-n+1}\omega^{-(n-1)(a+1)}$). Hence either assumption 1a), respectively 1b), assures that the characters on the diagonal are mutually distinct on D_p , respectively I_p . This is well known to assure that the functors \mathcal{D} and $\mathcal{D}_{\lambda'}$ satisfy Schlessinger's criterion for representability (see for instance [42]).

The ring R_{n-1} has a natural structure of Λ_{n-1} -algebra given by the characters $\psi_i^{\text{univ}} \colon K_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\times} \to R_{n-1}^{\times}$. More precisely, by identifying $\mathbb{Z}_p = \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}$, we view the topological generator u of $1 + p\mathbb{Z}_p$ as topological generator of $1 + \mathfrak{p}$. We then define the structural morphism $\Lambda_{n-1} \to R_{n-1}$ by sending $1 + X_i$ to $\psi_{n-i+1}^{\text{univ}} \circ \operatorname{Art}_{\mathfrak{p}}(u)^{-1}$ for $i = 1, \ldots, n-1$. Note that ψ_1 is determined by the determinant relation $\prod_{i=1}^n \chi^{-i+1}\psi_i = \chi^{-n(n+1)/2}$.

Let $P_{\lambda'}$ be the prime ideal of Λ_{n-1} defined as the kernel of the morphism

$$T_1^{ss} \to \mathcal{O}^{\times}, \quad \operatorname{diag}(t_1, \ldots, t_n) \mapsto t_1^{\lambda'_1} \cdot \ldots \cdot t_n^{\lambda'_n}.$$

Lemma 2.7. For any λ' congruent to $((n-1)a, (n-2)a, \ldots, a, 0)$ modulo p-1, the natural ring homomorphism

$$R_{n-1} \rightarrow R_{\lambda}$$

induces an isomorphism

$$R_{n-1}/P_{\lambda'}R_{n-1}\cong R_{\lambda'}.$$

Proof. It suffices to check for each j = 1, ..., n that $\psi_j^{\text{univ}} \circ \operatorname{Art}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ modulo $P_{\lambda'}$ is given on $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\times}$ by $x \mapsto x^{-\lambda'_{n-j+1}}$. This is the case on $1 + \mathfrak{p}$ by definition of $P_{\lambda'}$. This is also the case on $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p},tors}^{\times} = \mu_{p-1}$ since ψ_j^{univ} is a lifting of $\overline{\psi}_j$.

Proposition 2.8. There is a unique lifting $R^h \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathcal{G}(\mathbf{T}^u_{n-1})$, respectively $R^h_{\lambda'} \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathcal{G}_n(\mathbf{T}_{\lambda'}(U^{0,1}, \mathcal{O}))$ of \overline{R} such that for any Hecke eigensystem $\theta_{\Pi'_G} \colon \mathbf{T}^u_{n-1} \to \mathcal{O}'$, respectively

1537

 $\begin{array}{l} \theta_{\Pi'_G}: \mathbf{T}_{\lambda'}(U^{0,1},\mathcal{O}) \to \mathcal{O}' \text{ associated to a cuspidal representation } \Pi'_G \text{ on } G, \text{ one has} \\ \theta_{\Pi'_G} \circ R^h = R_{\Pi'_G}. \text{ By universal property, the homomorphism } R^h \text{ gives rise to a surjective} \\ \Lambda_{n-1}\text{-algebra homomorphism } \phi_{R^h}: R_{n-1} \to \mathbf{T}^u_{n-1}. \text{ Similarly, the homomorphism } R^h_{\lambda'} \text{ gives} \\ \text{rise to a surjective } \mathcal{O}\text{-algebra homomorphism } \phi_{R^h}: R_{\lambda'} \to \mathbf{T}_{\lambda'}(U^{0,1}, \mathcal{O}). \end{array}$

Proof. The existence of \mathbb{R}^h respectively $\mathbb{R}^h_{\lambda'}$ follows from [14, Proposition 2.74]. Its restriction to the inertia group I_q at any prime divisor q of N is regular unipotent by Remark 2.2. Its ordinarity at p follows from [14, Corollary 3.1.4]. This gives rise to ordered characters ψ^h_i , $i = 1, \ldots, n$ lifting the ordered characters $\overline{\psi}^h_i$, $i = 1, \ldots, n$ and such that

$$\operatorname{pr}_{1} \circ R^{h}|_{\Gamma_{K_{\mathfrak{p}}}} \sim \begin{pmatrix} \psi_{1}^{h} & \ast & \dots & \ast \\ \chi^{-1}\psi_{2}^{h}(\sigma) & \dots & \\ & \ddots & \\ & & \ddots & \\ & & \chi^{-n+1}\psi_{n}^{h}(\sigma) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Actually, viewing the topological generator u of $1 + p\mathbb{Z}_p$ as topological generator of $1 + \mathfrak{p}$, we have $\psi_{n-i+1}^h \circ \operatorname{Art}_{\mathfrak{p}}(u) = (1 + X_i)^{-1}$ as the series $(1 + X_i)^{-1}$ interpolates the values $u^{-\lambda'_i}$ at $X_i = u^{\lambda'_i}$. The *N*-minimality of \mathbb{R}^h follows from that of $\mathbb{R}_{\Pi'_G}$ for all Π'_G 's occurring in \mathbf{T}_{n-1}^u . By universal property, this yields the existence of a unique ring homomorphism $\phi_{\mathbb{R}^h} : \mathbb{R}_{n-1} \to \mathbf{T}_{n-1}^u$ such that $\phi_{\mathbb{R}^h} \circ \mathbb{R}^{\mathrm{univ}} \sim \mathbb{R}^h$. The relation $\phi_{\mathbb{R}^h} \circ \psi_i^{\mathrm{univ}} = \psi_i^h$ implies that $\phi_{\mathbb{R}^h}$ is Λ_{n-1} -linear.

The surjectivity of ϕ_{R^h} and $\phi_{R^h_{\lambda'}}$ follows from the absolute irreducibility of \overline{R} and Carayol's theorem: $\mathbf{T}_{n-1}^u = \Lambda_{n-1}[\operatorname{Tr} R^h|_{\Gamma_K}]$ and $R_{n-1} = \Lambda_{n-1}[\operatorname{Tr} R^{\operatorname{univ}}|_{\Gamma_K}]$ hence $\mathbf{T}_{n-1}^u = \phi_{R^h}(R_{n-1})$. Similarly for $\phi_{R^h_{\lambda'}}$.

Let $\lambda' \in \mathbb{Z}_+^n$ be an arbitrary regular dominant weight congruent to $((n-1)a, (n-2)a, \ldots, a, 0)$ modulo p-1. We shall use the technique of classical Taylor–Wiles systems to prove that $\phi_{R_{\lambda'}^h}$ is an isomorphism and that the rings $R_{\lambda'}$ and $\mathbf{T}_{\lambda'}$ are local complete intersections over \mathcal{O} . From this it will be easy by varying λ' to deduce that ϕ_{R^h} is an isomorphism and that R_{n-1} and \mathbf{T}_{n-1}^u are local complete intersections over Λ_{n-1} .

We follow (in an easier situation) the proof of $[14, \S 3]$ which itself relies on calculations of $[4, \S 3.5]$.

2.4. Galois cohomology

Let p > 2 and $\overline{R} = \text{Symm}^{n-1}\overline{\rho}_{\pi}$ where π is holomorphic cuspidal on $\text{GL}_2(\mathbb{Q})$, of square-free conductor N and cohomological for a local system of highest weight $a \ge 0$. We assume it is *p*-ordinary. Therefore it occurs in a (unique) Hida family μ . We assume that $\overline{\rho}_{\pi}$ has big image and that it is *N*-minimal as above. We also assume (1a).

Note that the image $\overline{R}(c)$ of the complex conjugation c is conjugate in $\mathcal{G}_n(k)$ to $(J_n^{-1}, (-1)^n)j$ where $J_n = \operatorname{antidiag}(1, -1, \ldots, 1, (-1)^{n-1})$. From this we have as in [4, Lemma 2.1.3]:

Lemma 2.9. $\dim_k(\mathfrak{gl}_n)^{c=1} = n(n-1)/2$.

Proof. For $X \in M_n(k)$, we have $\operatorname{Ad} \overline{R}(c)(X) = J_n^{-1} j X j^{-1} J_n$. We have $J_n^{-1} = (-1)^{n-1} J_n = {}^t J_n$ and $j X j^{-1} = -{}^t X$, hence

Ad $\overline{R}(c)(X) = X$ if and only if $J_n^{-1}X$ is antisymmetric. The subspace of these matrices has dimension n(n-1)/2.

Let $M = \mathfrak{gl}_n(k) = \operatorname{Ad}_{\mathfrak{gl}_n} \overline{R}$ and $M^* = \operatorname{Hom}_k(M, k(1))$ its k-Cartier dual. For N = M or M^* , let $h^0(N) = \dim_k \operatorname{H}^0(\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}, N)$; for any place v of \mathbb{Q} , and any fixed decomposition group $D_v \subset \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$, let $h_v^i(M) = \dim_k \operatorname{H}^i(D_v, M)$ (i = 0, 1, 2). Let $Q = \{q_1, \ldots, q_r\}$ be a finite set of primes disjoint of those dividing Np such that for any $i = 1, \ldots, r, q_i = v_i v_i^c$ splits in K. For any finite place $v \neq p$ of \mathbb{Q} with $v \notin Q$, let

$$L_{Q,v} = L_v(M) = \mathrm{H}^1_{\mathrm{unr}}(\Gamma_v, M) = \mathrm{Ker}(\mathrm{H}^1(\Gamma_v, M) \to \mathrm{H}^1(I_v, M)) = \mathrm{Ker}(\mathrm{H}^1(D_v/I_v, M^{I_v}))$$

for each $v \in Q$, let $L_{Q,v} \subset H^1(D_v, M)$ to be specified later in such a way that $\dim_k L_{Q,v} - h_v^0(M) = 1$. We also put $L_{\infty} = 0$ and

$$L_{Q,p} = L_p(M) = \operatorname{Im}(L'_p(M) \to \operatorname{H}^1(\Gamma_p, M))$$

where $L'_p(M) = \operatorname{Ker}(\operatorname{H}^1\Gamma_p, F^0M) \to \operatorname{H}^1(\Gamma_p, F^0(M)/F^1(M))).$

For any place v of \mathbb{Q} , let $L_{Q,v}^{\perp}$ be the orthogonal in $\mathrm{H}^{1}(D_{v}, M^{*})$ of $L_{Q,v} \subset \mathrm{H}^{1}(D_{v}, M)$ for the local Tate duality $\mathrm{H}^{1}(D_{v}, M) \times \mathrm{H}^{1}(D_{v}, M^{*}) \to k$. When $L_{Q,v} = \mathrm{H}^{1}_{\mathrm{unr}}(\Gamma_{v}, M)$, one has $L_{Q,v}^{\perp} = \mathrm{H}^{1}_{\mathrm{unr}}(\Gamma_{v}, M^{*})$. Moreover it is easy to check that $L_{p}(M)^{\perp} = L_{p}(M^{*})$ associated to the *p*-ordinarity filtration of M^{*} given by $F^{i}(M^{*}) = (F^{b-a+1-i}(M))^{\perp}$ where *a*, respectively *b* is the smallest, respectively largest weight of $F^{\bullet}(M)$ (that is, $F^{a}(M) = M \neq F^{a+1}(M)$, and $F^{b}(M) \neq 0$ but $F^{b+1}(M) = 0$). Let $\mathcal{L}_{Q} = (L_{Q,v})_{v}$ and $\mathcal{L}_{Q}^{\perp} = (L_{Q,v}^{\perp})_{v}$. We define the Selmer groups

$$\mathrm{H}^{1}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{Q}}}(M) = \mathrm{Ker}\left(\mathrm{H}^{1}(\Gamma, M) \to \bigoplus_{v} \mathrm{H}^{1}(D_{v}, M)/L_{\mathcal{Q}, v}\right)$$

and

$$\mathrm{H}^{1}_{\mathcal{L}^{\perp}_{\mathcal{Q}}}(M^{*}) = \mathrm{Ker}\left(\mathrm{H}^{1}(\Gamma, M^{*}) \to \bigoplus_{v} \mathrm{H}^{1}(D_{v}, M^{*})/L^{\perp}_{\mathcal{Q}, v}\right)$$

They are finite and their cardinalities are denoted by $h^{1}_{\mathcal{L}_{Q}}(M)$ respectively $h^{1}_{\mathcal{L}_{Q}^{\perp}}(M^{*})$. The Poitou–Tate Euler characteristic formula, as formulated for instance in [10, Theorem 2.18], yields

$$h^{1}_{\mathcal{L}_{Q}}(M) - h^{1}_{\mathcal{L}_{Q}^{\perp}}(M^{*}) = h^{0}(M) - h^{0}(M^{*}) + \sum_{v} (\dim_{k} L_{Q,v} - h^{0}_{v}(M)).$$

Proposition 2.10. We have:

- (i) $\dim_k L_{Q,\ell} h_{\ell}^0(M) = 0$ for any $\ell \notin Q$ and $\ell \neq p$,
- (ii) $\dim_k L_{Q,q} h_q^0(M) = 1$ for $q \in Q$,
- (iii) $\dim_k L_{Q,p} h_p^0(M) \leq n(n-1)/2$, (this uses (1a) and (1b)).

(iv)
$$h_{\infty}^{0} = h^{0}(D_{\infty}, M) = n(n-1)/2$$

(v) $h^0(M) = 0 = h^0(M^*) = 0.$

It follows that

$$h^1_{\mathcal{L}_Q}(M) - h^1_{\mathcal{L}_Q^{\perp}}(M^*) \leq \sharp Q = r.$$

Proof. From the Poitou–Tate Euler characteristic formula, the last inequality follows from the four first formulas. The first equality is clear from the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^{0}(D_{\ell}, M) \to M^{I_{\ell}} \stackrel{F_{\ell}-1}{\to} M^{I_{\ell}} \to \mathrm{H}^{1}(D_{\ell}/I_{\ell}, M^{I_{\ell}}) \to 0.$$

Let us check the inequality at p. We proceed as in [12, Lemma 10.4.4]. Let $\mathfrak{b}_n, \mathfrak{n}_n, \mathfrak{t}_n$ be the Lie algebras of the upper triangular, upper unipotent subgroup, respectively of their quotient. We have an exact sequence

$$H^{0}(D_{p}, \mathfrak{n}_{n}) \to H^{0}(D_{p}, \mathfrak{b}_{n}) \to H^{0}(D_{p}, \mathfrak{b}_{n}/\mathfrak{n}_{n})) \to H^{1}(D_{p}, \mathfrak{n}_{n}) \to H^{1}(D_{p}, \mathfrak{b}_{n}) \to H^{1}(D_{p}, \mathfrak{b}_{n}/\mathfrak{n}_{n})).$$

Moreover, we also have an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^{1}(D_{p}/I_{p}, \mathfrak{b}_{n}/\mathfrak{n}_{n}) \to \mathrm{H}^{1}(D_{p}, \mathfrak{b}_{n}/\mathfrak{n}_{n}) \to \mathrm{H}^{1}(I_{p}, \mathfrak{b}_{n}/\mathfrak{n}_{n}).$$

By assumptions (1a) and (1b), we have $h^0(D_p, \mathfrak{n}_n) = 0$ and $h^2(D_p, \mathfrak{n}_n) = h^0(D_p, \mathfrak{n}_n^{\vee}(1)) = 0$. Therefore, we have $L_p(M)' = L_p(M)$ and

$$h^{0}(D_{p},\mathfrak{b}_{n})-h^{0}(D_{p},\mathfrak{b}_{n}/\mathfrak{n}_{n})+h^{1}(D_{p},\mathfrak{n})-\dim_{k}L_{\mathcal{Q},p}+h^{1}(D_{p}/I_{p},\mathfrak{b}_{n}/\mathfrak{n}_{n})=0.$$

By cyclicity of D_p/I_p , we have $h^0(D_p, \mathfrak{b}_n/\mathfrak{n}_n) = h^1(D_p/I_p, \mathfrak{b}_n/\mathfrak{n}_n)$. Moreover by Tate local duality, we have

$$h^{0}(D_{p},\mathfrak{n}_{n})-h^{1}(D_{p},\mathfrak{n}_{n})+h^{2}(D_{p},\mathfrak{n}_{n})=-\dim_{k}\mathfrak{n}_{n}.$$

Hence $h^1(D_p, \mathfrak{n}_n) = \dim_k \mathfrak{n}_n$. We conclude that $\dim_k L_{Q,p} - h^0(D_p, \mathfrak{b}_n) = \dim_k \mathfrak{n}_n = n(n-1)/2$. It implies dim $L_{Q,p} - h^0(D_p, \mathfrak{gl}_n) \leq n(n-1)/2$ as desired. Statement (iv) follows from 2.9. Statement (v) follows from the fact that M (and M^*) is the sum of the irreducible Γ -modules $\overline{\mathcal{A}}^j_\mu = \mathcal{A}^j_\mu(k)$ (j = 1, ..., n-1) which satisfy $\mathrm{H}^0(\Gamma, \overline{\mathcal{A}}^j_\mu) = 0$ since 2j < p and $\mathrm{SL}_2(k') \subset \mathrm{Im} \ \overline{\rho}_n \subset \mathrm{GL}_2(k')$.

2.5. Application of Chebotarev density theorem

Let $M = \mathfrak{gl}_n(k)$. Let $r = \dim_k \operatorname{H}^1_{\mathcal{L}^{\perp}_{\emptyset}}(\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}, M^*)$. For q prime to Np splitting in K, let $X^2 - \overline{a}_{\pi,q}X + q^{a'+1} = (X - \overline{\alpha}_q)(X - \overline{\beta}_q)$, where $\overline{\alpha}_q, \overline{\beta}_q \in k$. We write $\overline{R}|_{D_q} = \overline{\psi}_q \oplus \overline{s}_q$ where $\overline{\psi}_q = (\overline{\alpha}_q)^{n-1}$ and \overline{s}_q is the unramified D_q -module given by the sum of all eigenspaces corresponding to the other eigenvalues $\overline{\alpha}_q^{n-i}\overline{\beta}_q^i$, $i \neq 0$. We assume that $(\overline{\alpha}_q/\overline{\beta}_q)^{c_{n-1}} \neq 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{m}_E}$ so that the eigenvalues $\overline{\alpha}_q^{n-i}\overline{\beta}_q^i$, $i = 0, \ldots, n-1$ are mutually distinct. Therefore \overline{s}_q does not contain $\overline{\psi}_q$ as D_q -submodule. Given a finite set of primes q prime to Np, split in K as above and such that $q \equiv 1 \pmod{p}$, let us define

$$L_{Q,q} = \mathrm{H}^{1}(D_{q}/I_{q}, \mathrm{Ad}\,\overline{s}_{q}) \oplus \mathrm{H}^{1}(D_{q}, \mathrm{Ad}\,\psi_{q})$$

We notice as in $[4, \S 2.4.6]$ the obvious

H. Hida and J. Tilouine

Lemma 2.11. We have $\dim_k L_{Q,q} - h_q^0(M) = \dim_k \mathrm{H}^1(I_q, \operatorname{Ad} \overline{\psi}_q)^{D_q} = 1$.

Using $\mathcal{L}_Q = (\mathcal{L}_{Q,v})_v$ with $\mathcal{L}_{Q,v}$ as before for $v \notin Q$, and the definition above for $v \in Q$, we define $\mathrm{H}^1_{\mathcal{L}_Q}(\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}, M)$ and $\mathrm{H}^1_{\mathcal{L}_Q^{\perp}}(\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}, M^*)$. Note that, as in [4, Proposition 2.4.9], we have a short exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^{1}_{\mathcal{L}^{\perp}_{\mathcal{Q}}}(\Gamma_{\mathcal{Q}}, M^{*}) \to \mathrm{H}^{1}_{\mathcal{L}^{\perp}}(\Gamma_{\mathcal{Q}}, M^{*}) \to \bigoplus_{q \in \mathcal{Q}} \mathrm{H}^{1}(D_{q}/I_{q}, \mathrm{Ad}\,\overline{\psi}_{q}(1))$$

given by the maps $\omega_q \colon [c] \mapsto [c_q]$ for $q \in Q$, where, for any $\sigma \in D_q$

$$c_q(\sigma) = pr_{\overline{\psi}_q} \circ c(\sigma) \circ i_{\overline{\psi}_q}$$

where $i_{\overline{\psi}_q}$ is the inclusion of the $\overline{\psi}_q$ -line and $pr_{\overline{\psi}_q}$ is the projection onto this line parallelly to \overline{s}_q .

Moreover, each term of the right-hand-side sum is one-dimensional.

Theorem 2.12. For any $m \ge 1$ there exists a set Q_m of primes q splitting in K, say, $(q) = \mathfrak{q}\mathfrak{q}^c$, and relatively prime to Np, such that

- $\sharp Q_m = r$
- for any $q \in Q_m$, one has $q \equiv 1 \pmod{p^m}$
- $\mathrm{H}^{1}_{\mathcal{L}^{\perp}_{\mathcal{Q}_{m}}}(\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}, M^{*}) = 0$
- for any $q \in Q_m$, $\overline{R}(\operatorname{Frob}_q)$ has distinct eigenvalues in k.

Proof. We follow the proof of [4, Proposition 2.5.9]. Let us first assume that we chose primes q which split totally in $K(\zeta_{p^m})$ and such that $\overline{R}(\operatorname{Frob}_q)$ has distinct eigenvalues in k. The condition $\operatorname{H}^1_{\mathcal{L}^{\perp}_{\Omega}}(\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}, M^*) = 0$ is implied by the isomorphism

$$\mathrm{H}^{1}_{\mathcal{L}^{\perp}_{\emptyset}}(\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}, M^{*}) \cong \bigoplus_{q \in \mathcal{Q}_{m}} \mathrm{H}^{1}(D_{q}/I_{q}, \operatorname{Ad} \overline{\psi}_{q})$$

of the sum of the maps ω_q defined above. Since $M \cong M^{\vee}$, we have $M \cong M^*$ as $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_p)}$ -modules. For this, it is enough to show that for each non-zero class $[c] \in \mathrm{H}^1_{\mathcal{L}_0}(\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}, M^*)$ there is a prime q such that $\omega_q([c]) \in \mathrm{H}^1(D_q/I_q, \operatorname{Ad}\overline{\psi}_q)$ is non-zero. By Chebotarev density theorem, it is enough to find for each non-zero class $[c] \in$

By Chebotarev density theorem, it is enough to find for each non-zero class $[c] \in H^1_{\mathcal{L}_{\emptyset}}(\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}, M^*)$ an element $\sigma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ such that $\sigma|_{K(\zeta_{p^m})} = 1$, $\overline{R}(\sigma)$ admits an eigenvalue γ with multiplicity 1, and $\operatorname{pr}_{\overline{\gamma}} \circ c(\sigma) \circ i_{\overline{\gamma}} \neq 0$ where $i_{\overline{\gamma}}$ is the injection of the $\overline{\gamma}$ -eigenspace of $\overline{R}(\sigma)$ into the space of \overline{R} and $\operatorname{pr}_{\overline{\gamma}}$ the projection to this eigenspace.

Let F_m be the extension of $K(\zeta_{p^m})$ cut out by $\operatorname{Ad} \overline{R}$, that is, the field fixed by the kernel of $\operatorname{Ad} \overline{R}|_{\Gamma_{F_m}}$. Let us show that $c(\Gamma_{F_m}) \neq 0$. By the inflation–restriction exact sequence

 $\mathrm{H}^{1}(\mathrm{Gal}(F_{m}/\mathbb{Q}), \mathrm{Ad}\,\overline{R}) \to \mathrm{H}^{1}(\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}, \mathrm{Ad}\,\overline{R}) \to \mathrm{Hom}(\Gamma_{F_{m}}, \mathrm{Ad}\,\overline{R})$

it suffices to see that $\mathrm{H}^{1}(\mathrm{Gal}(F_{m}/\mathbb{Q}), \mathrm{Ad}\,\overline{R}) = 0$. Consider the inflation–restriction exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^{1}(\mathrm{Gal}(F_{0}/\mathbb{Q}), \mathrm{Ad}\,\overline{R}^{\mathrm{Gal}(F_{m}/F_{0})}) \to \mathrm{H}^{1}(\mathrm{Gal}(F_{m}/\mathbb{Q}), \mathrm{Ad}\,\overline{R}) \to \mathrm{H}^{1}(\mathrm{Gal}(F_{m}/F_{0}), \mathrm{Ad}\,\overline{R})^{\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}}.$$

Since F_1/F_0 is of degree prime to p, we have

$$\mathrm{H}^{1}(\mathrm{Gal}(F_{m}/F_{0}), \mathrm{Ad}\,\overline{R})^{\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}} = \mathrm{Hom}(\mathrm{Gal}(F_{m}/F_{1}), \mathrm{Ad}\,\overline{R}^{\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}})$$

but $\operatorname{Ad} \overline{R}^{\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}} = 0$ (by bigness), hence the right-hand side vanishes. Similarly, $\operatorname{Gal}(F_m/F_0)$ acts trivially on V and $\operatorname{H}^1(\operatorname{Gal}(F_0/\mathbb{Q}), \operatorname{Ad} \overline{R})$ vanishes by bigness (see [4, Corollary 2.5.4]).

Now, we consider $c(\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^m})})$ as a $\operatorname{Gal}(F_m/\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^m}))$ -submodule of $\operatorname{Ad}\overline{R}$. Note that $\operatorname{Gal}(F_m/\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^m}))$ contains $\operatorname{PSL}_2(k')$ hence there exists $g \in \operatorname{Gal}(F_m/\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^m}))$ of order not dividing p fixing a non-zero element of $c(\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^m})})$; we can even assume that g acting on $\operatorname{Ad}\overline{R}$ has distinct eigenvalues in k, again by bigness of $\overline{\rho}_{\pi}$, provided that p-1 does not divide c_{n-1} . Let $\sigma_0 \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^m})}$ lifting g and let $\sigma = \tau \sigma_0$ where $\tau \in \Gamma_{F_m}$ is such that $c(\sigma) = c(\tau) + c(\sigma_0) \notin (\sigma_0 - 1)V$. Such a τ exists because $c(\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^m})}) \not\subset (g-1)\operatorname{Ad}\overline{R}$. The corresponding element σ satisfies the desired conditions for some $\overline{\gamma} \in k^{\times}$.

For $q \in Q_m$, let $X^2 - \overline{a}_{\pi,q}X + q^{a+1} = (X - \overline{\alpha}_q)(X - \overline{\beta}_q)$, where $\overline{\alpha}_q, \overline{\beta}_q \in k$. We write $\overline{R}|_{D_q} = \overline{\psi}_q \oplus \overline{s}_q$ where $\overline{\psi}_q = \operatorname{unr}(\overline{\alpha}_q)^{n-1}$ and \overline{s}_q is the unramified D_q -module given by the sum of all eigenspaces corresponding to the other eigenvalues $\overline{\alpha}_q^{n-i}\overline{\beta}_q^i$, $i \neq 0$. Note that \overline{s}_q does not contain $\overline{\psi}_q$ as D_q -submodule. We define

$$L_{Q_m,q} = \mathrm{H}^1(D_q/I_q, \mathrm{Ad}\,\overline{s}_q) \oplus \mathrm{H}^1(D_q, \mathrm{Ad}\,\overline{\psi}_q).$$

We notice as in $[4, \S 2.4.6]$ the obvious

Lemma 2.13. We have $\dim_k L_{Q_m,q} - h_q^0(M) = \dim_k \mathrm{H}^1(I_q, \operatorname{Ad}\overline{\psi}_q)^{D_q} = 1$.

Using $\mathcal{L}_{Q_m} = (L_{Q_m,v})_v$ with $L_{Q_m,v}$ as before for $v \notin Q_m$, and the definition above for $v \in Q_m$, we define $\mathrm{H}^1_{\mathcal{L}_{Q_m}}(\Gamma_Q, M)$ and $\mathrm{H}^1_{\mathcal{L}_{Q_m}^{\perp}}(\Gamma_Q, M^*)$.

Corollary 2.14. For any set Q_m as above, one has $\dim_k H^1_{\mathcal{L}_{Q_m}}(\Gamma_Q, M) \leq \sharp Q_m = r$.

2.6. Construction of a Taylor–Wiles system

Recall we fixed in Definition 2.1 a level subgroup $U \subset G(\widehat{\mathbb{Z}})$ of level N. Let Q be a finite set of primes q splitting in K such that $q \equiv 1 \pmod{p}$ and $(\alpha_q/\beta_q)^{c_{n-1}} \not\equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{m}_E}$. Let Δ_q be the p-Sylow of $(\mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$. We write $(\mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z})^{\times} = \Delta_q \times \Delta_q^p$. For each $q \in Q$, $q = \mathfrak{q}\mathfrak{q}^c$, we fix an isomorphism $i_{\mathfrak{q}} \colon U_q \cong \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{q}})$; we identify $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{q}}/\mathfrak{q} = \mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z}$. Let

$$U'_{q} = \left\{ g \in U_{q}; i_{\mathfrak{q}}(g) \equiv \begin{pmatrix} g_{n-1} & * \\ 0 & \delta \end{pmatrix} \pmod{q} \quad \delta \in \Delta_{q}^{p}, g_{n-1} \in \mathrm{GL}_{n-1}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{q}}) \right\}.$$

We also write $U'_{\mathfrak{q}} = i_{\mathfrak{q}}(U'_{q})$. We also consider the parahoric group

$$U_{q,0} = \left\{ g \in U_q; i_q(g) \equiv \begin{pmatrix} g_{n-1} & * \\ 0 & \delta \end{pmatrix} \pmod{q} \quad \delta \in (\mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z})^{\times}, g_{n-1} \in \mathrm{GL}_{n-1}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{q}}) \right\}$$

associated to the maximal parabolic subgroup $P \subset \operatorname{GL}_n$ fixing the line $\langle e_n \rangle$. Note that $U_{q,0}/U'_q \cong \Delta_q$. Let $U'_Q = \prod_{q \in Q} U'_q \times U^Q$, $U_{Q,0} = \prod_{q \in Q} U_{q,0} \times U^Q$ and $\Delta_Q = \prod_{q \in Q} \Delta_q$.

Note that $U_{Q,0}/U'_Q = \Delta_Q$. Let $h_{n-1,Q}$, respectively $\tilde{h}_{n-1,Q}$, be the (cuspidal) Hida Hecke algebra of auxiliary level group U'_Q excluding the Hecke operators at NQ, respectively, including the Atkin–Lehner Hecke operators $U_{q,i}$ at $q \in Q$. This is naturally an $\mathcal{O}[\Delta_Q]$ -algebra. We denote by $\mathfrak{a}_Q = ([\delta] - 1, \delta \in \Delta_Q)$ the augmentation ideal of $\mathcal{O}[\Delta_Q]$.

If we put $U_Q^{b,c} = U_Q' \cap U^{b,c}$, we note that these algebras both act faithfully on $e \cdot \mathbb{S}_Q(E/\mathcal{O}) = \lim_{\to c} e \cdot S_\lambda(U_Q^{c,c}; E/\mathcal{O})$ (where λ is an arbitrary dominant weight, for instance $\lambda = 0$). By using the diamonds of weight 0, one endows these \mathcal{O} -algebras with a structure of $\Lambda_{n-1} = \mathcal{O}[[T_1^{ss}]]$ -algebra. We have a morphism $h_{n-1,Q} \to h_{n-1}$ which factors through $h_{n-1,Q} \to h_{n-1,Q}/\mathfrak{a}_Q h_{n-1,Q}$.

For any fixed dominant weight λ' congruent to $((n-1)a, (n-2)a, \ldots, a, 0)$, we also consider the Hecke algebras $e \cdot h_{\lambda'}(U_Q^{0,1}, \mathcal{O})$, respectively $e \cdot \tilde{h}_{\lambda'}(U_Q^{0,1}, \mathcal{O})$ of weight λ' . Recall that

$$h_{n-1,Q}/P_{\lambda'}h_{n-1,Q} \to e \cdot h_{\lambda'}(U_Q^{0,1},\mathcal{O})$$

is a surjection with nilpotent kernel. Let \mathfrak{m}_Q be the maximal ideal of $h_{n-1,Q}$ associated to the residual representation \overline{R} . Let $\mathbf{T}_{n-1,Q} = (h_{n-1,Q})_{\mathfrak{m}_Q}$ respectively $\mathbf{T}_{\lambda',Q} = e \cdot h_{\lambda'}(U_Q^{0,1}, \mathcal{O})_{\mathfrak{m}_Q}$ be the corresponding localization-completion. We denote by $R_Q^h: \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathcal{G}_n(\mathbf{T}_{n-1,Q})$ the lifting of \overline{R} constructed as $R^h = R_{\emptyset}^h$ over $\mathbf{T}_{n-1}^u = \mathbf{T}_{n-1,\emptyset}$. Similarly for $R_{\lambda',Q}^h: \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathcal{G}_n(\mathbf{T}_{\lambda',Q})$.

For $q \in Q$ and for $\beta \in K_q^{\times}$, we define compatible Frobenius Hecke operators

$${}_{q}V^{c,c}_{\beta} = i_{\mathfrak{q}}^{-1} \left(U'_{\mathfrak{q}} \begin{pmatrix} 1_{n-1} & 0\\ 0 & \beta \end{pmatrix} U'_{\mathfrak{q}} \right) \times (U^{c,c}_{\mathcal{Q}})^{q}.$$

It defines an endomorphism of $S_0(U_Q^{c,c}, \mathcal{O})_{\mathfrak{m}_Q}$. We fix a lifting ϕ_q of the geometric Frobenius to $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_q$ given by the Artin symbol $[q, \mathbb{Q}_q]$ on \mathbb{Q}_q^{ab} . Let $\mathbf{T}_{n-1,Q}^{c,c} = e \cdot h_0(U_Q^{c,c}; \mathcal{O})_{\mathfrak{m}_Q}$ and Let $R_Q^{c,c}: \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathcal{G}_n(\mathbf{T}_{n-1,Q}^{c,c})$ be the push-forward of R_Q^h via the surjective homomorphism $\mathbf{T}_{n-1,Q} \to \mathbf{T}_{n-1,Q}^{c,c}$. Let $A_q^{c,c}$ be the unique root of Char $R_Q^{c,c}(\phi_q)$ in $\mathbf{T}_{n-1,Q}$ lifting the root $\alpha_q^{n-1} \in k^{\times}$ of Char $\overline{R}(\phi_q)$. By Hensel's lemma, for any $c \ge 1$ we have factorizations in $\mathbf{T}_{n-1}^{c,c}$:

Char
$$R^{c,c}(X) = (X - A_a^{c,c})Q_a^{c,c}(X).$$

Let $Y_Q^{c,c} = \prod_{q \in Q} Q_q^{c,c}(qV_q^{c,c}) eS_0(U_Q^{c,c}, \mathcal{O})_{\mathfrak{m}_Q}$; it is the largest $e \cdot h_0(U_Q^{c,c}; \mathcal{O})_{\mathfrak{m}_Q}$ $[(qV_q)_{q \in Q}]$ -submodule of $S_0(U_Q^{c,c}, \mathcal{O})_{\mathfrak{m}_Q}$ on which for any $q \in Q$, $_qV_q^{c,c} - A_q^{c,c}$ is topologically nilpotent. Let $\mathbf{T}_{n-1}(Y_Q^{c,c})$ be the image of $e \cdot h_0(U_Q^{c,c}; \mathcal{O})_{\mathfrak{m}_Q}$ in $\mathrm{End}_{\mathcal{O}}(Y_Q^{c,c})$. We denote by $R_{Y_Q^{c,c}}$ the image of the representation \mathbb{R}^h by the projection $\mathbf{T}_{n-1}^u \to \mathbf{T}_{n-1}(Y_Q^{c,c})$. Recall that by [4, Proposition 3.4.4, 8] (here our level groups $U_Q^{c,c}$ play the role of the group U there).

Proposition 2.15. For any $c \ge 1$,

• for any $\beta \in K_{\mathfrak{q}}^{\times} \cap \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{q}}$, we have $_{q}V_{\beta}^{c,c} \in \mathbf{T}_{n-1}(Y_{Q}^{c,c})$, and $X - _{q}V_{q}^{c,c}$ divides Char $R^{c,c}(\phi_{q})$ in $\mathbf{T}_{n-1}(Y_{Q}^{c,c})[X]$.

• The map given by $_{q}V^{c,c}([\beta, \mathbb{Q}_{q}]) = _{q}V^{c,c}_{\beta}$ for $\beta \in K_{\mathfrak{q}}^{\times} \cap \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{q}}$ extends into a continuous character $_{q}V^{c,c} \colon D_{q} \to (\mathbf{T}_{n-1}(Y^{c,c}_{O}))^{\times}$ and we have

$$R_Y^{c,c}|_{D_q} = s_q \oplus_q V^{c,c}$$

where s_q is unramified of rank n-1.

Proof. We refer to [4, Proposition 3.4.4, 8] for the details; we simply mention that the proof relies on [4, Lemma 3.1.5] which analyzes the *q*-component of a cuspidal representation occurring in $\mathbf{T}_{n-1}(Y_Q^{c,c})$; the possibility of a partial Steinberg component is excluded by the condition $q \equiv 1 \pmod{p}$.

Actually, by Hensel's lemma one can even define a unique root $A_q \in \mathbf{T}_{n-1,Q}$ of Char $\mathbb{R}^h(\phi_q)$ congruent to α_q^{n-1} modulo the maximal ideal such that

Char
$$R^{h}(X) = (X - A_{q}^{c,c})Q_{q}(X)$$

with $Q_q(X) \in \mathbf{T}_{n-1,Q}[X]$ and $Q_q(A_q) \in \mathbf{T}_{n-1,Q}^{\times}$. For any $c \ge 1$, A_q interpolates the $A_q^{c,c}$ via the morphisms $\mathbf{T}_{n-1,Q} \to \mathbf{T}_{n-1,Q}^{c,c}$. For any $\beta \in K_{\mathfrak{q}}^{\times} \cap \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{q}}$, the operators ${}_{q}V_{\beta}^{c,c}$ are compatible when $c \ge 1$ varies; they give rise to an element ${}_{q}V_{\beta} \in \mathbf{T}_{n-1,Q}$ and to a continuous homomorphism

$$D_q \to \mathbf{T}_{n-1,Q}^{\times}$$

One can then define a subspace $\mathbb{Y}_Q \subset \mathbb{S}_Q(E/\mathcal{O})_{\mathfrak{m}_Q}$ by $\mathbb{Y}_Q = \prod_{q \in Q} Q_q(V_q) \mathbb{S}_Q(E/\mathcal{O})_{\mathfrak{m}_Q}$ such that for any $c \ge 1$, one has $\mathbb{Y}_Q^{T_c^{ss}} = Y_Q^{c,c} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p$ via the identification

$$\mathbb{S}_Q^{T_c^{ss}} = e \cdot S_0(U^{c,c}; E/\mathcal{O}).$$

We conclude from 2.15 that for any $q \in Q$,

$$R_Q^h|_{D_q} = s_q \oplus_q V,$$

where s_q is unramified and $_qV([q, \mathbb{Q}_q]) = A_q$.

Let \mathcal{D}_Q be the deformation subfunctor of \mathcal{D} imposing that for any $q \in Q$, the liftings $r \in \mathcal{D}_Q(A)$ of \overline{R} when restricted to D_q are of the form

$$s_q \oplus A(\psi_q)$$

where s_q is unramified of rank n-1 and lifts \overline{s}_q , and $_qV_q: D_q \to A^{\times}$ is such that $\psi_q([q, \mathbb{Q}_q]) \equiv \alpha_q^{n-1} \pmod{\mathfrak{m}_A}$. Let $R_{n-1,Q}$ be the universal deformation ring of \mathcal{D}_Q . It is endowed with a universal lifting

$$R_Q^{\text{univ}} \colon \Gamma_Q \to \mathcal{G}_n(R_Q^{\text{univ}})$$

and characters $\psi_q^{\text{univ}} \colon D_q \to (R_Q^{\text{univ}})^{\times}$ such that

$$R_Q^{\mathrm{univ}}|_{D_q} = s_q^{\mathrm{univ}} \oplus \psi_q^{\mathrm{univ}}$$

where s_q^{univ} is unramified and lifts \overline{s}_q , and $\psi_q^{\text{univ}}([q, \mathbb{Q}_q])$ lifts the root $\overline{\alpha}_q^{n-1} \in k^{\times}$ of $\overline{R}(\text{Frob}_q)$. Similarly, we have

$$R^h_{\lambda',Q} \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathcal{G}_n(\mathbf{T}_{\lambda',Q})$$

H. Hida and J. Tilouine

such that for any $q \in Q$,

$$R^h_{\lambda',Q}|_{D_q} = s^h_{\lambda',q} \oplus \psi^h_{\lambda',q},$$

where $\psi_{\lambda',q}^h = {}_q V_q^{0,1}$. By Proposition 2.15, these automorphic liftings give rise to surjective ring homomorphisms

$$R_{n-1,Q} \to \mathbf{T}_{n-1,Q}(\mathbb{Y}_Q)$$
 and $R_{\lambda',Q} \to \mathbf{T}_{\lambda',Q}(\mathbb{Y}_Q)$

sending R_Q^{univ} to R_Q^h and ψ_q^{univ} to $_qV_q$, respectively $R_{\lambda',Q}^{\text{univ}}$ to $R_{\lambda',Q}^h$ and $\psi_{\lambda',q}^{\text{univ}}$ to $_qV_q^{0,1}$. Let $\mathfrak{m}_{R_{n-1,Q}}$ respectively $\mathfrak{m}_{R_{\lambda',Q}}$ be the maximal ideal of $R_{\lambda',Q}$. Note that we have canonically

$$\mathfrak{m}_{R_{n-1,Q}}/(\mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{O}}+\mathfrak{m}_{R_{n-1,Q}}^2)=\mathfrak{m}_{R_{\lambda',Q}}/(\mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{O}}+\mathfrak{m}_{R_{\lambda',Q}}^2)$$

and that the k-dual of this space is canonically isomorphic to $\mathrm{H}^{1}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{Q}}}(\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}, M)$. Moreover, it follows from Corollary 2.14 that

Corollary 2.16. For any set Q_m as above and for $r = \dim_k H^1_{\mathcal{L}_{\theta}}(\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}, M)$, one has

$$\dim_k \mathfrak{m}_{R_{n-1,Q_m}}/(\mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{O}}+\mathfrak{m}^2_{R_{n-1,Q_m}})=\dim_k \mathrm{H}^1_{\mathcal{L}_{Q_m}}(\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}},M)\leqslant \sharp Q_m=r.$$

2.7. End of the proof

We first fix a regular dominant weight λ' congruent modulo p-1 to $((n-1)a, (n-2)a, \ldots, a, 0)$. We assume either (1a) or (1b), so that the characters on the diagonal of Symmⁿ⁻¹ $\overline{\rho}_{\mu}|_{D_d}$ are mutually distinct. We consider the diagram of morphisms

$$\begin{array}{ccc} R_{\lambda',\mathcal{Q}_m} \to \mathbf{T}_{\lambda',\mathcal{Q}_m}(\mathbb{Y}_{\mathcal{Q}_m}) \\ \downarrow & \downarrow \\ R_{\lambda'} \to \mathbf{T}_{\lambda'}(U^{0,1},\mathcal{O}). \end{array}$$

The first line is $\mathcal{O}[\Delta_{Q_m}]$ -linear. Let $\mathbf{M}_{\lambda',Q_m}$ be the Pontryagin dual of \mathbb{Y}_{Q_m} and $\mathbf{M}_{\lambda',0,Q_m}$ be the Pontryagin dual of the analogue $\mathbb{Y}_{Q_m,0}$ of \mathbb{Y}_{Q_m} obtained by replacing the level group U_{Q_m} by $U_{Q_m,0}$. Similarly, let $\mathbf{M}_{\lambda',\emptyset}$ be the Pontryagin dual of $e \cdot S_{\lambda'}(U^{0,1}, E/\mathcal{O})_m$. We know that $\mathbf{M}_{\lambda',Q_m}$ is free of finite rank over $\mathcal{O}[\Delta_{Q_m}]$ and admits a faithful action of $\mathbf{T}_{\lambda',Q_m}(\mathbb{Y}_{Q_m})$. By [14, Lemma 2.2.6], we have

$$\mathbf{M}_{\lambda',Q_m}/\mathfrak{a}_{Q_m}\mathbf{M}_{\lambda',Q_m}\cong\mathbf{M}_{\lambda',0,Q_m}.$$

One also knows that

 $R_{\lambda',Q_m}/\mathfrak{a}_{Q_m}R_{\lambda',Q_m}\cong R_{\lambda'}.$

By Corollary 2.14, there are surjections in $CNL_{\mathcal{O}}$:

$$\mathcal{O}[[Y_1,\ldots,Y_r]] \to R_{\lambda',Q_m}.$$

Let Ψ_m : be the composition

 $\mathcal{O}[[Y_1,\ldots,Y_r]] \to R_{\lambda',Q_m} \to R_{\lambda'}.$

We also have surjections

$$\mathcal{O}[[Z_1,\ldots,Z_r]] \to \mathcal{O}[\Delta_{O_m}]$$

whose kernels \mathfrak{n}_m satisfy $\bigcap_m \mathfrak{n}_m = (0)$. We can lift the map

$$\mathcal{O}[[Z_1,\ldots,Z_r]] \to \mathcal{O}[\Delta_{Q_m}] \to R_{\lambda',Q_m}$$

to a map

$$\Phi_m: \mathcal{O}[[Z_1, \ldots, Z_r]] \to \mathcal{O}[[Y_1, \ldots, Y_r]].$$

The composition

$$\Psi_m \circ \Phi_m \colon \mathcal{O}[[Z_1, \ldots, Z_r]] \to R_{\lambda'}/\mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{O}}R_{\lambda'}$$

has kernel $(Z_1, \ldots, Z_r) + \mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{O}}$.

On the other hand, it follows from [4, Corollary 3.1.5] that we have a Hecke linear isomorphism

$$\mathbf{M}_{\lambda', \mathcal{Q}_m, 0} \cong \mathbf{M}_{\lambda', \emptyset}$$

so that

$$\mathbf{M}_{\lambda', Q_m} / \mathfrak{a}_{Q_m} \mathbf{M}_{\lambda', Q_m} \cong \mathbf{M}_{\lambda', \ell}$$

One can now apply Diamond–Fujiwara's version of the Taylor–Wiles machine (see [11, Theorem 2.1] as at the end of the proof of [4, Theorem 3.5.1] to conclude that the morphism

$$R_{\lambda'} \to \mathbf{T}_{\lambda'}(U^{0,1}, \mathcal{O})$$

is an isomorphism in $CNL_{\mathcal{O}}$, that $M_{\lambda',\emptyset}$ is free over $\mathbf{T}_{\lambda'}(U^{0,1},\mathcal{O})$ and that these algebras are local complete intersections.

In order to deduce that $R_{n-1} \to \mathbf{T}_{n-1}^{u}$ is an isomorphism of Λ_{n-1} -algebras and that they are local complete intersections, we proceed as in [43, § 3.2]. We choose a regular dominant weight λ' congruent to $((n-1)a, \ldots, a, 0)$ and we consider the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} R_{n-1}/PR_{n-1} \rightarrow \mathbf{T}_{n-1}^{u}/P\mathbf{T}_{n-1}^{u} \\ \downarrow & \downarrow \\ R_{\lambda'} \rightarrow \mathbf{T}_{\lambda'}(U^{0,1},\mathcal{O}) \end{array}$$

where $P = P_{\lambda'}$. We know that the bottom line is an isomorphism and that the first column is an isomorphism. It follows that the first line is an isomorphism and that $\mathbf{T}_{n-1}^{u}/P\mathbf{T}_{n-1}^{u} \cong \mathbf{T}_{\lambda'}^{u}$. Moreover, by Hida's control theorem $\mathbf{M}_{n-1}/P\mathbf{M}_{n-1} = \mathbf{M}_{\lambda',\emptyset}$; hence $\mathbf{M}_{n-1}/P\mathbf{M}_{n-1}$ is free over $\mathbf{T}_{n-1}^{u}/P\mathbf{T}_{n-1}^{u}$. This implies by Nakayama's lemma that \mathbf{M}_{n-1} is free over \mathbf{T}_{n-1}^{u} (use that \mathbf{M}_{n-1} is free over Λ_{n-1} by Hida theory). In particular, \mathbf{T}_{n-1}^{u} is free over Λ_{n-1} . From this we can deduce by a similar argument that the injectivity of $R_{n-1}/PR_{n-1} \to \mathbf{T}_{n-1}^{u}/P\mathbf{T}_{n-1}^{u}$ implies the injectivity of $R_{n-1} \to \mathbf{T}_{n-1}^{u}$. Since P is generated by a regular sequence in Λ_{n-1} and since $\mathbf{T}_{n-1}^{u}/P\mathbf{T}_{n-1}^{u}$ is local complete intersection over Λ_{n-1}/P , the same holds for \mathbf{T}_{n-1}^{u} over Λ_{n-1} .

3. Proof of Theorem 1.3

3.1. The case j = 3

The proof of Theorem 1.3 makes use of the Symm³ base change from $GL_2(\mathbb{Q})$ to $GSp_4(\mathbb{Q})$ as established in [39]. The level of the Symm³ of a newform of squarefree Iwahori level is still squarefree Iwahori [39]. Let h_2 be the Hida Hecke algebra constructed in [41] (see

H. Hida and J. Tilouine

also [23] or [43]). It is a finite torsion-free algebra over $\Lambda_2 = \mathbb{Z}_p[[X_1, X_2]]$. Calculations detailed in [8, §3.3] describe the only possible homomorphism

$$\mathcal{H}(\mathrm{GSp}_4)^{Np} \otimes \mathcal{H}_p(\mathrm{GSp}_4)^{Iw,-} \to \mathcal{H}(\mathrm{GL}_2)^{Np} \otimes \mathcal{H}_p(\mathrm{GL}_2)^{Iw,-}$$

between our abstract Hecke algebras, deduced from the base change map from GL_2 to GSp_4 and compatible with the ordinarity condition. In fact, in [8, Proposition 3.3.5], A. Conti defines eight homomorphisms $\lambda^{Np} \otimes \lambda_{p,i}$, $i = 1, \ldots, 8$ in the context of finite slope case, but only the first is compatible with our ordinarity assumption. It provides a commutative diagram of algebra homomorphisms

$$\begin{array}{ccc} h_2 \xrightarrow{\theta} h_1 \\ \uparrow & \uparrow \\ \Lambda_2 \xrightarrow{} \Lambda_1 \end{array}$$

the bottom homomorphism is induced on the highest weights of local systems by $n \ge 0 \mapsto$ (a, b) where $a \ge b \ge 0$ are given by a = 2n and b = n. Here, $n \ge 0$ corresponds to the irreducible representation SymmⁿSt₂ of highest weight n of GL₂(\mathbb{Q}) and (a, b) corresponds to the similar Weyl representation of GSp₄(\mathbb{Q}). For any prime ℓ not dividing Np, let the universal genus 2 Hecke polynomial at ℓ

$$P_{\ell}^{(2)}(X) = X^4 - T_{\ell}X^3 + \ell(R_{\ell} + (1 + \ell^2 S_{\ell}))X^2 - \ell^3 T_{\ell}S_{\ell}X + \ell^6 S_{\ell}^3$$

where the coefficients are given by the universal Hecke operators with the notations of [41, Conjecture 2 § 7]. Then, the homomorphism θ is defined as follows. For any prime ℓ not dividing Np, it sends the coefficients of $P_{\ell}^{(2)}(X)$ to those of the symmetric cube $\operatorname{Symm}^{3}P_{\ell}^{(1)} = (X - U_{\ell}^{3})(X - U_{\ell}^{2}V_{\ell})(X - U_{\ell}V_{\ell}^{2})(X - V_{\ell}^{3})$ of the genus 1 universal Hecke polynomial $P_{\ell}^{(1)} = X^{2} - T_{\ell}X + \ell S_{\ell} = (X - U_{\ell})(X - V_{\ell})$. For $\ell = p$, let $U_{p,1}$, respectively $U_{p,2}$, be the double class of diag(p, p, 1, 1), respectively diag $(p, p^{2}, p, 1)$, for the Iwahori subgroup of $\operatorname{GSp}_{4}(\mathbb{Z}_{p})$. Then by standard calculations (see [8, Proposition 3.3.5 and Corollary 3.3.9], we see that θ sends $U_{p,1}$ to U_{p}^{3} . and $U_{p,2}$ to U_{p}^{4} .

Let \mathbf{T}_2^s be the localization of h_2 at the maximal ideal associated to $\operatorname{Symm}^3 \overline{\rho}_{\mu}$; the morphism θ factors through $\mathbf{T}_2^s \to \mathbf{T}_1$. Let $\lambda = \mu \circ \theta$. Let $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_2^s = \mathbf{T}_2^s \otimes_{\Lambda_2} \widetilde{A}_1$. Let us still denote by the same letters the homomorphisms obtained by extensions of scalars to \widetilde{A}_1 :

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{2}^{s} \xrightarrow{\theta} \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{1} \xrightarrow{\mu} \widetilde{A}_{1}$$

and their composition $\lambda = \mu \circ \theta$. Let us recall [35, Theorem 4.2] (especially, in the context of deformations of a residual representation $\text{Symm}^3 \overline{\rho}_{\mu}$, treated in § 5.8.2 of this paper). Let R_2 be the minimal *p*-ordinary universal deformation ring of $\text{Symm}^3 \overline{\rho}_{\mu}$.

Theorem 3.1. Assuming the assumptions (*) and that either $\alpha^{12} \neq 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{m}_{A_1}}$ or $3(a + 1) , we have <math>R_2 = \mathbf{T}_2^s$ and \mathbf{T}_2^s is local complete intersection over Λ_2 ; moreover it is finite flat over Λ_2 .

Note that the auxiliary level of h_2 is Iwahori of the same squarefree level N as h_1 .

Corollary 3.2. Assuming the assumptions (*) and 3(a+1) < p-1, we have

- (1) the homomorphism $\theta : \mathbf{T}_2^s \to \mathbf{T}_1$ is surjective, moreover
- (2) the Λ_1 -algebra $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_2^s$ is reduced.

Proof. By absolute irreducibility of $\overline{\rho}$, and of its symmetric cube and by $R_1 = \mathbf{T}_1$ and $R_2^s = \mathbf{T}_2^s$, we see that the rings \mathbf{T}_2^s and \mathbf{T}_1 are generated by the traces. Let \mathbf{T}_1' be the image of \mathbf{T}_2^s by θ ; it is a Λ_1 -subalgebra of \mathbf{T}_1 . It contains $U_p = \theta(U_{p,2} \cdot U_{p,1}^{-1})$. For any prime ℓ relatively prime to Np, we have $\operatorname{Tr}\operatorname{Symm}^3\rho(\operatorname{Fr}_\ell) = T_\ell^3 - 2\ell < \ell >_0 \cdot T_\ell$. Let $\xi_\ell \in \mathbf{T}_1'$ be this quantity. The polynomial $X^3 - 2\ell < \ell >_0 \cdot X - \xi_\ell$ admits a root $T_\ell \in \mathbf{T}_1$. Hence in the residue field $k = \mathbf{T}_1/\mathfrak{m}_{\mathbf{T}_1} = \mathbf{T}_1'/\mathfrak{m}_{\mathbf{T}_1'}$, it has a root t_ℓ . If this root is simple, we can conclude by Hensel's lemma that $T_\ell \in \mathbf{T}_1'$. Let us show that we can find a finite set Σ of primes ℓ 's prime to Np such that

$$\mathbf{T}_1 \subset \Lambda_1[U_p, T_\ell, \ell \in \Sigma] + \mathfrak{m}_{\mathbf{T}_1} \tag{(*)}$$

and such that for each $\ell \in \Sigma$, t_{ℓ} is simple.

Recall that the subgroup of elements B of $\operatorname{GL}_2(k')$ such that det $B \in (\mathbb{F}_p)^{a+1}$ is precisely equal by [38] to $\operatorname{Im} \overline{\rho}$. Let $\ell \in \Sigma$. Let α and β be the roots in \overline{k} of $X^2 - t_{\ell}X + \ell^{a+1} = 0$. We have $\overline{\rho}(\operatorname{Fr}_{\ell}) \sim A = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & 0 \\ 0 & \beta \end{pmatrix}$. The condition $3(\alpha + \beta)^3 - 2\alpha\beta = 0$ implies that $x = \frac{\alpha}{\beta}$ is a root of $3x^2 + 4x + 3 = 0$. If p = 5, x = 1 is double root; if p > 5, the roots are inverse one of the other and are distinct. If p = 5 and we do have $\alpha = \beta$, we have $T_{\ell} \in \Lambda_1 + \mathfrak{m}_{\mathbf{T}_1}$ hence we can omit T_{ℓ} from our set of generators.

If p > 5 and if $x = \frac{\alpha}{\beta}$ is a root of $3x^2 + 4x + 3 = 0$, let us find two primes ℓ' and ℓ'' such that $T_{\ell} \in \Lambda_1[T_{\ell'}, T_{\ell''}] \subset \mathbf{T}_1$ and

$$3(T_{\ell'})^2 - 2\ell' < \ell' > \not\equiv 0 \pmod{\mathfrak{m}_{\mathbf{T}_1}} \text{ and } 3(T_{\ell''})^2 - 2\ell'' < \ell'' > \not\equiv 0 \pmod{\mathfrak{m}_{\mathbf{T}_1}}.$$

Let $c \in (\mathbb{F}_p^{\times})^{a+1}$. In particular, there exist σ' and $\sigma'' \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ such that

$$\overline{\rho}(\sigma') \sim A' = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & 0 \\ 0 & \beta c \end{pmatrix}$$
 and $\overline{\rho}(\sigma'') \sim A'' = \begin{pmatrix} \beta & 0 \\ 0 & \alpha c \end{pmatrix}$

where for both relations, the conjugation is by the same matrix as for A. Now we choose $c \neq \pm 1$ such that $3(\alpha + \beta c)^2 - 2\alpha\beta c \neq 0$ and $3(\alpha c + \beta)^2 - 2\alpha\beta c \neq 0$. This rules out at most four values. If $p \neq 5$, it is easy to see that $(\mathbb{F}_p^{\times})^{a+1}$ has order at least 5 under the assumption p-1 > 3(a+1). Hence such a c exists. Choose ℓ' and ℓ'' by Chebotarev density such that $\overline{\rho}(\operatorname{Fr}_{\ell'})$, respectively $\overline{\rho}(\operatorname{Fr}_{\ell''})$, belongs to the conjugacy class of σ' , respectively σ'' . Note that $c+1\neq 0$ and

$$T_{\ell} \equiv (c+1)^{-1} \cdot (T_{\ell'} + T_{\ell''}) \pmod{\mathfrak{m}_{\mathbf{T}_1}}.$$

This shows that we can achieve the inclusion (*) by replacing the set of indexes Σ for our generators T_q by $(\Sigma - \{\ell\}) \cup \{\ell', \ell''\}$. Then, an obvious induction shows that we can assume $\mathbf{T}_1 \subset \Lambda_1[U_p, T_\ell, \ell \in \Sigma]$ with t_ℓ simple for any $\ell \in \Sigma$. We have therefore proved that $\mathbf{T}'_1 = \mathbf{T}_1$.

(2) The proof of Theorem 3.1 also shows that $\overline{R}_2^s = R_2 \otimes_{\lambda_2} \Lambda_1$ is isomorphic to the Λ_1 -algebra $\overline{\mathbf{T}}_2^s$ image of \mathbf{T}_2^s in $\prod_{\lambda'} \mathbf{T}_{\lambda'}(U^{0,1}, \mathcal{O})$ where λ' runs over the set of regulars

weights of the form (2n', n') for all integers $n' \ge 0$. This algebra is clearly reduced. By Theorem 3.1, it coincides with $\mathbf{T}_2^s \otimes_{\Lambda_2} \Lambda_1$. By tensoring by \widetilde{A}_1 , this implies that $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_2^s$ is reduced.

Using Corollary 3.2, we have quasi-splittings of μ , θ and λ :

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_1 \otimes_{\widetilde{A}_1} \mathcal{K}_1 \cong \mathcal{K}_1 \times \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}'_{\mu, \mathcal{K}_1} \tag{1}$$

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{2}^{s} \otimes_{\widetilde{A}_{1}} \mathcal{K}_{1} \cong (\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{1} \otimes_{\widetilde{A}_{1}} \mathcal{K}_{1}) \times \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{\theta, \mathcal{K}_{1}}^{\prime}$$

$$\tag{2}$$

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{2}^{s} \otimes_{\widetilde{A}_{1}} \mathcal{K}_{1} \cong \mathcal{K}_{1} \times \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{\lambda, \mathcal{K}_{1}}^{\prime}.$$
(3)

Let $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}'_{\theta}$, respectively $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}'_{\lambda}$, be the image of $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}^s_2$ by the second projection in (2), respectively in (3). Besides the ideal \mathfrak{c}_{μ} already defined, one can define two other congruence ideals:

$$\mathfrak{c}_{\theta} = \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_2^s \cap (\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_1 \times \{\mathbf{0}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_a'}\})$$

and

$$\mathfrak{c}_{\lambda} = \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_2^s \cap (\widetilde{A}_1 \times \{0_{\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{\lambda}'}\}).$$

Corollary 3.3. Assume (*) and 3(a+1) < p-1, then the ideals \mathfrak{c}_{λ} , \mathfrak{c}_{μ} and $\lambda(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta})$ are principal and we have the relation

$$\mathfrak{c}_{\lambda} = \mathfrak{c}_{\mu}\lambda(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta})$$

Proof. We know that \mathbf{T}_1 and \mathbf{T}_2^s are local complete intersections over Λ_i (i = 1, 2). By flatness of \widetilde{A}_1 over Λ_1 , it follows that $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_1$ and $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_2^s$ are local complete intersections over \widetilde{A}_1 . Thus, the statement follows from Lemmas 8.5 and 8.8.

Proposition 3.4. Under the same assumptions as above, the ideal c_{λ} is generated by Char(Sel(Ad_{sp4} ρ_{μ})).

Proof. Let \mathcal{L} be the composition of the isomorphism $R_2 \to \mathbf{T}_2^s$ with $\lambda \colon \mathbf{T}_2^s \to A_1, \widetilde{R}_2 = R_2 \otimes_{\Lambda_2} \widetilde{A}_1$ and $\widetilde{\mathcal{L}} \colon \widetilde{R}_2 \to \widetilde{A}_1$ the composition of $\mathcal{L} \otimes \mathrm{Id}_{\widetilde{A}_1}$ with the multiplication $A_1 \otimes \widetilde{A}_1 \to \widetilde{A}_1$. By flatness of \widetilde{A}_1 over Λ_1 , we see that \widetilde{R}_2 is local complete intersection over \widetilde{A}_1 . We first apply 8.7 to see that the principal ideal \mathfrak{c}_{λ} coincides with the reflexive envelope of $\mathrm{Fitt}_0(C_1(\widetilde{\mathcal{L}}, \widetilde{A}_1))$. It remains to see that

$$C_1(\mathcal{L}, A_1) \cong \operatorname{Sel}(\operatorname{Ad}_{\mathfrak{sp}_4}\rho_\mu).$$

Let $I = \text{Ker}(\Lambda_2 \to \Lambda_1)$. It is a principal ideal, say $I = (\xi)$. The quotient $R'_2 = R_2/\xi R_2$ is local complete intersection over Λ_1 and is the deformation ring of symplectic *N*-minimal ordinary deformations whose Hodge–Tate weights are of the form (3h, 2h, h, 0). We have $\Omega_{R_2/\Lambda_2} \otimes_{\Lambda_2} \widetilde{A}_1 = \Omega_{R'_2/\Lambda_1} \otimes_{\Lambda_1} \widetilde{A}_1$. By flatness of \widetilde{A}_1 over Λ_1 , we conclude

$$\Omega_{R_2/\Lambda_2} \otimes_{\Lambda_2} \widetilde{A}_1 = \Omega_{\widetilde{R}_2/\widetilde{A}_1}.$$

Let us now compute the Pontryagin dual of $C_1(\widetilde{\mathcal{L}}, \widetilde{A}_1)$:

$$C_1(\widetilde{\mathcal{L}}, \widetilde{A}_1)^* = \operatorname{Hom}_{R_2}(\Omega_{\widetilde{R}_2/\widetilde{A}_1}, \widetilde{A}_1^*) = \operatorname{Hom}_{R_2}(\Omega_{R_2/\Lambda_2} \otimes_{\Lambda_2} \widetilde{A}_1, \widetilde{A}_1^*)$$

= $\operatorname{Hom}_{R_2}(\Omega_{R_2/\Lambda_2}, \widetilde{A}_1^*) = \operatorname{Der}_{\Lambda_2}(R_2, \widetilde{A}_1^*)$

Let
$$R_2(\widetilde{A}_1^*) = R_2 \oplus \epsilon \cdot \widetilde{A}_1^*$$
 with $\epsilon^2 = 0$, then

$$\operatorname{Der}_{\Lambda_2}(R_2, \widetilde{A}_1^*) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{L}}(R_2(\widetilde{A}_1^*), \widetilde{A}_1^*) = \{\rho \in \mathcal{D}(R_2(\widetilde{A}_1^*)); \rho(\sigma) = (\mathbf{1} + \epsilon \cdot c(\sigma))\rho^{\operatorname{univ}}(\sigma)\}/\sim.$$

The map $\rho \mapsto c$ induces an injective map Φ from this set (which happens to be a group) to the group of cohomology classes $[c] \in \mathrm{H}^1(\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}, \mathfrak{gl}_n(A_1) \otimes_{A_1} \widetilde{A}_1^*)$.

Recall that by the assumption $\alpha^{12} \neq 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{m}_{A_2}}$ or 3(a+1) < p-1, the *p*-ordinarity filtrations are well defined on ρ^{univ} , on $\operatorname{Ad}_{\mathfrak{sp}_4}\operatorname{Symm}^3 \rho_{\mu}$ and on \mathcal{A}^3_{μ} . Moreover, the image of Φ is contained in the subgroup of the cohomology classes such that for ℓ dividing $N, c(I_\ell) = 0$ (this is the *N*-minimality condition) and such that $c|_{I_p}$ takes values, up to conjugation, in $\mathfrak{n}^+_n(A_1) \otimes_{A_1} \widetilde{A}_1$ where $\mathfrak{n}^+_n(A_1) = Fil^1\operatorname{Ad}(\operatorname{Symm}^3\rho_{\mu})$ is the upper nilpotent subgroup of $\mathfrak{gl}_n(A_1) = \operatorname{Ad}(\operatorname{Symm}^3\rho_{\mu})$. This is the min-ord condition. Note that if ρ is upper triangular on I_p it is still so on D_p .

Let us show the surjectivity of Φ . Indeed, any cocycle *c* defines a unique conjugacy class $[\rho]$ of liftings of $\overline{\rho}$. We need to check that $[\rho]$ defines a deformation in $\mathcal{D}(R_2(\widetilde{A}_1^*))$; it amounts to verifying that the characters defined by $\rho|_{D_p}$ are in the right order on the full decomposition group. This is imposed by the uniqueness of the *p*-ordinarity filtration. \Box

On the other hand, for p > 3, we have a decomposition of \mathbb{Z}_p -representations of GL_2 : $Ad_{\mathfrak{sp}_4} = \mathcal{A}^1 \oplus \mathcal{A}^3$. This implies a decomposition of minimal *p*-ordinary Selmer groups

$$\operatorname{Sel}(\operatorname{Ad}_{\mathfrak{sp}_4}\rho_{\mu}) = \operatorname{Sel}(\mathcal{A}^1_{\mu}) \oplus \operatorname{Sel}(\mathcal{A}^3_{\mu}).$$

Since we know that $\mathfrak{c}_{\mu} = (\operatorname{Char} \operatorname{Sel}(\mathcal{A}^{1}_{\mu}))$ and $\mathfrak{c}_{\lambda} = \operatorname{Char}(\operatorname{Sel}(\operatorname{Ad}_{\mathfrak{sp}_{4}}\rho_{\mu}))$, we conclude by division.

Corollary 3.5. The ideal $\lambda(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta})$ is principal generated by $\operatorname{Char}(\operatorname{Sel}(\mathcal{A}^{3}_{\mu}))$.

By definition, the associated primes of $\lambda(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta})$ in \widetilde{A}_1 are congruence primes between Symm³(μ) and Siegel families which are not Symm³ of GL₂(\mathbb{Q}) families. Because of the Greenberg–Iwasawa conjecture, it is natural to conjecture that the (not yet constructed) p-adic L function of \mathcal{A}^3_{μ} generates the ideal $\lambda(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta})$, hence controls the congruences of the above type. This would require a decomposition, not only up to algebraic numbers but up to p-adic units in a number field, of normalized special values at 1 of the specializations f_k in the Hida family, according to the decomposition of the complex L functions

$$L(\mathrm{Ad}_{\mathfrak{sp}_4}(f_k), s) = L(\mathcal{A}_{f_k}^1, s)L(\mathcal{A}_{f_k}^3, s).$$

3.2. The case j = 2

In order to treat the case j = 2, we assume that the integer *a* associated to \mathbf{T}_1 (hence to μ) satisfies $3(a + 1) . We also use another decomposition of <math>\mathbb{Z}_p$ -representations of GL_2 (valid if p > 3):

$$\mathrm{Ad}_{\mathfrak{sl}_4} = \mathcal{A}^1 \oplus \mathcal{A}^2 \oplus \mathcal{A}^3$$

The general formulas over \mathbb{Z}_p are actually

$$\operatorname{Ad}_{\mathfrak{sl}_m} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{m-1} \mathcal{A}^i$$

for any $m \ge 2$, provided p > m - 1, and

$$\mathrm{Ad}_{\mathfrak{sp}_{2m}} = \bigoplus_{j=1}^m \mathcal{A}^{2j-1}$$

m

for any $m \ge 1$ provided p > 2m - 1.

As already mentioned, the Symm³ base change to $GL_4(\mathbb{Q})$ is established by Kim. Recall that we fixed a squarefree level N and a prime factor q_1 thereof. As above, we choose an auxiliary imaginary quadratic field in which p and q_1 split. We then choose a degree 16 skew field of center K with second kind involution, which ramifies exactly at those two primes. There exists a unitary group U(4) compact at infinity, quasi-split at all inert primes. By Arthur and Clozel, automorphic forms can be transferred from $GL_2(\mathbb{Q})$ to U(4). In his thesis [14], Geraghty defined a Hida Hecke algebra h_3^u associated to U(4)which is finite torsion-free over the Iwasawa algebra $\Lambda_3 = \mathbb{Z}_p[[X_1, X_2, X_3]]$. At this stage, it is better to write h_2^s for the Hecke algebra for symplectic forms previously denoted by h_2 , in order to distinguish unitary and symplectic group Hecke algebras. The Symm³ base change provides a ring homomorphism $h_3^u \to h_1$ with a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} h_3^u \to h_1 \\ \uparrow & \uparrow \\ \Lambda_3 \to \Lambda_1 \end{array}$$

The bottom map is induced by $n \mapsto (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3)$ where $\lambda_1 \ge \lambda_2 \ge \lambda_3 \ge \mathbf{0}$ are given by $\lambda_1 = 3n, \lambda_2 = 2n$ and $\lambda_3 = n$. But we need a more precise information about this diagram. For this, we note that the base change from GSp_4 to GL_4 has also been established [32], so that there is also a commutative diagram of ring homomorphisms

$$\begin{array}{cccc} h_3^{\mu} \xrightarrow{\theta'} h_2^s \xrightarrow{\theta} h_1 \xrightarrow{\mu} A_1 \\ \uparrow & \uparrow & \uparrow & \uparrow \\ \Lambda_3 \xrightarrow{} \Lambda_2 \xrightarrow{} \Lambda_1 = \Lambda_1 \end{array}$$

where the first bottom arrow is given by $(a, b) \mapsto (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3)$ where $a \ge b \ge 0$ and $\lambda_1 \ge \lambda_2 \ge \lambda_3 \ge 0$ are given by $\lambda_1 = a + b$, $\lambda_2 = a$ and $\lambda_3 = b$. Let \mathbf{T}_3^u be the localization of h_3^u at the maximal prime corresponding to $\operatorname{Symm}^3 \overline{\rho}_{\mu}$. The morphism θ' factors through \mathbf{T}_3^u and is still denoted as $\theta' : \mathbf{T}_3^u \to \mathbf{T}_2^s$. Let $\lambda' = \lambda \circ \theta'$. Let $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_3^u = \mathbf{T}_3^u \otimes_{\Lambda_3} \widetilde{A}_1$. We tensorize the morphisms by \widetilde{A}_1 (without changing the notation) and we get \widetilde{A}_1 -algebra homomorphisms

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{3}^{u} \xrightarrow{\theta'} \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{2}^{s} \xrightarrow{\lambda} \widetilde{A}_{1}.$$

Let $\mathcal{G}_4 = (\mathrm{GL}_4 \times \mathrm{GL}_1) \rtimes \{1, j\}$ where $j(g, \nu)j^{-1} = (\nu^t g^{-1}, \nu)$. Let R_3 be the minimal p-ordinary universal ring of deformations $\rho \colon G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathcal{G}_4(B)$ of $\mathrm{Symm}^3 \overline{\rho}_{\mu} \colon G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathrm{GL}_4(k)$. By treating a simpler case than in [14], we prove

Theorem 3.6. Assuming (*) and either $\alpha^{12} \not\equiv 1 \pmod{A_1}$ or 3(a+1) < p-1, we have $R_3 = \mathbf{T}_3^u$, and this ring is local complete intersection over Λ_3 ; in particular it is finite flat over Λ_3 .

Corollary 3.7. Assuming the assumptions (*) and 3(a+1) < p-1, we have

- (1) the homomorphism $\theta': \mathbf{T}_3^u \to \mathbf{T}_2^s$ is surjective, moreover
- (2) the Λ_1 -algebra $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_3^u$ is reduced.

Proof. (1) Over the Iwasawa algebras, both rings are generated by the traces of the universal modular representations $\rho_{\mathbf{T}_3^u}$ and $\rho_{\mathbf{T}_2^v}$. As in § 3.1, we denote by T_ℓ , R_ℓ , S_ℓ the Hecke operators at ℓ in \mathbf{T}_2^s . By Chebotarev density theorem, \mathbf{T}_2^s is generated by the T_ℓ 's for primes ℓ relatively prime to Np and split in the imaginary quadratic field K. For such an ℓ , we have $\operatorname{Tr} \rho_{\mathbf{T}_3^u}(\operatorname{Fr}_\ell) = T_{\ell,1}$ and $\operatorname{Tr} \rho_{\mathbf{T}_2^v}(\operatorname{Fr}_\ell) = T_\ell$, hence $\theta'(T_{\ell,1}) = T_\ell$ and these elements generate \mathbf{T}_2^s over Λ_2 .

(2) As in the symplectic case (see Corollary 3.2), the proof given at the end of §2.7 shows also that $\overline{R}_{3}^{u} = R_{3}^{u} \otimes_{\Lambda_{3}} \Lambda_{1}$ is isomorphic to the image $\overline{\mathbf{T}}_{3}^{u}$ of \mathbf{T}_{3}^{u} in $\prod_{\lambda'} \mathbf{T}_{\lambda'}^{u}(U^{0,1}, \mathcal{O})$ where λ' runs over the set of regular weights of the form $(3n', 2n', n'), n' \ge 0$. Thus $\overline{\mathbf{T}}_{3}^{u}$ is clearly reduced. It is isomorphic to $\mathbf{T}_{3}^{u} \otimes_{\Lambda_{3}} \Lambda_{1}$ by Theorem 3.6.

Thus Corollaries 3.7 and 3.2 imply that, assuming $3(a + 1) , the <math>\Lambda_1$ -algebras $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_3^u$ and $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_2^s$ are reduced and we have quasi-splittings of $(\lambda$ and θ' and λ' :

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{3}^{u} \otimes_{\widetilde{A}_{1}} \mathcal{K}_{1} \cong (\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{2}^{s} \otimes_{\widetilde{A}_{1}} \mathcal{K}_{1}) \times \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{\theta', \mathcal{K}_{1}}^{\prime}$$

$$\tag{2'}$$

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{3}^{u} \otimes_{\widetilde{A}_{1}} \mathcal{K}_{1} \cong \mathcal{K}_{1} \times \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{\lambda', \mathcal{K}_{1}}^{\prime}.$$

$$(3')$$

Let $\tilde{\mathbf{T}}'_{\theta'}$, respectively $\tilde{\mathbf{T}}'_{\lambda'}$, be the image of $\tilde{\mathbf{T}}^{u}_{3}$ by the second projection in (2'), respectively in (3'). Besides the ideal \mathfrak{c}_{μ} already defined, one can define two other congruence ideals:

$$\mathfrak{c}_{\theta'} = \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_3^u \cap (\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_2^s \times \{0_{\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{\theta'}}\})$$

and

$$\mathfrak{c}_{\lambda'} = \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_3^u \cap (\widetilde{A}_1 \times \{0_{\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{\lambda'}}\}).$$

The formalism of \$\$.3-8.5 yields the following

Corollary 3.8. Assume (*) and 3(a+1) < p-1, then

(1) the ideals $\mathbf{c}_{\lambda'}$, $\mathbf{c}_{\lambda}\lambda(\mathbf{c}_{\theta'})$ and $\mathbf{c}_{\theta'}$ are principal and we have the relation

$$\mathfrak{c}_{\lambda'} = \mathfrak{c}_{\lambda}\lambda(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta'}).$$

(2) the ideal $\mathfrak{c}_{\lambda'}$ is generated by Char(Sel(Ad_{\mathfrak{sp}_4} ρ_μ))

Proof. Same proof as in Corollary 3.3.

Note that the associated primes of $\lambda(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta'})$ in \widetilde{A}_1 are congruence primes between $\operatorname{Symm}^3(\mu)$ and unitary families which do not come from Siegel families.

Moreover, according to the Greenberg–Iwasawa main conjecture, the ideal $\lambda(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta'})$ should be generated by the (still conjectural) *p*-adic *L* function $L_p(\mathcal{A}^2_{\mu})$. On the other hand, for p > 3, we have a decomposition of \mathbb{Z}_p -representations of GL_2 : $\operatorname{Ad}_{\mathfrak{sl}_4} = \operatorname{Ad}_{\mathfrak{sp}_4} \oplus \mathcal{A}^2$. This implies a decomposition of minimal *p*-ordinary Selmer groups

$$\operatorname{Sel}(\operatorname{Ad}_{\mathfrak{sl}_4}\rho_{\mu}) = \operatorname{Sel}(\operatorname{Ad}_{\mathfrak{sp}_4}\rho_{\mu}) \oplus \operatorname{Sel}(\mathcal{A}_{\mu}^2).$$

Since we know that $\mathfrak{c}_{\lambda} = \operatorname{Char}(\operatorname{Sel}(\operatorname{Ad}_{\mathfrak{sp}_4}\rho_{\mu})^*)$, we conclude by division:

Corollary 3.9. The ideal $\lambda(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta'})$ is principal generated by $\operatorname{Char}(\operatorname{Sel}(\mathcal{A}^2_{\mu}))^*$.

Proof. Same proof as in Corollary 3.3.

4. The case j = 4

To treat this case, we fix an auxiliary imaginary quadratic field as above and we choose unitary groups U(4) and U(5) which are compact at infinity and with the same local conditions at finite places.

Besides the Symm³ base change, we also consider the Symm⁴ base change from GL_2 (established by Kim [26] to GL_5 , and by Clozel to U(5)). We note the commutative diagram of group schemes over \mathbb{Z}_p :

where the bottom arrow is the standard (2:1)-covering coming from the exceptional isomorphism $GSp(4) \cong GSpin_5$. Recall that by definition $GSO_5 = \mathbb{G}_m \times SO_5$. Therefore, the adjoint action of $Symm^4GL_2$ on \mathfrak{so}_5 coincides with the adjoint action of $Symm^3GL_2$ on \mathfrak{sp}_4 . We therefore have the following \mathbb{Z}_p -decompositions for the action of $Symm^4GL_2$:

$$\mathfrak{sl}_5 = \mathcal{A}^1 \oplus \mathcal{A}^2 \oplus \mathcal{A}^3 \oplus \mathcal{A}^4.$$

 $\mathfrak{so}_5 = \mathcal{A}^1 \oplus \mathcal{A}^3$

Let R_4 be the minimal *p*-ordinary universal ring of deformations $\rho: G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathcal{G}_5(B)$ of $\operatorname{Symm}^4\overline{\rho}_{\mu}$. Since 5 is odd, one can choose an imaginary quadratic field in which *p* and q_1 split, a skew field *D* split outside \mathfrak{q}_1 and qG_1^c and a second kind involution * on *D* such that G = U(D, *) is definite at ∞ and quasi-split at all inert places. Again, by Geraghty's thesis, the Hida Hecke algebra h_4^{μ} associated to U(5) is finite torsion-free Λ_4 . Its localization \mathbf{T}_4^{μ} at the maximal ideal associated to $\operatorname{Symm}^4\overline{\rho}_{\mu}$ satisfies

Theorem 4.1. Assuming $\alpha^{12} \not\equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{m}_{A_1}}$ or 4(a+1) < p-1, we have $R_4 = \mathbf{T}_4^u$; this ring is local complete intersection over Λ_4 . In particular it is finite flat over Λ_4 .

Note that the universal morphism $R_4 \to R_2$ induced by the diagram (4) gives rise by identification to a non-obvious base change morphism $\theta'': \mathbf{T}_4^u \to \mathbf{T}_2^s$ above the morphism $\Lambda_4 \to \Lambda_2$ (also induced by the diagram (4)). We prove as in Corollary 3.7 that θ'' is surjective. Let $\mathbf{\widetilde{T}}_4^u = \mathbf{T}_4^u \otimes_{\Lambda_4} \widetilde{A}_1$. We consider the morphisms

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{4}^{u} \stackrel{\theta''}{\to} \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{2}^{s} \stackrel{\lambda}{\to} \widetilde{A}_{1}$$

Let $\lambda'' = \lambda \circ \theta''$. We can define the congruence ideal $\mathfrak{c}_{\lambda''}$ as before by

$$\mathfrak{c}_{\lambda''} = \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_4^u \cap \left(\widetilde{A}_1 \times \{ \mathbf{0}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{\lambda''}'} \} \right).$$

Corollary 4.2. Under the assumptions (*) and $4(a + 1) , the ideal <math>\mathfrak{c}_{\lambda''}$ is principal, generated by a characteristic power series of Sel(Ad_{s1}, Symm⁴ ρ_{μ})*.

Proof. Same proof as in Corollary 3.3.

We define a new congruence ideal $\mathfrak{c}_{\theta''}$ by

$$\mathfrak{c}_{\theta''} = \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_4^u \cap \left(\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_2^s \times \{ 0_{\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{\theta''}'} \} \right).$$

Then,

Corollary 4.3. We have

$$\mathfrak{c}_{\lambda''} = \mathfrak{c}_{\lambda}\lambda(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta''}).$$

Moreover, the congruence ideal $\lambda(\mathbf{c}_{\theta'})$ divides $\lambda(\mathbf{c}_{\theta''})$ and

$$\frac{\lambda(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta''})}{\lambda(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta'})} = \operatorname{Char}(\operatorname{Sel}(\mathcal{A}^4_{\mu})^*).$$

Proof. We have a decomposition of Selmer groups

$$\operatorname{Sel}(\operatorname{Ad}_{\mathfrak{sl}_5}\operatorname{Symm}^4\rho_{\mu}) = \operatorname{Sel}(\operatorname{Ad}_{\mathfrak{so}_5}\operatorname{Symm}^4\rho_{\mu}) \oplus \operatorname{Sel}(\mathcal{A}^2_{\mu}) \oplus \operatorname{Sel}(\mathcal{A}^4_{\mu}).$$

Of course this suggests that the prime factors in \widetilde{A}_1 of the (not yet constructed) *p*-adic *L* function $L_p(\mathcal{A}^4_\mu)$ are congruence primes between $\operatorname{Symm}^4\mu$ and forms on U(5) which do not come from $\operatorname{GSp}(4)$ (by the base change given by $\operatorname{GSpin}_5 \to \operatorname{GSO}_5$).

5. Digression: a Kummer type criterion for the non-triviality of certain Selmer groups

We keep the notations of the introduction and we assume (*). Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime of \widetilde{A}_1 . For j = 3, 2, 4, consider the condition

$$\operatorname{Fitt}_0(\operatorname{Sel}(\mathcal{A}^J_{\mu})^*) \subset \mathfrak{p} \tag{S_j}$$

and the condition

(C₃) there exists a Hida family G of Iwahori level N on GSp_4 which is not the Symm³ of a Hida family on GL_2 and such that $\text{Symm}^3 \mu \equiv G \pmod{\mathfrak{p}}$.

We prove

Theorem 5.1. Assume (*), then (C_3) implies (S_3) or (S_2) or (S_4) .

Proof. Let $\nu_G: \mathbf{T}_2^s \to A_2$ be the Hida family associated to G and $\rho_G: \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathrm{GSp}_4(A_2)$ be the Galois representation associated to this Hida family. It is well defined because $\overline{\rho}_G = \mathrm{Symm}^3 \overline{\rho}_{\mu}$ is absolutely irreducible by (*). We define $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_1 = \mathbf{T}_1 \otimes_{\Lambda_1} \widetilde{A}_1$ and $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_2^s = \mathbf{T}_2^s \otimes_{\Lambda_2} \widetilde{A}_1$ and we consider

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{2}^{s} \stackrel{\widetilde{\sigma}_{3}}{\to} \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{1} \stackrel{\widetilde{\mu}}{\to} \widetilde{A}_{1}.$$

We can decompose $A_2 \otimes_{\Lambda_2} \widetilde{A}_1$ as a product of domains B_i which are finite extensions of \widetilde{A}_1 . Let C be the normalization of B_1 . By assumption, $\rho_{G,C} = \rho_G \otimes_{A_2} C$ is not a Symm³ but there exists a prime ideal \mathfrak{p}_C of C above \mathfrak{p} such that, denoting by ϕ , respectively ι , the homomorphism $\phi: C \to C/\mathfrak{p}_C$, respectively $\iota: \widetilde{A}_1/\mathfrak{p} \hookrightarrow C/\mathfrak{p}_C$, we have

1553

 $\phi_*\rho_{G,C} = \iota_* \operatorname{Symm}^3 \rho_{\mu} \pmod{\mathfrak{p}}$ up to conjugation in C/\mathfrak{p}_C . Note that $\mathfrak{p}_C = \operatorname{Ker} \phi$ is a height one prime of the normal ring C. Since $\rho_{G,C}$ is not the Symm³ of a Hida family on GL_2 , it follows by a theorem of Conti [9] that $\operatorname{Im} \rho_{G,C}$ contains a congruence subgroup of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\Lambda_1)$ up to conjugation by an element of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(C)$. In particular, the adjoint action $\operatorname{Ad}^0 \rho_{G,C}$ on $\mathfrak{sp}_4(C)$ is irreducible while it becomes reducible when one applies ϕ . More precisely:

$$\phi_*(\operatorname{Ad}^0\rho_{G,C})\cong \mathcal{A}^1_{\mu}(C/\mathfrak{p}_C)\oplus \mathcal{A}^3_{\mu}(C/\mathfrak{p}_C).$$

Note that $C_{\mathfrak{p}_C}$ is a dvr. Let $K = \operatorname{Frac}(C/\mathfrak{p}_C)$. By [38, Proposition 4.2], there exists a $C_{\mathfrak{p}_C}$ -lattice L in $\mathfrak{sp}_4(\operatorname{Frac}(C))$ with Galois action such that on the quotient $L/\mathfrak{p}_C L$, the action of Galois is a non-trivial extension of $\mathcal{A}^1_\mu(K)$ by $\mathcal{A}^3_\mu(K)$. But $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{A}^1_\mu(K), \mathcal{A}^3_\mu(K)) = \mathcal{A}^3_\mu(K) \oplus \mathcal{A}^2_\mu(K) \oplus \mathcal{A}^4_\mu(K)$ as $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -modules. Since we are dealing with N-minimal p-ordinary Selmer groups, the non-triviality of one of the three Selmer groups over K follows.

6. The case j = n

It follows from [37] that for any n with $1 \leq n < p-1$, we have a decomposition $\mathfrak{sl}_{n+1} = \bigoplus_{j=1}^{n} \mathcal{A}^{j}$ over \mathbb{Z}_{p} which is GL₂-equivariant for the action on the left-hand side by Ad Symmⁿ. It follows that for $n \in [1, p-1]$, we have

$$\mathfrak{sl}_{n+1} = \mathfrak{sl}_n \oplus \mathcal{A}^n$$

where GL_2 acts by $Ad \operatorname{Symm}^n$ on the left-hand side and by $Ad \operatorname{Symm}^{n-1}$ on the first factor or the right-hand side.

From now on, we take j = n - 1 or j = n. Let h_j^u be the Hida Hecke algebra associated to the unitary group U(j + 1) chosen to be compact at infinity and with local conditions at finite primes as before. This algebra is finite torsion-free over the Iwasawa algebra Λ_j in j variables. Let us assume that the automorphic base change is established for Symm^j for j = n - 1 and j = n. This gives rise to algebra homomorphisms $\theta_j : h_j^u \to h_1$ above the homomorphism $\Lambda_j \to \Lambda_1$ induced by $m \ge 0 \mapsto (x_1, \ldots, x_j)$ with $x_1 = m, x_2 =$ $2m, \ldots, x_j = jm$. Let $\mu : h_1 \to A_1$ be a Hida family and let $\lambda_j = \mu \circ \theta_j$, for j = n - 1, n. We assume that the image of the residual representation $\overline{\rho}_{\mu}$ contains $SL_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$. Let \mathbb{T}_j^u be the localization of h_j^u at the maximal ideal associated to Symm^j $\overline{\rho}_{\mu}$. Let R_j be the universal deformation ring for minimal p-ordinary lifts $\rho : G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathcal{G}_{j+1}(B)$ of Symm^j $\overline{\rho}_{\mu}$.

Theorem 6.1. Assuming (*), and $\alpha^{2d_n} \neq 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{m}_{A_1}}$ or n(a+1) < p-1, and that the transfer Symm^j is established for j = n - 1, n, then for j = n - 1, n, we have $R_j = \mathbf{T}_j^u$ and these rings are local complete intersections over Λ_j .

One shows exactly as in Corollary 3.2 the

Corollary 6.2. Assuming (*) and $\max(n(a+1), 2(n-1)) < p-1$, $\mathbf{T}_j^u \otimes_{\Lambda_j} \Lambda_1$ is reduced and the morphisms $\mathbf{T}_j^u \to \mathbf{T}_1$ for j = n-1, n are surjective. From this it follows that for j = n - 1, n, the congruence modules c_{λ_j} and c_{θ_j} are principal and related by the relation

$$\mathfrak{c}_{\lambda_i} = \lambda_j(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta_i})\mathfrak{c}_{\mu}.$$

Moreover, if one assumes that $\alpha^{2c_n} \neq 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{m}_{A_1}}$, it also follows from the theorem that for j = n - 1, n, the ideal \mathfrak{c}_{λ_j} is generated by Char ((Sel(Ad Symm^j \rho_{\mu}))^*). Since we have

$$\operatorname{Sel}(\operatorname{Ad}\operatorname{Symm}^{j}\rho_{\mu})) = \operatorname{Sel}(\operatorname{Ad}\operatorname{Symm}^{j-1}\rho_{\mu})) \oplus \operatorname{Sel}(\mathcal{A}_{\mu}^{j})$$

we deduce by passing to the characteristic power series of the Pontryagin duals that

$$\mathfrak{c}_{\lambda_n} = \mathfrak{c}_{\lambda_{n-1}} \left(\operatorname{Char}(\operatorname{Sel} \mathcal{A}^n_{\mu}) \right)$$

and dividing by the invertible ideal \mathfrak{c}_{μ} , we conclude that $\lambda_{n-1}(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta_{n-1}})$ divides $\lambda_n(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta_n})$ and that the quotient is the principal ideal (Char(Sel \mathcal{A}^n_{μ})).

This theorem applies to n = 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 since the transfers Symm^j, j = 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 of a classical form of weight ≥ 2 have been established in [7]. For n = 4, we obtain a different proof of the Theorem 4.3 given in §4 relating congruences on U(4) and U(5). In that case, the congruence ideals refer to transfers from GSp(4) to U(4) and U(5), while here they refer to the congruences between Symm³, respectively Symm⁴ transfers and families on U(4) respectively U(5). For $n \geq 5$, there is no alternative proof because there is no known transfer from GSp₄ to U(n + 1) compatible to Symm³ and Symmⁿ.

The meaning of this is that any congruence prime between $\text{Symm}^{n-1}\mu$ and a family of U(n)-forms which are not Symm^{n-1} from GL_2 is also a congruence prime between $\text{Symm}^n\mu$ and a family of U(n+1)-forms which are not Symm^n from GL_2 . However, it does not seem that one can define a cuspidal base change from U(n) to U(n+1) which would explain this phenomenon by Tate–Hida formalism. It appears for the moment only as a consequence of our congruence ideal main conjecture theorem.

7. The case of the standard representation of GSp(4)

Let N be squarefree, prime to p. We consider the cuspidal Hida Hecke algebra h_2^s of auxiliary level $\Gamma_{Iw}(N)$. Let us consider a Hida family σ of Siegel cusp forms that is, a Λ_2 -algebra homomorphism $\sigma : h_2^s \to A_2$ onto a domain A_2 which is finite and torsion-free over Λ_2 . We assume that it is N-minimal:

(N-Min) for any prime ℓ dividing $N,\,\overline{\rho}_\sigma(I_\ell)$ contains a regular unipotent element.

Let A_2 be the normal closure of A_2 . It is not necessarily flat over Λ_2 . Let K an imaginary quadratic field in which the prime p and all the primes dividing N split. As we noted above, using the base change from GSp(4) to GL(4) established in [32] and Clozel's descent to U(4), we constructed a morphism $\theta': h_3^u \to h_2^s$. Let \mathbf{T}_3^u , respectively \mathbf{T}_2^s be the localization of the rings h_3^u respectively h_2^s at the maximal ideals associated to $\overline{\rho}_{\sigma}$. We localize the morphism θ' at these maximal ideals. We write $\theta': \mathbf{T}_3^u \to \mathbf{T}_2^s$ for its localization. It is over the homomorphism from $\Lambda_3 = \mathcal{O}[[Y_1, Y_2, Y_3]]$ to $\Lambda_2 = \mathcal{O}[[X_1, X_2]]$ which sends $1 + Y_1 \mapsto (1 + X_1)(1 + X_2), Y_2 \mapsto X_1, Y_3 \mapsto X_2$; for a further application, let us note that in particular, the inverse image of the prime ideal $P_{-1,-1} = (1 + X_1 - u^{-1}, 1 + X_2 - u^{-1})$ is $P_{-2,-1,-1} = (1 + Y_1 - u^{-2}, 1 + Y_2 - u^{-1}, 1 + Y_3 - u^{-1})$. Let $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_3^u = \mathbf{T}_3^u \otimes_{\Lambda_3} \widetilde{A}_2$ and $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{2}^{s} = \mathbf{T}_{2}^{s} \otimes_{\Lambda_{2}} \widetilde{A}_{2}$. We set $\lambda = \sigma \circ \theta'$. Let $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{3}^{u} = \mathbf{T}_{3}^{u} \otimes_{\Lambda_{3}} \widetilde{A}_{2}$ and $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{2}^{s} = \mathbf{T}_{2}^{s} \otimes_{\Lambda_{2}} \widetilde{A}_{2}$. Let $\widetilde{\theta'}: \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{3}^{u} \to \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{2}^{s}$ and $\widetilde{\sigma}: \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{2}^{s} \to \widetilde{A}_{2}$ be the \widetilde{A}_{2} -algebra homomorphisms obtained by extension of scalars. We put $\widetilde{\lambda} = \widetilde{\sigma} \circ \widetilde{\theta'}$.

Let $\alpha = \sigma(U_{p,1})$, β' such that $\sigma(U_{p,2}) = \alpha\beta'$ and $\gamma' = (\beta')^{-1}$, and $\delta' = \alpha^{-1}$. These four elements belong to A_2^{\times} .

We assume that the residual Galois representation $\overline{\rho}_{\sigma}$ is absolutely irreducible and that $(RFR^{(2)})$ the four elements α , β' , γ' and δ' of A_2 are mutually distinct modulo \mathfrak{m}_{A_2} .

By ordinarity the restriction of $\overline{\rho}_{\sigma}$ to a decomposition group D_p at p is conjugate to

$$\begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{unr}(\overline{\alpha}) & * & * & * \\ \operatorname{unr}(\overline{\beta'})\omega^{-(a_2+1)} & * & * \\ & \operatorname{unr}(\overline{\gamma'})\omega^{-(a_1+2)} & * \\ & & \operatorname{unr}(\overline{\delta'})\omega^{-(i)} \end{pmatrix}$$

for a pair of integers $a_1 \ge a_2 \ge 0$. Assume the residual Galois image is big: either Im $\overline{\rho}_{\sigma}$ contains $\operatorname{Sp}_4(k')$ or $\operatorname{Symm}^3\operatorname{SL}_2(k') \subset \operatorname{Im} \overline{\rho}_{\sigma} \subset k^{\times}\operatorname{Symm}^3\operatorname{GL}_2(k')$.

If the residual image is big (in the sense of [35, § 5.8]), and that the four Hecke eigenvalues at p are distinct modulo \mathfrak{m}_{A_1} . Then, let R_i for i = 2, 3 be the minimal p-ordinary universal deformation rings of $\overline{\rho}_{\sigma}$ (for deformations into $\operatorname{GSp}_4(B)$) respectively $\mathcal{G}_4(B)$), we can prove

Theorem 7.1. Assume that ρ_{σ} has residual big image, is N-minimal and that $(RFR^{(2)})$ holds; then we have $R_2 = \mathbf{T}_2^s$ and $R_3 = \mathbf{T}_3^u$, and the rings \mathbf{T}_2^s respectively \mathbf{T}_3^u are local complete intersections over Λ_2 respectively Λ_3 .

As in Corollary 3.7 and its proof, this implies that

Corollary 7.2. The homomorphism $\mathbf{T}_3^u \to \mathbf{T}_2^s$ is surjective.

We can define three congruence ideals c_{λ} , c_{σ} c'_{θ} . Because of the assumption $(RFR^{(2)})$, we see as in the proof of Proposition 3.4 that the differential module $\Omega_{\mathbf{T}_{3}^{u}/\Lambda_{2}} \otimes_{\mathbf{T}_{3}^{u}} \widetilde{A}_{2}$ is isomorphic to Sel($(\mathrm{Ad}_{\mathfrak{sl}_{4}}\rho_{\sigma})$)* and that similarly $\Omega_{\mathbf{T}_{2}^{v}/\Lambda_{2}} \otimes_{\mathbf{T}_{2}^{v}} \widetilde{A}_{2}$ is isomorphic to Sel($(\mathrm{Ad}_{\mathfrak{sp}_{4}}\rho_{\sigma})$)*. Hence by Theorem 8.7, we conclude that $\widetilde{c_{\lambda}} = \operatorname{Char}((\operatorname{Sel}(\mathrm{Ad}_{\mathfrak{sl}_{4}}\rho_{\sigma}))^{*})$ and $\widetilde{c_{\sigma}} = \operatorname{Char}((\operatorname{Sel}(\mathrm{Ad}_{\mathfrak{sp}_{4}}\rho_{\sigma}))^{*})$. We also have the transfer formula of Proposition 8.14:

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{c}_{\lambda}} = \widetilde{\mathfrak{c}_{\sigma}} \sigma(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta'}).$$

On the other hand, we have

$$\operatorname{Ad}_{\mathfrak{sl}_4}(\rho_{\sigma}) = \operatorname{Ad}_{\mathfrak{sp}_4}(\rho_{\sigma}) \oplus \operatorname{St}_{\sigma}$$

where St_{σ} is the composition of σ with $St: GSp_4 \to GSO_5$. From this and Proposition 8.14 (for $\nu = 2$) and Theorem 8.15, we conclude

Theorem 7.3. The reflexive envelope $\sigma(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta'})$ of the 'non-base change' congruence ideal $\sigma(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta'})$ of \widetilde{A}_2 is principal and is generated by $\operatorname{Char}((\operatorname{Sel}(\operatorname{St}_{\sigma}))^*)$.

- **Remark 7.4.** (1) A *p*-adic standard *L* function $L_p(St_{\sigma})$ associated to the Hida family σ has been constructed by Liu [31] (her work includes the case of an arbitrary genus *g*). The main conjecture implies that $\sigma(\mathbf{c}_{\theta'})$ is generated by $L_p(St_{\sigma})$. It is natural to ask whether the height one prime factors of $L_p(St_{\sigma})$ in \widetilde{A}_2 are congruence primes between σ and families on U(4) which do not come from GSp(4).
 - (2) Let ξ be the quadratic character associated to the imaginary quadratic field K defining the unitary group U(4). Following the method of [31], Zhang [47] proved that for a cusp Siegel Hecke eigensystem σ , the normalized special value $L^{\text{norm}}(\operatorname{St}(\sigma) \otimes \xi, 1)$ is in \mathcal{O} and generates, under certain assumptions, another non-base change congruence ideal between the Theta lift of σ to U(4) and 'non-Theta lift' Hecke eigensystems on U(4). Note however that this Theta lift is not the same functoriality as the one used in Theorem 7.3 above. Indeed, the Theta lift involves a twist by ξ while no such twist occurs in our functoriality. The Bloch-Kato conjecture suggests that in the case of [47], one should have $(L^{\operatorname{norm}}(\operatorname{St}_{\sigma} \otimes \xi, 1)) = \operatorname{Char} \operatorname{Sel}(\operatorname{St}(\rho_{\sigma}) \otimes \xi)$.

We give below an application of this theorem. Let us take $a_1 = a_2 = p - 2$. Let $f \in S_{2,2}(\Gamma_{Iw}(N))$ be a Siegel cusp form of weight (2,2). Let $\rho_f \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathrm{GSp}_4(\mathcal{O})$ be the associated Galois representation. Assume the residual Galois image is big: either Im $\overline{\rho}_f$ contains $\mathrm{Sp}_4(k')$ or $\mathrm{Symm}^3\mathrm{SL}_2(k') \subset \mathrm{Im} \ \overline{\rho}_f \subset k^{\times}\mathrm{Symm}^3\mathrm{GL}_2(k')$ for a subfield k' of k, and that $\overline{\rho}$ is N-minimal (the image of the inertia at any prime dividing N contains a regular unipotent element). Let α , β , γ , δ be the Satake parameters at p ordered in such a way that $\operatorname{ord}_p(\alpha) = \operatorname{ord}_p(\beta) = 0$ and $\operatorname{ord}_p(\gamma) = \operatorname{ord}_p(\delta) = 1$, with $\alpha \delta = \beta \gamma$. Assume that α , β , γ/p , δ/p belong to \mathcal{O} and are mutually distinct modulo $\overline{\omega}_E$. There are two such orderings. We fix one. This choice fixes a p-ordinarity filtration of $\rho_f|_{D_p}$ and of $\overline{\rho}_f|_{D_p}$ so that the minimal *p*-ordinary Selmer group of $\operatorname{St}_f = \operatorname{St} \circ \rho_f$ is well defined. Let f^{st} be the *p*-stabilization of *f* such that $f^{st}|U_{p,1} = \alpha f^{st}$ and $f^{st}|U_{p_2} = \alpha \beta f^{st}$. There exists a family $\sigma: h_2^s \to A_2$ whose specialization in weight $(a_1, a_2) = (-1, -1)$ gives the Hecke eigenvalues of f^{st} . More precisely, there exists an arithmetic prime $\mathfrak{P}_{-1,-1}$ of A_2 above $P_{-1,-1}$. After extending the coefficient ring \mathcal{O} , we may and do assume that $A_2/\mathfrak{P}_{-1,-1} = \mathcal{O}$. Let $\mathcal{T}_3^u = \mathbf{T}_3^u \otimes_{\Lambda_3} A_2$ and $\mathcal{T}_2^s = \mathbf{T}_2^s \otimes_{\Lambda_2} A_2$. We still write $\sigma : \mathcal{T}_2^s \to A_2$, $\theta' \colon \mathcal{T}_3^u \to \mathcal{T}_2^s \text{ and } \lambda = \sigma \circ \theta'. \text{ Let } \mathcal{T}_{1,2,2}^u = \mathcal{T}_3^u / \mathfrak{P}_{-1,-1} \mathcal{T}_3^u \text{ and } \mathcal{T}_{2,2}^s = \mathcal{T}_2^s / \mathfrak{P}_{-1,-1} \mathcal{T}_2^s. \text{ Let us } \mathcal{T}_2^s = \mathcal{T}_2^s / \mathfrak{P}_{-1,-1} \mathcal{T}_2^s.$ explain the notations. We fix a compact Harris–Taylor Shimura variety for U(3, 1) [16] and we let $eV_3^{\mu}(N, \mathcal{O})$ be the \mathcal{O} -module of ordinary p-adic automorphic forms on U(3,1) of auxiliary Iwahori level N. Similarly, we let $eV_2^s(N,\mathcal{O})$ be the \mathcal{O} -module of ordinary p-adic automorphic forms on GSp(4) of auxiliary Iwahori level N. Let similarly $eV_{1,2,2}^u(N,\mathcal{O})$ be the space of ordinary *p*-adic automorphic forms on U(3,1) of Iwahori level N and automorphic weight (1, 2, 2), respectively $eV_{2,2}^s(N, \mathcal{O})$ the space of ordinary *p*-adic automorphic forms on GSp(4) of Iwahori level N and automorphic weight (2, 2). Note that $eS_{2,2}^{s}(N, \mathcal{O}) \subset eV_{2,2}^{s}(N, \mathcal{O})$ is not an equality in general. By [23, Theorem 1.1(6) and Theorem 6.7(6)], we have exact control:

$$eV_2^s(N, \mathcal{O})[P_{-1,-1}] = eV_{2,2}^s(N, \mathcal{O}), \quad eV_3^u(N, \mathcal{O})[P_{-2,-1,-1}] = eV_{1,2,2}^u(N, \mathcal{O}).$$

H. Hida and J. Tilouine

1558

On the other hand, it follows from [35, Theorem 7.1] that the algebra $\mathcal{T}_{2,2}^s(N, \mathcal{O})$ is local complete intersection over \mathcal{O} . Indeed, it is a quotient of the local complete intersection Λ_2 -algebra $\mathbf{T}_2^s(N, \mathcal{O})$ by the regular sequence $((1 + X_1) - u^{-1}, (1 + X_2) - u^{-1})$ and acts faithfully on $eV_{2,2}^s(N, \mathcal{O})$. The same method proves similarly that the algebra $\mathcal{T}_{1,2,2}^u(N, \mathcal{O})$ is local complete intersection over \mathcal{O} and acts faithfully on $eV_{1,2,2}^u(N, \mathcal{O})$. However, it is not known whether these algebras are reduced because they may not act by normal operators on the spaces of p-adic modular forms.

We consider $\sigma_{2,2} = \sigma \pmod{\mathfrak{P}_{-1,-1}}$, $\theta'_{2,2} = \theta' \pmod{\mathfrak{P}_{-1,-1}}$ and $\lambda_{1,2,2} = \theta'_{1,2,2} \circ \sigma_{2,2}$. These morphisms give rise to the diagram

$$\mathcal{T}_{1,2,2}^u(N,\mathcal{O}) \to \mathcal{T}_{2,2}^s(N,\mathcal{O}) \to \mathcal{O}.$$

Let $\mathbf{T}_{2,2}^s(Np, \mathcal{O})$ denote the Iwahori level Hecke algebra acting faithfully on the space of classical Siegel cusp forms of Iwahori level Np and automorphic weight (2, 2) and let

$$\sigma_{f^{st}} \colon \mathbf{T}_{2,2}^{s}(Np,\mathcal{O}) \to \mathcal{O}$$

be the eigensystem associated to f^{st} . Composing with the surjection $\pi_{2,2}: \mathcal{T}_2^s(N, \mathcal{O}) \to \mathbf{T}_{2,2}^s(Np, \mathcal{O})$, we have $\sigma_{2,2} = \sigma_{f^{st}} \circ \widetilde{\pi}_{2,2}$. Note that $\pi_{2,2}$ might have a non-zero kernel due to non-classical holomorphic Siegel cusp forms of cohomological weight (2, 2). We can nevertheless define the congruence ideal $\sigma_{2,2}(\mathbf{c}_{\theta'_{1,2,2}})$.

Corollary 7.5. Assume that $\overline{\rho}_f$ satisfies $(*)^{(2)}$ and $(RFR^{(2)})$ as above. Assume that the rings $\mathcal{T}^s_{2,2}(N, \mathcal{O})$ and $\mathcal{T}^u_{1,2,2}(N, \mathcal{O})$ are reduced, then the \mathcal{O} -length of Sel(St_f) is equal to the ϖ -adic valuation of the congruence ideal $\sigma_{2,2}(\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{q}'_{1,2,2}})$.

This ideal $\sigma_{2,2}(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta'_{1,2,2}})$ measures congruences between the transfer of f to U(3, 1) and p-adic automorphic forms of automorphic weight (1, 2, 2) and Iwahori level N on U(3, 1). Note that the space of classical automorphic forms of weight (1, 2, 2) and Iwahori level Np is null, since 1 < 2.

Proof. By [35, Theorem 7.1], the algebra $\mathcal{T}_{2,2}^{s}(N, \mathcal{O})$ is isomorphic to the universal deformation ring $R_{2,2}^{s}$ of GSp(4)-valued minimal ordinary deformations of $\overline{\rho}_{f}$ of Hodge–Tate weights 0, 0, 1, 1. One can prove similarly that the algebra $\mathcal{T}_{1,2,2}^{u}(N, \mathcal{O})$ is isomorphic to the universal deformation ring $R_{1,2,2}^{s}$ of \mathcal{G}_{4} -valued minimal ordinary deformations of $\overline{\rho}_{f}$ viewed in $\mathcal{G}_{4}(k)$, of Hodge–Tate weights 0, 0, 1, 1. In particular, $\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{c}_{\lambda_{1,2,2}}$ has same length as Sel(Ad_{\$\mathbf{s}\mathbf{l}_4 \rho_f), and $\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{c}_{\sigma_{2,2}}$ has same length as Sel(Ad_{\$\mathbf{s}\mathbf{l}_4 \rho_f), and $\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{c}_{\sigma_{2,2}}$ has same length as Sel(Ad_{\$\mathbf{s}\mathbf{l}_4 \rho_f), and $\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{c}_{\sigma_{2,2}}$ has same length as Sel(Ad_{\$\mathbf{s}\mathbf{l}_4 \rho_f) \oplus St_f. On the other hand, the rings $\mathcal{T}_{1,2,2}^{u}(N, \mathcal{O})$ and $\mathcal{T}_{2,2}^{s}(N, \mathcal{O})$ being local complete intersections over \mathcal{O} , we can apply Corollary 8.6 and conclude that $\mathfrak{c}_{\lambda_{1,2,2}} = \mathfrak{c}_{\sigma_{2,2}} \cdot \sigma_{2,2}(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta_{1,2,2}})$. We then obtain the result by division as before.}}

This corollary applies in particular to modular abelian surfaces.

Corollary 7.6. Let A be a modular abelian surface defined over \mathbb{Q} , ordinary at p of squarefree conductor N (p prime to N). Assume the Galois representation on A[p] has big image and is N-minimal. Assume that the rings $\mathcal{T}_{2,2}^{s}(N,\mathbb{Z}_{p})$ and $\mathcal{T}_{1,2,2}^{u}(N,\mathbb{Z}_{p})$ are

reduced. Let T_pA be the Tate module and $S_pA \subset \bigwedge^2 T_pA$ the associated rank 5 Galois representation. Then the cardinality of Sel(S_pA) spans the \mathbb{Z}_p -ideal $\sigma_{2,2}(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta'_{1,2,2}})$.

8. Congruence ideal formalism

We recall a formalism developed by Hida based on Tate's appendix to [34], alongside we introduce the notion of congruence modules and differential modules for general rings and basic facts about it. We apply the theory to Hecke algebras and deformation rings to show that these two torsion modules have the same size (that is, the equal characteristic ideals and Fitting ideals).

8.1. Differentials

We recall here the definition of 1-differentials and some of their properties for our later use. Let R be a A-algebra, and suppose that R and A are objects in CNL_W , where Wis a finite flat extension of \mathbb{Z}_p . The module of 1-differentials $\Omega_{R/A}$ for a A-algebra R $(R, A \in CNL_W)$ indicates the module of *continuous* 1-differentials with respect to the profinite topology.

For a module M with continuous R-action (in short, a continuous R-module), let us define the module of A-derivations by

$$\operatorname{Der}_{A}(R, M) = \left\{ \delta : R \to M \in \operatorname{Hom}_{A}(R, M) \middle| \begin{array}{l} \delta : \operatorname{continuous} \\ \delta(ab) = a\delta(b) + b\delta(a) \\ \operatorname{for all} a, b \in R \end{array} \right\}.$$

Here the A-linearity of a derivation δ is equivalent to $\delta(A) = 0$, because

$$\delta(1) = \delta(1 \cdot 1) = 2\delta(1) \Rightarrow \delta(1) = 0.$$

Then $\Omega_{R/A}$ represents the covariant functor $M \mapsto \text{Der}_A(R, M)$ from the category of *continuous* R-modules into MOD.

The construction of $\Omega_{R/A}$ is easy. Let $R \bigotimes_A R$ be the completion of $R \bigotimes_A R$ with respect to the $(\mathfrak{m}_R \bigotimes_A R + R \bigotimes_A \mathfrak{m}_R)$ -adic topology. The multiplication $a \otimes b \mapsto ab$ induces a A-algebra homomorphism $m : R \bigotimes_A R \to R$ taking $a \otimes b$ to ab. We put $I = \operatorname{Ker}(m)$, which is an ideal of $R \bigotimes_A R$. Then we define $\Omega_{R/A} = I/I^2$. We endow it with a structure of R-module by action of $R \bigotimes 1$. It is a complete module for the \mathfrak{m}_R -topology. One checks that the map $d : R \to \Omega_{R/A}$ given by $d(a) = a \otimes 1 - 1 \otimes a \mod I^2$ is a continuous A-derivation. Thus we have a morphism of functors: $\operatorname{Hom}_R(\Omega_{R/A}, ?) \to \operatorname{Der}_A(R, ?)$ given by $\phi \mapsto \phi \circ d$. Since $\Omega_{R/A}$ is generated by d(R) as R-modules (left to the reader as an exercise), the above map is injective. To show that $\Omega_{R/A}$ represents the functor, we need to show the surjectivity of the above map, which is well known (see [33]).

Proposition 8.1. The above morphism of two functors $M \mapsto \operatorname{Hom}_R(\Omega_{R/A}, M)$ and $M \mapsto \operatorname{Der}_A(R, M)$ is an isomorphism, where M runs over the category of complete R-modules. In other words, for each A-derivation $\delta : R \to M$, there exists a unique R-linear homomorphism $\phi : \Omega_{R/A} \to M$ such that $\delta = \phi \circ d$.

We have the following fundamental exact sequences:

Corollary 8.2. Let the notation be as in the proposition.

(i) Suppose that A is a C-algebra for an object $C \in CL_W$. Then we have the following natural exact sequence:

$$\Omega_{A/C}\widehat{\otimes}_A R \longrightarrow \Omega_{R/C} \longrightarrow \Omega_{R/A} \to 0.$$

(ii) Let $\pi : R \to C$ be a surjective morphism in CL_W , and write $J = \text{Ker}(\pi)$. Then we have the following natural exact sequence:

$$J/J^2 \xrightarrow{\beta^*} \Omega_{R/A} \widehat{\otimes}_R C \longrightarrow \Omega_{C/A} \to 0.$$

Moreover if A = C, then $J/J^2 \cong \Omega_{R/A} \widehat{\otimes}_R C$.

For any continuous R-module M, we write R[M] for the R-algebra with square zero ideal M. Thus $R[M] = R \oplus M$ with the multiplication given by

 $(r \oplus x)(r' \oplus x') = rr' \oplus (rx' + r'x).$

It is easy to see that $R[M] \in CNL_W$, if M is of finite type, and $R[M] \in CL_W$ if M is a p-profinite R-module. By definition,

$$\operatorname{Der}_{A}(R, M) \cong \left\{ \phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{A-\operatorname{alg}}(R, R[M]) \middle| \phi \mod M = \operatorname{id} \right\},$$

$$(8.1)$$

where the map is given by $\delta \mapsto (a \mapsto (a \oplus \delta(a)))$. Note that $i: R \to R \widehat{\otimes}_A R$ given by $i(a) = a \otimes 1$ is a section of $m: R \widehat{\otimes}_A R \to R$. We see easily that $R \widehat{\otimes}_A R/I^2 \cong R[\Omega_{R/A}]$ by $x \mapsto m(x) \oplus (x - i(m(x)))$. Note that $d(a) = 1 \otimes a - i(a)$ for $a \in R$.

8.2. Congruence and differential modules

Let R be an algebra over a normal noetherian domain A. We assume that R is an A-flat module of finite type. Let $\phi : R \to A$ be an A-algebra homomorphism. We define

$$C_1(\phi; A) = \Omega_{R/A} \otimes_{R,\phi} \operatorname{Im}(\phi)$$

which we call the *differential* module of ϕ . We have seen (for instance Corollary 3.3, (2)) that if R is a deformation ring, this module is the dual of the associated adjoint Selmer group. If ϕ is surjective, we just have

$$C_1(\phi; A) = \Omega_{R/A} \otimes_{R,\phi} A.$$

We suppose that R is reduced (having zero nilradical of R). Then the total quotient ring $\operatorname{Frac}(R)$ can be decomposed uniquely into $\operatorname{Frac}(R) = \operatorname{Frac}(\operatorname{Im}(\phi)) \oplus X$ as an algebra direct product. Write 1_{ϕ} for the idempotent of $\operatorname{Frac}(\operatorname{Im}(\phi))$ in $\operatorname{Frac}(R)$. Let $\mathfrak{a} = \operatorname{Ker}(R \to X) = (1_{\phi}R \cap R)$, $S = \operatorname{Im}(R \to X)$ and $\mathfrak{b} = \operatorname{Ker}(\phi)$. Here the intersection $1_{\phi}R \cap R$ is taken in $\operatorname{Frac}(R) = \operatorname{Frac}(\operatorname{Im}(\phi)) \oplus X$. Then we put

$$C_0(\phi; A) = (R/\mathfrak{a}) \otimes_{R,\phi} \operatorname{Im}(\phi) \cong \operatorname{Im}(\phi)/(\phi(\mathfrak{a})) \cong 1_{\phi} R/\mathfrak{a} \cong S/\mathfrak{b} \cong R/(\mathfrak{a} \oplus \mathfrak{b}),$$

which is called the *congruence* module of ϕ but is actually a ring (cf. [22, § 6]). We can split the isomorphism $1_{\phi}R/\mathfrak{a} \cong S/\mathfrak{b}$ as follows: First note that $\mathfrak{a} = (R \cap (1_{\phi}R \oplus 0))$ in $\operatorname{Frac}(\operatorname{Im}(\phi)) \oplus X$. Then $\mathfrak{b} = (0 \oplus X) \cap R$, and we have

$$1_{\phi}R/\mathfrak{a}\cong R/(\mathfrak{a}\oplus\mathfrak{b})\cong S/\mathfrak{b},$$

where the maps $R/(\mathfrak{a} \oplus \mathfrak{b}) \to 1_{\phi} R/\mathfrak{a}$ and $R/(\mathfrak{a} \oplus \mathfrak{b}) \to S/\mathfrak{b}$ are induced by two projections from R to $1_{\phi}R$ and S.

Write $K = \operatorname{Frac}(A)$. Fix an algebraic closure \overline{K} of K. Since the spectrum $\operatorname{Spec}(C_0(\phi; A))$ of the congruence ring $C_0(\phi; A)$ is the scheme theoretic intersection of $\operatorname{Spec}(\operatorname{Im}(\phi))$ and $\operatorname{Spec}(R/\mathfrak{a})$ in $\operatorname{Spec}(R)$:

 $\operatorname{Spec}(C_0(\lambda; A)) = \operatorname{Spec}(\operatorname{Im}(\phi)) \cap \operatorname{Spec}(R/\mathfrak{a}) := \operatorname{Spec}(\operatorname{Im}(\phi)) \times_{\operatorname{Spec}(R)} \operatorname{Spec}(R/\mathfrak{a}),$

we conclude that

Proposition 8.3. Let the notation be as above. Then a prime \mathfrak{p} is in the support of $C_0(\phi; A)$ if and only if there exists an A-algebra homomorphism $\phi' : R \to \overline{K}$ factoring through R/\mathfrak{a} such that $\phi(a) \equiv \phi'(a) \mod \mathfrak{p}$ for all $a \in R$.

In other words, $\phi \mod \mathfrak{p}$ factors through R/\mathfrak{a} and can be lifted to ϕ' . Therefore, if A is the integer ring of a sufficiently large number field in $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$, $\bigcup_{\phi} \operatorname{Supp}(C_0(\phi; A))$ is made of primes dividing the absolute different $\mathfrak{d}(R/\mathbb{Z})$ of R over \mathbb{Z} , and each prime appearing in the absolute discriminant of R/\mathbb{Z} divides the order of the congruence module for some ϕ .

By Corollary 8.2 applied to the exact sequence: $0 \to \mathfrak{b} \to R \xrightarrow{\phi} A \to 0$, we know that

$$C_1(\phi; A) \cong \mathfrak{b}/\mathfrak{b}^2. \tag{8.2}$$

Since $C_0(\phi; A) \cong S/\mathfrak{b}$, we may further define higher congruence modules by $C_n(\phi; A) = \mathfrak{b}^n/\mathfrak{b}^{n+1}$.

8.3. Transfer property of congruence modules

Let *B* be a normal profinite local domain of characteristic *p* residue field. We suppose to have a sequence of surjective *B*-algebra homomorphisms: $R \xrightarrow{\theta} S \xrightarrow{\mu} A$ of reduced local rings finite flat over *B*. We put $\lambda = \mu \circ \theta : R \to A$. We assume that *R*, *S*, *A* are all Gorenstein rings over *B*. This means that

$$\operatorname{Hom}_B(R, B) \cong R, \operatorname{Hom}_B(S, B) \cong S$$
 and $\operatorname{Hom}_B(A, B) \cong A$ as *R*-modules. (8.3)

We write $B = \Lambda$. Since R is reduced, the total quotient ring Q(R) of R is a product of fields, and we have $Q(R) = Q_S \oplus Q(S)$ for the complementary semi-simple algebra Q_S . Let R_S be the projection of R in Q_S . We have the following (unique) decomposition

(1) Spec(R) = Spec(R_S) \cup Spec(S), union of closed subschemes inducing $R \hookrightarrow (R_S \oplus S)$ with Λ -torsion module $C_0(\theta, S) := (R_S \oplus S)/R$.

Similarly, we have $Q(S) = Q_A \oplus Q(A)$ and $Q(R) = Q'_A \oplus Q(A)$ as algebra direct sums. Write S_A (respectively R_A) for the projected image of S (respectively R) in Q_A (respectively Q'_A). Then we have

- (2) $\operatorname{Spec}(S) = \operatorname{Spec}(S_A) \cup \operatorname{Spec}(A)$, union of closed subschemes inducing $S \hookrightarrow (S_A \oplus A)$ with Λ -torsion module $C_0(\mu, A) := (S_A \oplus A)/S$.
- (3) Spec(R) = Spec(R_A) \cup Spec(A), union of closed subschemes inducing $R \hookrightarrow (R_A \oplus A)$ with Λ -torsion module $C_0(\lambda, A) := (R_A \oplus A)/R$.

By [22, Lemma 6.3] (or [19, \S 5.3.3]), we get the following isomorphisms of *R*-modules:

 $C_0(\lambda; A) \cong R_A \otimes_R A$, $C_0(\theta; S) \cong R_S \otimes_R S$ and $C_0(\mu; A) \cong S_A \otimes_S A$. (8.4) Write $\pi_S : R \to R_S$ and $\pi : R \to S$ for the two projections and $(\cdot, \cdot)_R : R \times R \to B$ and $(\cdot, \cdot)_S : S \times S \to B$ for the pairing giving the self-duality (8.3). We recall [21, Lemma 1.6]:

Lemma 8.4. The S-ideal $\text{Ker}(\pi_S : R \to R_S)$ is principal and S-free of rank 1.

Proof. Let $\mathfrak{b} = \operatorname{Ker}(\theta : R \to S)$ and $\mathfrak{a} = \operatorname{Ker}(\pi_S : R \to R_S)$. By assumption, R and S are B-free of finite rank; so, \mathfrak{b} is B-free, and by duality, we have an exact sequence $0 \to S^* \xrightarrow{\theta^*} R^* \to \mathfrak{b}^* \to 0$. Note that \mathfrak{b}^* is naturally an R_S -module which is free of finite rank over B. Thus identifying $S = S^*$ and $R^* = R$ by (8.3), we have $\theta^*(S^*) = \{r \in R; r \cdot \mathfrak{b} = 0\} = (Q(S) \oplus 0) \cap R = \mathfrak{a}$; hence θ^* induces $S = S^* \cong \mathfrak{a}$.

Recall the following fact first proved in [22, Theorem 6.6]:

Lemma 8.5. We have the following exact sequence of *R*-modules:

 $0 \to C_0(\mu; A) \to C_0(\lambda; A) \to C_0(\theta; S) \otimes_S A \to 0.$

Proof. Write $M^* = \text{Hom}_B(M, B)$ as an *R*-module for an *R*-module *M*. Note that

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Ker}(\theta) &= R \cap (R_S \oplus 0) \subset R_S \oplus S, \quad \operatorname{Ker}(\lambda) = R \cap (R_A \oplus 0) \subset R_A \oplus A \\ \text{and} \quad \operatorname{Ker}(\mu) = S \cap (S_A \oplus 0) \subset S_A \oplus A. \end{split}$$

From an exact sequence $0 \to \text{Ker}(\theta) \to R \to S \to 0$, we have the following commutative diagram with exact rows (for $\mathfrak{a} = \text{Ker}(\pi_S : R \to R_S)$):

$$S^* \xrightarrow{c \to} R^* \xrightarrow{\rightarrow} \operatorname{Ker}(\theta)^*$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$S \cong \mathfrak{a} \xrightarrow{} R \xrightarrow{} R_S,$$

which shows $R_S \cong \operatorname{Ker}(\theta)^* = ((R_S \oplus 0) \cap R)^*$ as *R*-modules. Similarly, we get $\operatorname{Ker}(\lambda)^* \cong R_A$, $\operatorname{Ker}(\mu)^* \cong S_A$. We have a commutative diagram with exact rows:

$$\operatorname{Ker}(\theta) \longrightarrow R \xrightarrow{\theta} S \longrightarrow 0$$
$$\downarrow \qquad \lambda \downarrow \qquad \mu \downarrow$$
$$0 \longrightarrow A = A \longrightarrow 0$$

Applying the snake lemma, we get an exact sequence of R-modules:

 $0 \rightarrow \operatorname{Ker}(\theta) \rightarrow \operatorname{Ker}(\lambda) \rightarrow \operatorname{Ker}(\mu) \rightarrow 0.$

By B-freeness of A and S, all the terms of the above exact sequence are B-free. Thus the above sequence is split as a sequence of B-modules, and we have the dual exact sequence:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \operatorname{Ker}(\mu)^* & \xrightarrow{\longrightarrow} & \operatorname{Ker}(\lambda)^* & \xrightarrow{\longrightarrow} & \operatorname{Ker}(\theta)^* \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ &$$

Tensoring with A over R, from (8.4), we get an exact sequence:

$$\operatorname{Tor}^{1}_{R}(R_{S}, A) \to C_{0}(\mu; A) \to C_{0}(\lambda; A) \to C_{0}(\theta; S) \otimes_{R} A \to 0.$$

Thus we need to show the vanishing: $\operatorname{Tor}_{R}^{1}(R_{S}, A) = 0$. To see this, we recall $\mathfrak{a} \cong S$. Thus the exact sequence $\mathfrak{a} \hookrightarrow R \twoheadrightarrow R_{S}$ can be rewritten as $S \hookrightarrow R \twoheadrightarrow R_{S}$. Tensoring with A over R, we get an exact sequence

$$0 = \operatorname{Tor}_{R}^{1}(R, A) \to \operatorname{Tor}_{R}^{1}(R_{S}, A) \to S \otimes_{R} A \xrightarrow{\alpha} R \otimes_{R} A \to R_{S} \otimes_{R} A \to 0.$$

Since we have a commutative diagram:

$$S \otimes_R A = A$$

$$\alpha \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$R \otimes_R A = A$$

and $\operatorname{Coker}(\alpha)$ is a torsion A-module, α is a non-trivial A-linear map of the integral domain A into itself; so, α is injective, and we conclude $\operatorname{Tor}_{R}^{1}(R_{S}, A) = 0$ as desired.

By (8.4), the three congruence modules $C_0(\mu; A)$, $C_0(\lambda; A)$, $C_0(\theta; S) \otimes_R A$ are residue rings of R; so, cyclic A-modules. Moreover, by Lemma 8.4, they are the ring A modulo principal ideals. Write their generators as $Ac_{\lambda} = A \cap R \subset (R_A \oplus A)$, $Ac_{\mu} = A \cap S \subset (S_A \oplus A)$ A) and $Sc_{\theta} = S \cap R \subset (R_S \oplus S)$. Thus we have $C_0(\lambda; A) = A/c_{\lambda}A$, $C_0(\mu; A) = A/c_{\mu}A$ and $C_0(\theta; S) \otimes_S A = A/\lambda(c_{\theta})A$ for the image $\lambda(c_{\theta}) \in A$ of $c_{\theta} \in S$. By the above lemma, we conclude the following result:

Corollary 8.6. We have $\lambda(c_{\theta}) \cdot c_{\mu} = c_{\lambda}$ up to units in A; so, for the ideals $\mathfrak{c}_{?}$ generated by $c_{?}$, we have $\lambda(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta}) \cdot \mathfrak{c}_{\mu} = \mathfrak{c}_{\lambda}$.

Note here $\mathfrak{c}_{?}$ (respectively $\lambda(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta})$) is the annihilator $\operatorname{Ann}_{A}(C_{0}(?; A))$ (respectively $\operatorname{Ann}_{A}(C_{0}(?; S) \otimes_{S} A)$ of $C_{0}(?; A)$ in A, and \mathfrak{c}_{θ} is the annihilator $\operatorname{Ann}_{S}(C_{0}(\theta; A))$ of $C_{0}(\theta; S)$ in S.

8.4. Local complete intersections

Let A be a complete normal local domain (for example, a complete regular local ring like A = W or A = W[[T]] or $A = W[[T_1, \ldots, T_r]]$ (power series ring)). Any local A-algebra R free of finite rank over A has a presentation $R \cong A[[X_1, \ldots, X_n]]/(f_1, \ldots, f_m)$ for $f_i \in A[[X_1, \ldots, X_n]]$ with $m \ge n$. If m = n, then R is called a *local complete intersection* over A. Note that if B is a complete normal local domain which is finite flat over A, the extension $R \otimes_A B$ of an A-algebra R which is local complete intersection over A is local complete intersection over B. There is a theorem of Tate giving the identity of the Fitting ideals of the differential module and the congruence module for local complete intersection rings. To introduce this, let us explain the notion of pseudo-isomorphisms between torsion A-modules (see [3, VII.4.4] for a more detailed treatment). For two A-modules M, N of finite type, a morphism $\phi : M \to N$ is called a pseudo-isomorphism if the annihilator of Ker(ϕ) and Coker(ϕ) each has height at least 2 (i.e., the corresponding closed subscheme of Spec(A) has co-dimension at least 2). If A = W, a pseudo-isomorphism is an isomorphism,

and if A = W[[T]], it is an isogeny (having finite kernel and cokernel). The classification theorem of torsion A-modules M of finite type tells us that we have a pseudo-isomorphism $M \to \bigoplus_i A/\mathfrak{f}_i$ for finitely many reflexive ideal $0 \neq \mathfrak{f}_i \in A$. An ideal \mathfrak{f} is reflexive if $\operatorname{Hom}_A(\operatorname{Hom}_A(\mathfrak{f}, A), A) \cong \mathfrak{f}$ canonically as A-modules (and equivalently $\mathfrak{f} = \bigcap_{\lambda \in A, (\lambda) \supset \mathfrak{f}} (\lambda)$; i.e., close to be principal). Then the *characteristic ideal* Char(M) of M is defined by $\operatorname{Char}(M) := \prod_i \mathfrak{f}_i \subset A$. If A is a unique factorization domain (for example, if A is regular; a theorem of Auslander–Buchsbaum [33, Theorem 20.3]), any reflexive ideal is principal. If A = W, then $|W/\operatorname{Char}(M)|_p = ||M||_p$, and if further $A = \mathbb{Z}_p$, we have $\operatorname{Char}(M) = (|M|)$.

Theorem 8.7 (J. Tate). Assume that R is a local complete intersection over a complete normal noetherian local domain A with an algebra homomorphism $\lambda : R \to A$. If after tensoring the quotient field Q or A, $R \otimes_A Q = (\text{Im}(\lambda) \otimes_A Q) \oplus S$ as algebra direct sum for some Q-algebra S, then $C_i(\lambda; A)$ is a torsion A-module of finite type, and we have

$$\operatorname{Ann}_{A}(C_{0}(\lambda; A)) = \operatorname{Char}(C_{0}(\lambda; A)) = \operatorname{Char}(C_{1}(\lambda; A)).$$

For the reader's convenience, we shall give a proof of this theorem in the following subsection. Actually we prove

$$length_A(C_0(\lambda; A)) = length_A(C_1(\lambda; A)),$$
(8.5)

assuming that A is a discrete valuation ring (see Proposition 8.12). If A is a normal noetherian domain, $\operatorname{Char}_A(M) = \prod_P P^{\operatorname{length}_{A_P} M_P}$ for the localization M_P at height 1-primes P for a given A-torsion module M. Since A_P is a discrete valuation ring if and only if P has height 1, this implies the above theorem.

8.5. Proof of Tate's theorem

We reproduce the proof from [34, Appendix] (which actually determines the Fitting ideal of M more accurate than $\operatorname{Char}(M)$). We prepare some preliminary results; so, we do not assume yet that R is a local complete intersection over A. Let A be a normal noetherian integral domain of characteristic 0 and R be a reduced A-algebra free of finite rank r over A. The algebra R is called a *Gorenstein* algebra over A if $\operatorname{Hom}_A(R, A) \cong R$ as R-modules. Since R is free of rank r over A, we choose a base (x_1, \ldots, x_r) of R over A. Then for each $y \in R$, we have $r \times r$ -matrix $\rho(y)$ with entries in A defined by $(yx_1, \ldots, yx_r) = (x_1, \ldots, x_r)\rho(y)$. Define $\operatorname{Tr}(y) = \operatorname{Tr}(\rho(y))$. Then $\operatorname{Tr} : R \to A$ is an A-linear map, well defined independently of the choice of the base. Suppose that $\operatorname{Tr}(xR) = 0$. Then in particular, $\operatorname{Tr}(x^n) = 0$ for all n. Therefore all eigenvalues of $\rho(x)$ are 0, and hence $\rho(x)$ and x are nilpotent. By the reducedness of R, x = 0 and hence the pairing $(x, y) = \operatorname{Tr}(xy)$ on R is non-degenerate.

Lemma 8.8. Let A be a normal noetherian integral domain of characteristic 0 and R be an A-algebra. Suppose the following three conditions:

- (1) *R* is free of finite rank over *A*;
- (2) R is Gorenstein; i.e., we have $i : \text{Hom}_A(R, A) \cong R$ as R-modules;
- (3) R is reduced.

Then for an A-algebra homomorphism $\lambda : R \to A$, we have

$$C_0(\lambda; A) \cong A/\lambda(i(\operatorname{Tr}_{R/A}))A.$$

In particular, length_A $C_0(\lambda; A)$ is equal to the valuation of $d = \lambda(i(\operatorname{Tr}_{R/A}))$ if A is a discrete valuation ring.

Proof. Let $\phi = i^{-1}(1)$. Then $\operatorname{Tr}_{R/A} = \delta \phi$. The element $\delta = \delta_{R/A}$ is called the different of R/A. Then the pairing $(x, y) \mapsto \operatorname{Tr}_{R/A}(\delta^{-1}xy) \in A$ is a perfect pairing over A, where $\delta^{-1} \in S = \operatorname{Frac}(R)$ and we have extended $\operatorname{Tr}_{R/A}$ to $S \to K = \operatorname{Frac}(A)$. Since R is commutative, (xy, z) = (y, xz). Decomposing $S = K \oplus X$, we have

$$C_0(\lambda; A) = \operatorname{Im}(\lambda)/\lambda(\mathfrak{a}) \cong A/R \cap (K \oplus 0).$$

Then it is easy to conclude that the pairing (,) induces a perfect A-duality between $R \cap (K \oplus 0)$ and $A \oplus 0$. Thus $R \cap (K \oplus 0)$ is generated by $\lambda(\delta) = \lambda(i(\operatorname{Tr}_{R/A}))$.

Next we introduce two A-free resolutions of R, in order to compute $\delta_{R/A}$. We start slightly more generally. Let X be an algebra. A sequence $f = (f_1, \ldots, f_n) \in X^n$ is called regular if $x \mapsto f_j x$ is injective on $X/(f_1, \ldots, f_{j-1})$ for all $j = 1, \ldots, n$. We now define a complex $K^{\bullet}_X(f)$ (called the Koszul complex) out of a regular sequence f (see [33, §16]). Let $V = X^n$ with a standard base e_1, \ldots, e_n . Then we consider the exterior algebra

$$\bigwedge^{\bullet} V = \bigoplus_{j=0}^{n} (\wedge^{j} V).$$

The graded piece $\wedge^{j} V$ has a base $e_{i_1,...,i_j} = e_{i_1} \wedge e_{i_2} \wedge \cdots \wedge e_{i_j}$ indexed by sequences (i_1, \ldots, i_j) satisfying $0 < i_1 < i_2 < \cdots < i_j \leq n$. We agree to put $\bigwedge^0 V = X$ and $\bigwedge^{j} V = 0$ if j > n. Then we define X-linear differential $d : \bigwedge^{j} X \to \bigwedge^{j-1} X$ by

$$d(e_{i_1} \wedge e_{i_2} \wedge \cdots \wedge e_{i_j}) = \sum_{r=1}^{J} (-1)^{r-1} f_{i_r} e_{i_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge e_{i_{r-1}} \wedge e_{i_{r+1}} \wedge \cdots \wedge e_{i_j}.$$

In particular, $d(e_i) = f_i$ and hence,

$$\bigwedge^0 V/d\left(\bigwedge^1 V\right) = X/(f).$$

Thus, $(K_X^{\bullet}(f), d)$ is a complex and X-free resolution of $X/(f_1, \ldots, f_n)$. We also have

$$d_n(e_1 \wedge e_2 \wedge \cdots \wedge e_n) = \sum_{j=1}^n (-1)^{j-1} f_j e_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge e_{j-1} \wedge e_{j+1} \wedge \cdots \wedge e_n.$$

Suppose now that X is a B-algebra. Identifying $\bigwedge^{n-1} V$ with V by

$$e_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge e_{j-1} \wedge e_{j+1} \wedge \cdots \wedge e_n \mapsto e_j$$

and $\bigwedge^n V$ with X by $e_1 \wedge e_2 \wedge \cdots \wedge e_n \mapsto 1$, we have

$$\operatorname{Im}\left(d_{n}^{*}:\operatorname{Hom}_{B}\left(\bigwedge^{n-1}V,Y\right)\to\operatorname{Hom}_{B}\left(\bigwedge^{n}V,Y\right)\right)\cong(f)\operatorname{Hom}_{B}(X,Y),$$

where $(f)\operatorname{Hom}_B(X, Y) = \sum_j f_j\operatorname{Hom}_B(X, Y)$, regarding $\operatorname{Hom}_B(X, Y)$ as an X-module by $y\phi(x) = \phi(xy)$. This shows that if X is a B-algebra free of finite rank over $B, K_X^{\bullet}(f)$ is a B-free resolution of X/(f), and

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{B}^{n}(X/(f),Y) = H^{n}(\operatorname{Hom}_{B}(K_{X}^{\bullet}(f),Y)) \cong \frac{\operatorname{Hom}_{B}(X,Y)}{(f)\operatorname{Hom}_{B}(X,Y)}$$
(8.6)

for any B-module Y.

We now suppose that R is a local complete intersection over A. Thus R is free of finite rank over A and $R \cong B/(f_1, \ldots, f_n)$ for $B = A[[T_1, \ldots, T_n]]$. Write t_j for T_j mod (f_1, \ldots, f_n) in R. Since R is local, t_j are contained in the maximal ideal \mathfrak{m}_R of R. We consider $C = B \otimes_A R \cong R[[T_1, \ldots, T_n]]$. Then

$$R = R[[T_1, ..., T_n]]/(T_1 - t_1, ..., T_n - t_n),$$

and $g = (T_1 - t_1, ..., T_n - t_n)$ is a regular sequence in $C = R[[T_1, ..., T_n]]$. Since C is B-free of finite rank, the two complexes $K_B^{\bullet}(f) \rightarrow R$ and $K_C^{\bullet}(g) \rightarrow R$ are B-free resolutions of R.

We have a Λ -algebra homomorphism $\Phi: B \hookrightarrow C$ given by $\Phi(x) = x \otimes 1$. We extend Φ to $\Phi^{\bullet}: K_B^{\bullet}(f) \to K_C^{\bullet}(g)$ in the following way. Write $f_i = \sum_{j=1}^n b_{ij}g_j$. Then we define $\Phi^1: K_B^1(f) \to K_C^1(g)$ by $\Phi^1(e_i) = \sum_{j=1}^n b_{ij}e_j$. Then $\Phi^j = \bigwedge^j \Phi^1$. One can check that this map Φ^{\bullet} is a morphism of complexes. In particular,

$$\Phi_n(e_1 \wedge \dots \wedge e_n) = \det(b_{ij})e_1 \wedge \dots \wedge e_n.$$
(8.7)

Since Φ^{\bullet} is the lift of the identity map of R to the *B*-projective resolutions $K_B^{\bullet}(f)$ and $K_C^{\bullet}(g)$, it induces an isomorphism of extension groups computed by $K_C^{\bullet}(g)$ and $K_B^{\bullet}(f)$:

$$\Phi^*: H^{\bullet}(\operatorname{Hom}_B(K^{\bullet}_C(g), B)) \cong \operatorname{Ext}_B^J(R, B) \cong H^{\bullet}(\operatorname{Hom}_B(K^{\bullet}_B(f), B))$$

In particular, identifying $\bigwedge^n B^n = B$, we have from (8.6) that

$$H^n(\operatorname{Hom}_B(K_B^{\bullet}(f), B)) = \operatorname{Hom}_B(B, B)/(f)\operatorname{Hom}_B(B, B) = B/(f) = R$$

and similarly

$$H^{n}(\operatorname{Hom}_{B}(K_{C}^{\bullet}(g), B)) = \frac{\operatorname{Hom}_{B}(C, B)}{(g)\operatorname{Hom}_{B}(C, B)}.$$

The isomorphism between R and $\frac{\text{Hom}_B(C,B)}{(g)\text{Hom}_B(C,B)}$ is induced by Φ_n which is a multiplication by $d = \det(b_{ij})$ (see (8.7)). Thus we have

Lemma 8.9. Suppose that R is a local complete intersection over A. Let $\pi : B = A[[T_1, \ldots, T_n]] \twoheadrightarrow R$ be the projection as above. We have an isomorphism:

$$h: \frac{\operatorname{Hom}_B(C, B)}{(T_1 - t_1, \dots, T_n - t_n)\operatorname{Hom}_B(C, B)} \cong R$$

given by $h(\phi) = \pi(\phi(d))$ for $d = \det(b_{ij}) \in C$.

We have a base change map:

 $\iota : \operatorname{Hom}_A(R, A) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_B(C, B) = \operatorname{Hom}_B(B \otimes_A R, B \otimes_A A),$

taking ϕ to id $\otimes \phi$. Identifying C and B with power series rings, $\iota(\phi)$ is just applying the original ϕ to coefficients of power series in $R[[T_1, \ldots, T_n]]$. We define $I = h \circ \iota$: Hom_A $(R, A) \to R$.

Lemma 8.10. Suppose that R is a local complete intersection over A. Then the above map I is an R-linear isomorphism, satisfying $I(\phi) = \pi(\iota(\phi(d)))$. Thus the ring R is Gorenstein.

Proof. We first check that I is an R-linear map. Since $I(\phi) = \pi(\iota(\phi(d)))$, we compute $I(\phi \circ b)$ and $rI(\phi)$ for $b \in B$ and $r = \pi(b)$. By definition, we see

$$I(\pi(bx)) = \pi(\iota(\phi(r \otimes 1)d))$$
 and $rI(\phi) = \pi(b\iota(\phi(d)))$.

Thus we need to check $\pi(\iota(\phi)((r \otimes 1 - 1 \otimes b)d)) = 0$. This follows from:

$$r \otimes 1 - 1 \otimes b \in (g)$$
 and $\det(b_{ij})g_i = \sum_i b'_{ij}f_i$,

where b'_{ij} are the (i, j)-cofactors of the matrix (b_{ij}) . Thus I is R-linear. Since $\iota \mod \mathfrak{m}_B$ for the maximal ideal \mathfrak{m}_B of B is a surjective isomorphism from

 $\operatorname{Hom}_A((A/\mathfrak{m}_A)^r, A/\mathfrak{m}_A) = \operatorname{Hom}_A(R, A) \otimes_A A/\mathfrak{m}_A$

onto

$$\operatorname{Hom}_B((B/\mathfrak{m}_B)^r, B/\mathfrak{m}_B) = \operatorname{Hom}_B(C, B) \otimes_B B/\mathfrak{m}_B$$

the map ι is non-trivial modulo \mathfrak{m}_C . Thus $I \mod \mathfrak{m}_R$ is non-trivial. Since h is an isomorphism, $\operatorname{Hom}_B(C, B) \otimes_C C/\mathfrak{m}_C$ is 1-dimensional, and hence $I \mod \mathfrak{m}_R$ is surjective. By Nakayama's lemma, I itself is surjective. Since the target and the source of I are A-free of equal rank, the surjectivity of I tells us its injectivity. This finishes the proof. \Box

Corollary 8.11. Suppose that R is a local complete intersection over A. We have $I(\operatorname{Tr}_{R/A}) = \pi(d)$ for $d = \det(b_{ij})$, and hence the different $\delta_{R/A}$ is equal to $\pi(d)$.

Proof. The last assertion follows from the first by $I(\phi) = \pi(\iota(\phi(d)))$. To show the first, we choose dual basis x_1, \ldots, x_r of R/A and ϕ_1, \ldots, ϕ_r of $\text{Hom}_A(R, A)$. Thus for $x \in R$, writing $xx_i = \sum_i a_{ij}x_j$, we have $\text{Tr}(x) = \sum_i a_{ii} = \sum_i \phi_i(xx_i) = \sum_i x_i\phi_i(x)$. Thus $\text{Tr} = \sum_i x_i\phi_i$.

Since x_i is also a base of C over B, we can write $d = \sum_j b_j x_i$ with $\iota(\phi_i)(d) = b_i$. Then we have

$$I(\operatorname{Tr}_{R/A}) = \sum_{i} x_i I(\phi_i) = \sum_{i} x_i \pi(\iota(\phi_i)(d)) = \sum_{i} x_i \pi(b_i) = \pi\left(\sum_{i} b_i x_i\right) = \pi(d).$$

This shows the desired assertion.

We now finish the proof of (8.5):

Proposition 8.12. Let A be a discrete valuation ring, and let R be a reduced local complete intersection over A. Then for an A-algebra homomorphism $R \to A$, we have

 $\operatorname{length}_A C_0(\lambda, A) = \operatorname{length}_A C_1(\lambda, A).$

H. Hida and J. Tilouine

Proof. Let X be a torsion A-module, and suppose that we have an exact sequence:

$$A^r \xrightarrow{L} A^r \to X \to 0$$

of A-modules. Then we claim $\operatorname{length}_A X = \operatorname{length}_A A/\det(L)A$. By elementary divisor theory applied to L, we may assume that L is a diagonal matrix with diagonal entry d_1, \ldots, d_r . Then the assertion is clear, because $X = \bigoplus_j A/d_j A$ and $\operatorname{length} A/dA$ is equal to the valuation of d.

Since R is reduced, $\Omega_{R/A}$ is a torsion R-module, and hence $\Omega_{R/A} \otimes_R A = C_1(\lambda; A)$ is a torsion A-module. Since R is a local complete intersection over A, we can write

$$R \cong A[[T_1, \ldots, T_r]]/(f_1, \ldots, f_r).$$

Then by Corollary 8.2(ii), we have the following exact sequence for $J = (f_1, \ldots, f_r)$:

$$J/J^2 \otimes_{A[[T_1,...,T_r]]} A \longrightarrow \Omega_{A[[T_1,...,T_r]]/A} \otimes_{A[[T_1,...,T_r]]} A \longrightarrow \Omega_{R/A} \otimes_R A \to 0.$$

This gives rise to the following exact sequence:

$$\bigoplus_{j} Adf_{j} \xrightarrow{L} \bigoplus_{j} AdT_{j} \longrightarrow C_{1}(\lambda; A) \to 0,$$

where $df_j = f_j \mod J^2$. Since $C_1(\lambda; A)$ is a torsion A-module, we see that length_A(A/det(L)A) = length_A $C_1(\lambda; A)$. Since $g = (T_1 - t_1, \ldots, T_n - t_n)$, we see easily that $det(L) = \pi(\lambda(d))$. This combined with Corollary 8.11 and Lemma 8.8 shows the desired assertion.

8.6. A more general setting

1568

Let Λ_j be the power series ring $W[[T_1, \ldots, T_j]]$. We consider the following commutative diagram of local profinite *W*-algebras sharing the same residue field \mathbb{F} with *W*:

We put $\lambda' := \mu' \circ \theta'$. Consider the following conditions:

(A0) A is an integral domain.

- (A1) $\pi_{j,k}$ indices the identity $\Lambda_j \otimes_{\Lambda_j, \pi_{j,k}} \Lambda_k = \Lambda_k$ for (j, k) = (m, n) and $(j, k) = (n, \nu)$; so, $m \ge n \ge \nu$.
- (A2) R_j is free of finite rank over Λ_j for j = m, n, and A is a torsion-free Λ_{ν} -modules of finite type.
- (A3) $\operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda_i}(R_j, \Lambda_j) \cong R_j$ as R_j -modules for j = m, n.
- (A4) $R_j \otimes_{\Lambda_i} \Lambda_{\nu}$ is a reduced algebra for j = m, n.
- (A5) R_j is a local complete intersection over Λ_j for j = m, n.

Note that (A5) implies (A4) (e.g. [33, Theorem 21.3]).

Lemma 8.13. Suppose (A0–3). Let \widetilde{A} be the normalization of A and put $\widetilde{R}_j = R_j \otimes_{\Lambda_j} \widetilde{A}$ for j = m, n.

- (1) Suppose that v = 1. Then \widetilde{R}_j is free of finite rank over \widetilde{A} and satisfies $\operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{A}}(\widetilde{R}_j, \widetilde{A}) \cong \widetilde{R}_j$ as \widetilde{R}_j -modules;
- (2) Suppose $\nu > 1$. Then for each height 1 prime P of \widetilde{A} , $\widetilde{R}_{j,P} = \widetilde{R}_j \otimes_{\widetilde{A}} \widetilde{A}_P$ for the localization \widetilde{A}_P of \widetilde{A} at P is free of finite rank over \widetilde{A}_P and satisfies $\operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{A}_P}(\widetilde{R}_{j,P}, \widetilde{A}_P) \cong \widetilde{R}_{j,P}$ as $\widetilde{R}_{j,P}$ -modules for j = m, n.

Proof. We only prove the assertion (1), since the assertion (2) is easier to prove after localization at P as \tilde{A}_P is a discrete valuation ring. If $\nu = 1$, \tilde{A} is reflexive and hence flat over Λ_1 . Thus we get

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda_i}(R_i, \Lambda_i) \otimes_{\Lambda_i} \widetilde{A} \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{A}}(\widetilde{R}_i, \widetilde{A})$$

from [2, II.5.4]. Since $\operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda_j}(R_j, \Lambda_j) \cong R_j$, we get from the above identity

$$\widetilde{R}_j = R_j \otimes_{\Lambda_j} \widetilde{A} \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda_j}(R_j, \Lambda_j) \otimes_{\Lambda_j} \widetilde{A} \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{A}}(\widetilde{R}_j, \widetilde{A})$$

as \widetilde{R}_i -modules.

By Lemma 8.13, under (A0–4), the sequences $\widetilde{R}_m \xrightarrow{\theta} \widetilde{R}_n \xrightarrow{\mu} \widetilde{A}$ if $\nu = 1$ and $\widetilde{R}_{m,P} \xrightarrow{\theta} \widetilde{R}_{n,P} \xrightarrow{\mu} \widetilde{A}_P$ if $\nu = 1$ for $\theta = \theta' \otimes 1$ and $\mu = \mu' \otimes 1$ satisfies the requirement of $R \xrightarrow{\theta} S \xrightarrow{\mu} A$ for the transfer property of congruence modules in 8.3. Thus we get for the annihilators $\mathfrak{c}_? := \operatorname{Ann}_{\widetilde{A}}(C_0(?; \widetilde{A}))$ with $? = \lambda, \mu$ and $\mathfrak{c}_{\theta} := \operatorname{Ann}_{\widetilde{R}_n}(C_0(\theta; \widetilde{R}_n))$ the following transfer formula:

Proposition 8.14. Assume (A0–4).

- (1) If v = 1, the ideals $c_{?}$ $(? = \lambda, \mu, \theta)$ are all principal, and satisfies $\lambda(c_{\theta}) \cdot c_{\mu} = c_{\lambda}$.
- (2) If $\nu > 1$, writing \widetilde{M} for the reflexive closure of a torsion-free Λ_{ν} -module M of finite type, we have the following identity $\lambda(\widetilde{\mathfrak{c}_{\theta}}) \cdot \widetilde{\mathfrak{c}_{\mu}} = \widetilde{\mathfrak{c}_{\lambda}}$.

Proof. By Corollary 8.6, we get the assertion (1) and also the localized identity: $\lambda(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta})_P \cdot \mathfrak{c}_{\mu,P} = \mathfrak{c}_{\lambda,P}$ for each height 1 prime *P* in the setting of (2), since $\lambda(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta,P}) = \lambda(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta})_P$ and $\mathfrak{c}_{?,P}$ is the annihilator of the corresponding *P*-localized congruence module by the definition of the congruence module. Since $\widetilde{M} = \bigcap_P M_P$ inside $M \otimes_{\widetilde{A}} \operatorname{Frac}(\widetilde{A})$, we get the assertion (2).

Now suppose (A5); so, $R_j \cong \Lambda_j[[X_1, \ldots, X_k]]/(f_1, \ldots, f_k)$ for a regular sequence (f_1, \ldots, f_k) in $\mathfrak{m}_{\Lambda_j[[X_1, \ldots, X_k]]}$. Tensoring \widetilde{A} over Λ_j with the exact sequence:

$$0 \to (f_1, \ldots, f_k) \to \mathbf{\Lambda}_j[[X_1, \ldots, X_k]] \to R_j \to 0,$$

we get a sequence,

$$0 \to (f_1, \ldots, f_k) \to \overline{A}[[X_1, \ldots, X_k]] \to \overline{R}_j \to 0,$$

which is exact. Since R_j is Λ_j -free of finite rank, the first sequence of Λ_j -modules is split exact; so, the exactness is kept after tensoring \widetilde{A} . Thus (A5) implies that

(A'5) \widetilde{R}_j is a local complete intersection over \widetilde{A} for j = m, n.

Thus we may apply Tate's formula Theorem 8.7 to our setting $\widetilde{R}_{m,P} \twoheadrightarrow \widetilde{R}_{n,P} \twoheadrightarrow \widetilde{A}_P$ for each height 1 primes and get the following fact:

Theorem 8.15. Assume (A0–5). Then we have

$$\widetilde{\lambda(\mathfrak{c}_{\theta})} \cdot \operatorname{Char}(C_1(\mu, \widetilde{A})) = \operatorname{Char}(C_1(\lambda, \widetilde{A})).$$

References

- 1. J. ARTHUR AND L. CLOZEL, Simple algebras, in *Base Change and the Advanced Theory of the Trace Formula*, Annals of Mathematics Studies (Princeton University Press, Princeton, 1989).
- 2. N. BOURBAKI, Algèbre, Chapitre 2, (Hermann, Paris, 1962).
- 3. N. BOURBAKI, Algèbre Commutative (Hermann, Paris, 1961–1998).
- L. CLOZEL, M. HARRIS AND R. TAYLOR, Automorphy for Some l-adic Lifts of Automorphic Modulo l Galois Representations, *Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci.* (108) (2008), 1–181. With Appendix A, summarizing unpublished work of Russ Mann, and Appendix B by Marie-France Vignéras. MR2470687.
- 5. L. CLOZEL, Représentations galoisiennes associées aux représentations automorphes autoduales de GL(n), Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 73 (1991), 97–145.
- 6. L. CLOZEL AND J. THORNE, Level-raising and symmetric power functoriality, I, *Compos. Math.* **150**(5) (2014), 729–748.
- L. CLOZEL AND J. THORNE, Level-raising and symmetric power functoriality, II, Ann. of Math. (2) 181(1) (2015), 303–359.
- 8. A. CONTI, Grande image de Galois pour les familles *p*-adiques de formes automorphes de pente positive, thèse de l'Université Paris 13, defended July 13, 2016.
- 9. A. CONTI, Galois level and congruence ideal for GSp₄, *Compos. Math.*, Preprint, 65 pp, to appear.
- H. DARMON, F. DIAMOND AND R. TAYLOR, Fermat's last theorem, in *Current Developments in Mathematics*, pp. 1–154 (Cambridge, MA, 1995). Int. Press, Cambridge, MA, 1994.
- F. DIAMOND, The Taylor–Wiles construction and multiplicity one, *Invent. Math.* 128 (1997), 379–391.
- A. GENESTIER AND J. TILOUINE, Systèmes de Taylor-Wiles pour GSp(4), in Formes automorphes II, Le cas du groupe GSp(4), Astérisque, Volume 302, pp. 177–290 (Soc. Math. France, Paris, 2005).
- W.-T. GAN AND S. TAKEDA, The local Langlands conjecture for GSp(4), Ann. of Math. (2) 173 (2011), 1841–1882.
- 14. D. GERAGHTY, Modularity lifting theorems for ordinary Galois representations, Harvard Dissertation (2010).
- D. GERAGHTY, Notes on modularity lifting in the ordinary case, in *p*-adic Aspects of Modular Forms, Proc. IISER Pune conference (ed. B. BALASUBRAMANIAM, H. HIDA, A. RAGHURAM AND J. TILOUINE) (World Scientific Publ., 2016).
- 16. M. HARRIS AND R. TAYLOR, *The Geometry and Cohomology of Some Simple Shimura Varieties*, Annals of Mathematics Studies, Volume 151 (Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2001). With an appendix by Vladimir G. Berkovich.
- R. HARRON AND A. JORZA, On symmetric power *L*-invariants of Iwahori level Hilbert modular forms, *Amer. J. Math.* **139** (2017), 1605–1647.

1570

- H. HIDA, Geometric Modular Forms and Elliptic Curves, second edition (World Scientific, Singapore, 2011).
- H. HIDA, Modular Forms and Galois Cohomology, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, Volume 69 (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England, 2000). (A list of errata posted at www.math.ucla.edu/~hida).
- H. HIDA, *p-adic Automorphic Forms*, Springer Monographs in Mathematics, (Springer, 2004).
- H. HIDA, Hecke algebras for GL₁ and GL₂, Sém. de Théorie des Nombres, Paris 1984–85, Progr. Math. 63 (1986), 131–163.
- H. HIDA, Modules of congruence of Hecke algebras and L-functions associated with cusp forms, Amer. J. Math. 110 (1988), 323–382.
- H. HIDA, Control theorems of coherent sheaves on Shimura varieties of PEL type, J. Inst. Math. Jussieu 1 (2002), 1–76.
- H. HIDA, Arithmetic of adjoint L-values, in *p-adic Aspects of Modular Forms, Proc. IISER Pune Conference* (ed. S B. BALASUBRAMANIAM, H. HIDA, A. RAGHURAM AND J. TILOUINE) (World Scientific Publ., 2016).
- H. HIDA AND J. TILOUINE, Big image of Galois representations and congruence ideals, in Arithmetic Geometry, Proc. Workshop on Serre's Conjecture, Hausdorff Inst. Math., Bonn (ed. L. DIEULEFAIT, D. R. HEATH-BROWN, G. FALTINGS, Y. I. MANIN, B. Z. MOROZ AND J.-P. WINTENBERGER), pp. 217–254 (Cambridge University Press, 2015).
- 26. H. H. KIM, Functoriality for the exterior square of GL_4 and the symmetric fourth of GL_2 , J. Amer. Math. Soc. 16(1) (2003), 139–183. With Appendix 1 by Dinakar Ramakrishnan and Appendix 2 by Kim and Peter Sarnak.
- H. H. KIM AND F. SHAHIDI, Cuspidality of symmetric powers with applications, *Duke Math. J.* 112 (2002), 177–197.
- 28. H. H. KIM AND F. SHAHIDI, Functorial products for $GL_2 \times GL_3$ and the symmetric cube for GL_2 , Ann. of Math. (2) 155(3) (2002), 837–893. With an appendix by Colin J. Bushnell and Guy Henniart.
- J.-P. LABESSE, Changement de base CM et séries discrètes, in Stabilization of the Trace Formula, Shimura Varieties, and Arithmetic Applications (ed. M. HARRIS), (Int. Press, Somerville, MA, 2009).
- G. LAUMON, Fonctions zêta des variétés de Siegel de dimension trois, in Formes Automorphes (II), le cas du groupe GSp(4), Astérisque, Volume 302 (SMF, 2005).
- 31. Z. LIU, p-adic L functions for ordinary families on symplectic groups, to appear.
- C. P. MOK, Galois representations attached to automorphic forms on GL₂ over a CM field, Compos. Math. 150 (2014), 523–567.
- 33. H. MATSUMURA, *Commutative Ring Theory*, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, Volume 8 (Cambridge University Press, 1986).
- 34. B. MAZUR AND L. ROBERT, Local Euler characteristic, *Invent. Math.* 9 (1970), 201–234. with an Appendix by J. Tate.
- V. PILLONI, Modularité formes de Siegel et surfaces abéliennes, J. Reine Angew. Math. 666 (2012), 35–82.
- 36. V. PLATONOV AND A. RAPINCHUK, *Algebraic Groups and Number Theory* (Academic Press, 1994).
- P. POLO AND J. TILOUINE, Bernstein-Gelfand-Gelfand complexes and cohomology of nilpotent groups over Z_p, Astérisque, Volume 282 (SMF, 2002).
- K. RIBET, A modular construction of unramified *p*-extensions of Q(μ_p), Invent. Math. 34 (1976), 151–162.
- 39. D. RAMAKRISHNAN AND F. SHAHIDI, Siegel modular forms of genus two attached to elliptic curves, *Math. Res. Lett.* **14**(2) (2007), 315–332.

- 40. B. ROBERTS AND R. SCHMIDT, *Local Newforms on* **GSp**(4), Springer LNM, Volume 1918 (Springer, 2007).
- 41. J. TILOUINE AND E. URBAN, Several variable p-adic families of Siegel-Hilbert cusp eigensystems and their Galois representations, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm Supér (4) 32 (1999), 499–574.
- 42. J. TILOUINE, Deformations of Galois Representations and Hecke Algebras (Mehta Institute, AMS, 2002).
- J. TILOUINE, Nearly ordinary rank four Galois representations and *p*-adic Siegel modular forms, *Compos. Math.* **142** (2006), 1122–1156.
- 44. M.-F. VIGNÉRAS, On the Global Correspondence between GL(n) and a Division Algebra (Institute for Advanced Studies, Princeton, 1984).
- 45. R. WEISSAUER, Four-dimensional Galois representations, in *Formes Automorphes (II), le cas du groupe* GSp(4), Astérisque, Volume 302 (SMF, 2005).
- H. YOSHIDA, Weil's representations and Siegel's modular forms, in *Lectures on Harmonic Analysis on Lie Groups and Related Topics (Strasbourg, 1979)*, Lectures in Math., Volume 14, pp. 319–341 (Kinokuniya Book Store, Tokyo, 1982).
- 47. X. ZHANG, Special L-values and Selmer groups of Siegel modular forms of genus 2, arXiv:1811.02031.